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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-Q

(Mark One)

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended March 31, 2012
OR

([ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE

ACT OF 1934
For transition period from (0]
Commission File Number 001-33622
VMWARE, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaetr)

Delaware 94-3292913
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification Number)

3401 Hillview Avenue
Palo Alto, CA 94304

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(650) 427-5000

(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant @b filed all reports required to be filed by Secti® or 15(d) of the Securities Excha
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (ordioch shorter period that the registrant was requaodile such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the pasti@s. Yes[X] No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant ldisnitted electronically and posted on its corpokieb site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted pumsto Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (8232.405 of tiapter) during the preceding 12 months
(or for such shorter period that the registrant veagiired to submit and post such files). YES No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlexge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, m-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of “large acceleréited” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reportirgpmpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act.

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer O

Non-accelerated filer O (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Serakporting company O
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsbell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exgje Act). Yes[O No

As of April 25, 2012, the number of shares of comrstock, par value $0.01 per share, of the registratstanding was 427,245,666 of
which 127,245,666 shares were Class A common stodk300,000,000 were Class B common stock.
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PART I
FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VMware, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
(unaudited)



Operating activities:
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigeal by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation, excluding amounts cexgital
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation
Other
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquoisiti
Accounts receivable
Other assets
Due to/from EMC, net
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Income taxes receivable from EMC
Income taxes payable
Deferred income taxes, net
Unearned revenue
Net cash provided by operating activities
Investing activities:
Additions to property and equipment
Capitalized software development costs
Purchases of available-for-sale securities
Sales of available-for-sale securities
Maturities of available-for-sale securities
Purchase of strategic investments
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Transfer of net assets under common control
Other investing
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Repurchase of common stock
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation
Shares repurchased for tax withholdings on vesifirgstricted stock
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the gherio
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period
Non-cash items:
Changes in capital additions, accrued but not paid
Changes in tax withholdings on vesting of restdcitock, accrued but not paid

For the Three Months Ended

March 31,
2012 2011
$ 191,43¢ $ 125,81:
85,76¢ 80,94¢
81,80¢ 80,57
(53,689 (50,009
(928) 962
226,55( 81,34(
(47,706 (17,92()
55,54¢ 60,70(
12,52¢ 9,39¢
(94,817 (68,569
— 35,44
55,36¢ 32,927
(34,955 (12,079
99,69¢ 118,38t
576,60« 477,91
(33,67) (27,04¢)
— (27,429)
(701,46)) (598,76
422,31° 153,09
256,97" 215,57¢
(5,750 (14,000
— (14,950
— (22,490
4,25¢ (42,48)
(57,33)) (368,48¢)
111,04: 90,17
— (147,729
53,68: 50,00¢
(13,63)) (21,91
151,08t (29,467)
670,35! 79,96¢
1,955,75I 1,628,96!
$ 2,626,100 $ 1,708,93
$ (2,650 $ 7,20¢
80¢ (718)

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€dmsolidated financial statements.
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VMware, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

(unaudited)
For the Three Months Ended
March 31,
2012 2011

Revenues:

License $ 481,92 % 418,99¢

Services 573,25! 424,72.
Total revenues 1,055,18: 843,72:
Operating expenses (1):

Cost of license revenues 56,74 56,01¢

Cost of services revenues 114,17: 93,87¢

Research and development 222,39( 169,16:

Sales and marketing 363,41 302,92-

General and administrative 81,30( 68,23¢
Operating income 217,16! 153,50:
Investment income 5,74: 3,40¢
Interest expense with EMC (2,287 (959)
Other income, net 2,28¢ 16t
Income before income taxes 223,90t 156,11
Income tax provision 32,47( 30,30:
Net income $ 191,43¢ $ 125,81
Net income per weighted-average share, basic fmsCA and Class B $ 04t % 0.3C
Net income per weighted-average share, dilute€fass A and Class B $ 04, % 0.2¢
Weighted-average shares, basic for Class A and@as 424,98¢ 417,44.
Weighted-average shares, diluted for Class A aad<CB 433,21: 429,24°
(1) Includes stock-based compensation as follows:

Cost of license revenues $ 44C % 46€

Cost of services revenues 5,81¢ 5,58¢

Research and development 39,371 41,88¢

Sales and marketing 25,23¢ 22,52:

General and administrative 10,93¢ 10,11

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€dmsolidated financial statements.
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VMware, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in thousands)

(unaudited)
For the Three Months Ended
March 31,
2012 2011
Net income $ 191,43t % 125,81.
Other comprehensive income:
Unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities,of taxes of $1,430 and $10,614 2,33¢ 14,33¢
Unrealized gains on effective foreign currency fardvexchange contracts, net of taxes of $40 and
$0 76¢ —
Reclassification of (gains) losses on availables@le securities recognized during the periodphe
taxes of $36, and $(5) 58 (8
Total other comprehensive income 3,15¢ 14,32¢
Total comprehensive income, net of taxes $ 194,59 $ 140,13t

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€dmsolidated financial statements.
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VMware, Inc.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

(unaudited)
March 31, December 31,
2012 2011
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,626,100 $ 1,955,75I
Short-term investments 2,596,141 2,556,45!
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doub#fttounts of $2,734 and $3,794 657,24: 882,85
Due from EMC, net 18,25 73,79¢
Deferred tax asset 139,67 128,47:
Other current assets 97,22: 80,43¢
Total current assets 6,134,641 5,677,77.
Property and equipment, net 523,68 525,49(
Capitalized software development costs, net aneroth 139,94: 154,23t
Deferred tax asset 179,98t 156,85!
Intangible assets, net 388,23: 407,37"
Goodwill 1,759,03 1,759,08I
Total assets $ 9,125,531 $ 8,680,80:
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 62,74:  $ 49,74°
Accrued expenses and other 489,10( 587,65(
Unearned revenues 1,788,67! 1,764,10!
Total current liabilities 2,340,51. 2,401,501
Note payable to EMC 450,00( 450,00(
Unearned revenues 1,019,44. 944,30¢
Other liabilities 119,93 114,71:
Total liabilities 3,929,89 3,910,52
Commitments and contingencies (see Note L)
Stockholders’ equity:
Class A common stock, par value $.01; authoriz6@®@000 shares; issued and outstanding
126,852 and 123,610 shares 1,26¢ 1,23¢
Class B convertible common stock, par value $.0fh@ized 1,000,000 shares; issued and
outstanding 300,000 shares 3,00( 3,00(
Additional paid-in capital 3,442,99. 3,212,26.
Accumulated other comprehensive income 4,33 1,17¢
Retained earnings 1,744,04. 1,552,601
Total stockholders’ equity 5,195,64! 4,770,28:
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 9,125,531 $ 8,680,80:

The accompanying notes are an integral part o€timsolidated financial statements.
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VMware, Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(unaudited)

A. Overview and Basis of Presentation
Company and Background

VMware, Inc. (“VMware” or the “Company”) is the Idar in virtualization and virtualization-based afomfrastructure solutions utilized
by businesses to help them transform the way thdy,ldeliver and consume information technologyl () resources in a manner that is
evolutionary and based on their specific needs. \ékdi¢ virtualization infrastructure software sabuts run on industry-standard desktop
computers and servers and support a wide rangpeshting system and application environments, dsagenetworking and storage
infrastructures.

Accounting Principles

The financial statements and accompanying noteprapared in accordance with accounting princigkserally accepted in the United
States of America.

Unaudited Interim Financial Information

These accompanying unaudited consolidated finastagééments have been prepared pursuant to theamderegulations of the Securities
and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) for interimaficial reporting. In the opinion of managementséhenaudited consolidated financial
statements include all adjustments, consistingoofial recurring adjustments and accruals, for rastatement of VMware’s consolidated cash
flows, results of operations and financial conditfor the periods presented. Results of operatimasiot necessarily indicative of the results
that may be expected for the full year 2012. Ceritafiormation and footnote disclosures typicallglided in annual consolidated financial
statements have been condensed or omitted. Acglydihese unaudited interim consolidated finanstatements should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statetseand related notes included in VMware’s 2011 #airReport on Form 10-K.

VMware was incorporated as a Delaware corporatidt®08, was acquired by EMC Corporation (“‘EM@1)2004 and conducted its init
public offering of VMware’s Class A common stockAnigust 2007. As of March 31, 2012 , EMC holds appnately 79.2% of VMware’s
outstanding common stock, including 38.1 milliormasds of VMware’s Class A common stock and all of Wade's Class B common stock.
VMware is considered a “controlled company” under tules of the New York Stock Exchange. VMwarédrisally has received, and
continues to receive, certain administrative s@vitom EMC, and VMware and EMC engage in certaiercompany transactions. Costs
incurred by EMC for the direct benefit of VMwareich as salaries, benefits, travel and rent, plusuk-up intended to approximate third-party
costs, are included in VMware’s consolidated finahstatements. In addition, beginning in the selcguarter of 2011 VMware incurs costs
operate the Mozy service on behalf of EMC. Thests;@lus a mark-up intended to approximate thaxypcosts, are reimbursed to VMware
by EMC and recorded as an offset to the costs Vidvirazurred on the consolidated statements of income

Management believes the assumptions underlyingdhsolidated financial statements are reasonaloieeMer, the amounts recorded for
VMware’s intercompany transactions with EMC may hetconsidered arm’s length with an unrelated thady by nature of EMC’s majority
ownership of VMware. Therefore, the financial stagats included herein may not necessarily refleetcash flows, results of operations and
financial condition had VMware engaged in suchdeaions with an unrelated third party during a&ltipds presented. Accordingly, VMwase’
historical financial information is not necessaiitgicative of what the Company’s cash flows, resof operations and financial condition will
be in the future if and when VMware contracts at’arlength with unrelated third parties for pastl @urrent services the Company receives
from and provides to EMC.

Prior period financial statements have been reified$o conform to current period presentation.
Principles of Consolidatior

The consolidated financial statements include to@ants of VMware and its subsidiaries. All intargqmany transactions and balances
between VMware and its subsidiaries have been méitad. All intercompany transactions with EMC ie ttonsolidated statements of cash
flows will be settled in cash, and changes in thieent intercompany balances are presented as parmnt of cash flows from operating
activities.

Use of Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith generally accepted accounting principleguiees management to make estim
and assumptions that affect the reported amourdss#ts and liabilities, the reported amountswe#maes and expenses during the reporting
periods, and the disclosure of contingent lialeiitat the date of the financial statements. Eséisnate used for, but not limited to, capitalized
software development costs, trade receivable vialuatertain accrued
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VMware, Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continu ed)
(unaudited)

liabilities, useful lives of fixed assets and irgée assets, valuation of acquired intangiblegeneie reserves, income taxes, stock-based
compensation and contingencies. Actual resultsdcdifler from those estimates.

New Accounting Pronouncemen

In June 2011, the Financial Accounting Standardsr@¢‘FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update 2@11-05, Presentation of
Comprehensive Income (“ASU 2011-05"). ASU 2011-0Bimated the option to report other comprehengio®me and its components in the
statement of changes in equity. Comprehensive irammst be presented in one continuous statemeaingbrehensive income or two sepal
consecutive statements. In December 2011, the F8S&EBd an amendment to ASU 2011-05 that deferetiilgrement to present
reclassification adjustments out of accumulate@iotomprehensive income on the face of the corselitistatement of income. VMware
adopted this accounting standard update, as ameodddnuary 1, 2012, and presents comprehensigvenmin accordance with the
requirements of the standard in this Quarterly Riepo Form 10-Q.

B. Research and Development and Capitalized SoftwarDevelopment Costs

Development costs of software to be sold, leased{rerwise marketed are subject to capitalizaltieginning when the product's
technological feasibility has been establishedemding when the product is available for generalase. Judgment is required in determining
when technological feasibility is established asdree Company's business, products and go-to-msiriee¢gy have evolved, management has
continued to evaluate when technological feasjbifitestablished. Following the release of vSplaeaad the comprehensive suite of cloud
infrastructure technologies in the third quarte011, management determined that VMware's go-tdketatrategy had changed from single
solutions to product suite solutions. As a resfiths change in strategy, and the related incidasportance of interoperability between
VMware's products, the length of time between aghgetechnological feasibility and general releisseustomers significantly decreased. For
future releases, management expects VMware's piotlube available for general release soon atdmtological feasibility has been
established.

VMware's expensed and capitalized research andajeuent ("R&D") costs may not be comparable to VMe&s peer companies due to
differences in judgment as to when technologicasitgility has been reached or differences in judgmegarding when the product is available
for general release. Additionally, future changemanagement's judgment as to when technologiaaltféity is established, or additional
changes in VMware's business, including its go-torkeat strategy, could materially impact the amaifrdosts capitalized. For example, if the
length of time between technological feasibilitydayeneral availability were to increase again mfthiture, the amount of capitalized costs
would likely increase.

Generally accepted accounting principles requireiahamortization expense of capitalized softwanestbpment costs to be the greater of
the amounts computed using the ratio of currenégrevenue to a product’s total current and arstteighrevenues, or the straight-line method
over the product’s remaining estimated economé Iifo date, VMware has amortized these costs tagtraight-line method as it is the
greater of the two amounts. The costs are amortized periods ranging from 18 to 24 months, whighresent the product’s estimated
economic life. The ongoing assessment of the reatildy of these costs requires considerable juelginby management with respect to
certain external factors such as anticipated futewenue, estimated economic life, and changesftware and hardware technologies. Mate
differences in amortization amounts could occua assult of changes in the periods over which VMaeattually generates revenues or the
amounts of revenues generated.

Unamortized software development costs were $88libmand $104.9 million as of March 31, 2012 ébdcember 31, 2011 ,
respectively, and are included in capitalized safendevelopment costs, net and other on the calasetl balance sheets.

In the three months ended March 31, 2012 , alixsof development costs were expensed as incurcediare included in R&D expenses
on the accompanying consolidated statement of iecdmthe three months ended March 31, 2011 , VMwapitalized $32.3 million
(including $4.9 million of stock-based compensaliohcosts incurred for the development of softwareducts. These amounts have been
excluded from R&D expenses on the accompanyingalimlaged statements of income. Amortization expdns®a capitalized amounts was
$21.8 million and $28.5 million for the three mosignded March 31, 2012 and 2011 , respectively.imation expense is included in cost of
license revenues on the consolidated statemeimsare.

C. Earnings per Share

Basic net income per share is computed by dividieigincome by the weighted-average number of comshanes outstanding during the
period. Diluted net income per share is computedibiging net income by the weighted-average nunadf@ommon shares outstanding and
potentially dilutive securities outstanding durithg period, as calculated using the
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VMware, Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continu ed)
(unaudited)

treasury stock method. Potentially dilutive sedesiprimarily include stock options, unvested iiestd stock units, and purchase options under
VMware's employee stock purchase plan. Securitiee&cluded from the computations of diluted nebime per share if their effect would be
anti-dilutive. As of March 31, 2012 , VMware had612 million shares of Class A common stock and @®fillion shares of Class B common
stock outstanding that were included in the cattaheof basic earnings per share. VMware useswvtioedass method to calculate earnings per
share as both classes share the same rights dedds, therefore basic and diluted earnings peesra the same for both classes.

The following table sets forth the computationdasic and diluted net income per share for theethrenths ended March 31, 2012 and
2011 (table in thousands, except per share data):

For the Three Months
Ended March 31,

2012 2011
Net income $ 191,43t $ 125,81
Weighted-average shares, basic for Class A and@as 424,98 417,44«
Effect of dilutive securities 8,22¢ 11,80:
Weighted-average shares, diluted for Class A aagd<CB 433,21 429,24°
Net income per weighted-average share, basic fs<CA and Class B $ 04 $ 0.3C
Net income per weighted-average share, dilutec€Cfass A and Class B $ 044 $ 0.2¢€

For the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 26thtk options to purchase 0.4 million and 1.9iatilshares, respectively, of
VMware Class A common stock were excluded fromditgted earnings per share calculations becausedfiect would have been anti-
dilutive. For each of the three months ended M&th2012 and 2011 , 0.1 million shares of restricimck were excluded from the diluted
earnings per share calculations because theirteffeadd have been anti-dilutive.

D. Investments

Investments as of March 31, 2012 and December(@®l1, 2onsisted of the following (tables in thousands

March 31, 2012

Cost or Unrealized Unrealized Aggregate

Amortized Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
U.S. Government and agency obligations $ 408,22¢ $ 1,35 $ (46) $ 409,53!
U.S. and foreign corporate debt securities 1,196,591 3,57¢ (36¢) 1,199,80:
Foreign governments and multi-national agency aibiigns 37,58¢ 54 (6) 37,63:
Municipal obligations 851,34 1,76¢ (557) 852,56
Asset-backed securities 39,47: 49 (14) 39,50¢
Mortgage-backed securities 57,09° 11€ (10€) 57,107
Total investments $ 2,590,320 $ 6,911 $ (1,09) $ 2,596,114

December 31, 2011

Cost or Unrealized Unrealized Aggregate

Amortized Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
U.S. Government and agency obligations $ 516,79! $ 1,84z $ 23 % 518,61
U.S. and foreign corporate debt securities 1,134,00! 1,40¢ (2,03¢6) 1,133,37
Foreign governments and multi-national agency aliims 58,45¢ 30 (87) 58,39¢
Municipal obligations 768,28: 1,39¢ (437) 769,24:
Asset-backed securities 27,107 2 (23 27,08¢
Mortgage-backed securities 49,77¢ 12¢ (172) 49,73¢
Total investments $ 2,554,421 $ 480z $ 2,779 $ 2,556,45!
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VMware, Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continu ed)
(unaudited)

Both the realized gains and realized losses orstnvents were not material for the three months @higrch 31, 2012 and 2011 . In
addition, VMware evaluated its investments as ofdfe81, 2012 and December 31, 2011 and determivegditere were no unrealized losses
that indicated an other-than-temporary impairment.

As of March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 , VMvaiglenot have investments in a material continuougalized loss position for
twelve months or greater. Unrealized losses onsimvents as of March 31, 2012 , and December 311, 2@hich have been in a net loss
position for less than twelve months, were clasdifty investment category as follows (table in gamnds):

March 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Losses Value Losses
U.S. Government and agency obligations $ 94,28 $ (46) ¢ 50,60¢ $ (29
U.S. and foreign corporate debt securities 282,19¢ (36€) 539,22¢ (2,036
Foreign governments and multi-national agency alilims 16,92: (6) 43,02¢ (87)
Municipal obligations 275,59( (550) 298,18’ (40€)
Asset-backed securities 12,39¢ (19 20,02t (23
Mortgage-backed securities 37,50: (10€) 32,811 172
Total $ 718,89! $ (1,090 $ 983,88° $ (2,749

Contractual Maturities

The contractual maturities of investments held atd¥i 31, 2012 consisted of the following (tabl¢hausands):

Amortized Aggregate

Cost Basis Fair Value
Due within one year $ 1,229,71' $ 1,230,64
Due after 1 year through 5 years 1,309,33! 1,314,19
Due after 5 years 51,27: 51,30¢
Total investments $ 259032 $ 2,596,14

E. Fair Value Measurements

Generally accepted accounting principles provige thir value is an exit price, representing theoant that would be received upon the
sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liabilitamnorderly transaction between market participakéssuch, fair value is a market-based
measurement that is determined based on assumgh@nsarket participants would use in pricing aged or liability. As a basis for
considering such assumptions, generally acceptasliating principles established a thte=-value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputsed
in measuring fair value as follows: (Level 1) inpatre quoted prices in active markets for identisakts or liabilities; (Level 2) inputs other
than the quoted prices included within Level 1 duat observable for the assets or liabilities,egitlirectly or indirectly; and (Level 3)
unobservable inputs for the assets or liabilittree/hich there is little or no market data, whichuees VMware to develop its own assumptic

VMware’s Level 1 classification of the fair valueeharchy includes money market funds and certaailalvie-for-sale fixed income
securities because these securities are valued qabted prices in active markets for identicabéss

VMware’s Level 2 classification includes the rermd®n of the available-for-sale fixed income secesitbecause these securities are priced
using quoted market prices for similar instrumeartd non-binding market prices that are corroborhjedbservable market data. VMware
obtains the fair values of its Level 2 financiagtiuments based upon fair values obtained froruissody bank. In addition, VMware obtains
fair values of its Level 2 financial instrumenterr the asset manager of each of its portfolios. \Aweavalidates the fair value provided by its
custody bank by comparing it against the indepenpliecing information obtained from the asset maragindependently, the custody bank
and the asset managers use professional pricingagto gather pricing data which may include gdanarket prices for identical or
comparable instruments, or inputs other than quptees that are observable either directly orrimctly. VMware is ultimately responsible for
the financial statements and underlying estimates.

Additionally, VMware's Level 2 classification inaes foreign currency forward contracts as the wmloanputs for these are based upon
guoted prices and quoted pricing intervals fromliguttata sources. These contracts were not maferiainy
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VMware, Inc.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continu ed)
(unaudited)

period presented. VMware does not have any matsiets or liabilities that fall into Level 3 o&thair value hierarchy.

The following tables set forth the fair value hietay of VMware’s money market funds and availaliedale securities, including those
securities classified within cash and cash equntalen the consolidated balance sheets, that wegrered to be measured at fair value as of
March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 (tables insduods):

March 31, 2012

Level 1 Level 2 Total

Money-market funds $ 204489 $ — $ 2,044,89
U.S. Government and agency obligations 155,86¢ 253,66¢ 409,53:
U.S. and foreign corporate debt securities — 1,253,229 1,253,29!
Foreign governments and multi-national agency albiions — 37,63¢ 37,63¢
Municipal obligations — 852,56 852,56:
Asset-backed securities — 39,50¢ 39,50¢
Mortgage-backed securities — 57,101 57,10%

Total cash equivalents and investments $ 2,200,760 $ 2,493,77. $ 4,694,53

December 31, 2011

Level 1 Level 2 Total

Money-market funds $ 1,34590. $ — $ 1,345,90
U.S. Government and agency obligations 170,74 347,87( 518,61«
U.S. and foreign corporate debt securities — 1,143,37! 1,143,37
Foreign governments and multi-national agency albiions — 58,391 58,39’
Municipal obligations — 769,24 769,24
Asset-backed securities — 27,08¢ 27,08¢
Mortgage-backed securities — 49,73¢ 49,73¢

Total cash equivalents and investments $ 151664 $ 2,395700 $ 3,912,35

F. Derivative Instruments

VMware conducts business in several foreign cuiesnand has international sales and expenses deatadiin foreign currencies,
subjecting the Company to foreign currency riskniidgate this risk, VMware enters into hedgingieties as described below. The
counterparties to VMware's foreign currency forweoditracts are multi-national commercial banks m®red to be credit-worthy. VMware
does not enter into speculative foreign exchangeraots for trading purposes.

Cash Flow Hedging Activities

To mitigate its exposure to foreign currency fladtans resulting from operating expenses denomihiateertain foreign currencies,
VMware entered into foreign currency forward coaotssstarting in the fourth quarter of 2011. The @any designates these forward contracts
as cash flow hedging instruments as the accountitgyia for such designation has been met. Thezetbe effective portion of gains or losses
resulting from changes in the fair value of thesddes is initially reported in accumulated othenpoehensive income on the consolidated
balance sheet, and is subsequently reclassifidtetoelated operating expense line item in the alafeted statements of income in the same
period that the underlying expenses are incurrgdrést charges or "forward points" on VMware'sviand contracts are excluded from the
assessment of hedge effectiveness and are redorddter income (expense), net in the consolidatattments of income as incurred. For the
three months ended March 31, 2012 , all amountggrézed on the consolidated statements of incomagedtto VMware's cash flow hedging
program were immaterial.

VMware generally enters into cash flow hedges sammicially with maturities of six months or less.&dMarch 31, 2012 and
December 31, 2011 , VMware had forward contractsutchase currency designated as cash flow hedigfes wotal notional value of $25.9
million and $47.1 million , respectively. The famlue of these forward contracts was immaterialfddarch 31, 2012 and therefore excluded
from the fair value tables above. For the three tidended March 31, 2012 , all cash flow hedgeg wensidered effective.
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Balance Sheet Hedging Activitie

In order to manage exposure to foreign currenostdiations, VMware enters into foreign currency fard/contracts to hedge a portion of
its net outstanding monetary assets and liabilggasinst movements in certain foreign exchangerateese forward contracts are not
designated as hedging instruments under applieaueunting guidance, and therefore all changdsaridir value of the forward contracts are
reported in other income (expense), net in the aaeted statements of income. The gains and lazs&&viware’s foreign currency forward
contracts generally offset the majority of the gaaimd losses associated with the underlying foreigrency denominated assets and liabilities
that VMware hedges.

VMware's foreign currency forward contracts are gyatly traded on a monthly basis with a typicaltcactual term of one month. As of
March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 , VMware hastanding forward contracts with a total notiovalue of $244.4 million and $324.1
million , respectively. The fair value of these@rd contracts was immaterial as of March 31, 281@ December 31, 2011 and therefore
excluded from the fair value tables above.

G. Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment, net, as of March 31, 20tREecember 31, 2011 consisted of the followinglé&an thousands):

December 31,

March 31, 2012 2011

Equipment and software $ 532,64¢ $ 512,75:
Buildings and improvements 349,33t 340,59¢
Furniture and fixtures 63,18¢ 61,02:
Construction in progress 68,73¢ 68,701
Total property and equipment 1,013,91. 983,08
Accumulated depreciation (490,22) (457,59()
Total property and equipment, net $ 523,68° $ 525,49(

Depreciation expense was $32.8 million and $30lliamiin the three months ended March 31, 2012201t , respectively.

In the three months ended March 31, 2011 , VMwatered into an agreement to purchase the righg,aitd interest in a ground lease
covering the property and improvements locatedcaajto VMware's existing Palo Alto, California cpos and made a good faith deposit of
$45.0 millionto perform due diligence on the site. VMware cortgdethis transaction in the three months ended 30n2011 for a total cost
$225.0 million .

As of March 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 , coastm in progress primarily represented buildiagd site improvements related to
VMware's Palo Alto campus expansion that had nobgen placed into service.

H. Accrued Expenses and Other

Accrued expenses and other as of March 31, 201Dandmber 31, 2011 consisted of the following @ablthousands):

December 31,

March 31, 2012 2011
Salaries, commissions, bonuses, and benefits $ 208,48 $ 287,24¢
Accrued partner liabilities 109,10t 124,35¢
Other 171,51 176,04:
Total $ 489,10 $ 587,65(

Accrued partner liabilities relate to rebates aratkating development fund accruals for channelngast system vendors and systems
integrators, as well as accrued royalties.
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I. Unearned Revenues

Unearned revenues as of March 31, 2012 and Dece3db@011 consisted of the following (table in thands):

December 31,

March 31, 2012 2011
Unearned license revenues $ 373,01t $ 389,22¢
Unearned software maintenance revenues 2,245,65. 2,133,51.
Unearned professional services revenues 189,44 185,68:
Total unearned revenues $ 2,808,11 $ 2,708,41i

Unearned license revenues are recognized eitradylyatr upon the delivery of existing products et products or services. Future
products include, in some cases, emerging prodiatsre offered as part of product promotions whke purchaser of an existing product is
entitled to receive a promotional product at noitaital charge. VMware regularly offers product prations as a strategy to improve
awareness of its emerging products. To the extemhptional products have not been delivered and & &0fair value cannot be established,
the revenue for the entire order is deferred wuith time as all product delivery obligations hbeen fulfilled. Increasingly, unearned license
revenue may also be recognized ratably, whichimegely due to a right to receive unspecified fatproducts or a lack of VSOE of fair value
on the software maintenance element of the arraagerAt March 31, 2012 , the ratable componentesgmted over half of the total unearned
license revenue balance. Unearned software maimtenavenues are attributable to VMware's maintemanontracts and are recognized
ratably over terms of one to five years with a vinbégl-average remaining term at March 31, 2012 pf@pmately 1.9 years. Unearned
professional services revenues result primarilynfrrepaid professional services, including trainimgd are generally recognized as the
services are delivered.

J. Note Payable to EMC

In April 2007, VMware declared an $800.0 milliorvidiend to EMC paid in the form of a note payablé@hvinterest payable quarterly in
arrears and original maturity date of April 201& &f March 31, 2012 , $450.0 million remained aarsling. In June 2011, VMware and EMC
amended and restated the note to extend the nyadiati® of the note to April 16, 2015 and to modifg principal amount of the note to reflect
the outstanding balance of $450.0 million . Theriest rate continues to reset quarterly and bemsirgerest rate of the 90 -day LIBOR plus 55
basis points. For the three months ended MarcR@I2 and 2011 , $1.3 million and $1.0 million ,pestively, of interest expense were
recorded related to the note payable. The notebmmagpaid prior to the maturity date without penaito repayments of principal were made
during the three months ended March 31, 2012 add 20

K. Income Taxes

Although VMware files a consolidated federal tatura with EMC, VMware calculates its income tax yigion on a stanéione basis. Tt
Company'’s effective tax rate in the periods preseig the result of the mix of income earned inous tax jurisdictions that apply a broad
range of income tax rates. The rate at which tl&ipion for income taxes is calculated differs frire U.S. federal statutory income tax rate
primarily due to different tax rates in foreignigdictions where income is earned and considerée tadefinitely reinvested.

VMware’s effective income tax rate was 14.5% andi¥®for the three months ended March 31, 2012 &id 2respectively. The lower
effective rate for the three months ended Marchi2B12 , compared with the three months ended Mait¢l2011 , was primarily attributable to
a jurisdictional shift of income from the U.S. tawler-tax non-U.S. jurisdictions, and a decreassiecognized tax benefits from uncertain tax
positions as a percentage of income before taxapifiynoffset by the expiration of the federal restatax credit.

VMware’s rate of taxation in foreign jurisdictiomslower than the U.S. tax rate. VMware’s interaatl income is primarily earned by
VMware’s subsidiaries in Ireland, where the statytax rate is 12.5% . Management does not belieatany recent or currently expected
developments in non-U.S. tax jurisdictions are oeably likely to have a material impact on VMwareffective tax rate. As of March 31,

2012 , VMware’s total cash, cash equivalents, dmtaerm investments were $5,222.3 million , ofieth$2,464.0 million were held outside
the U.S. If these overseas funds are needed fopégations in the U.S., VMware would be requireadcrue and pay U.S. taxes on related
undistributed earnings to repatriate these fundsvéver, all income earned abroad, except for presljotaxed income for U.S. tax purposes
considered indefinitely reinvested in VMware's fgreoperations and no provision for U.S. taxeshieen provided with respect thereto. At
time, it is not practicable to estimate the amafribix that may be payable were VMware to repadriaese funds, and VMware's current plans
do not demonstrate a need to repatriate them wifarJ.S. operations. VMware will meet its U.Sdidity needs through cash flows from
operations, external borrowings, or both. VMwaiiéiag¢ts a variety of tax planning and
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financing strategies in an effort to ensure theioridwide cash is available in the locations inich it is needed.

As of March 31, 2012 , VMware had gross unrecoghize benefits totaling $88.7 million , which exdés $11.8 million of offsetting tax
benefits. Approximately $83.9 million of VMware’'&hunrecognized tax benefits, not including interiésecognized, would reduce income
tax expense and lower VMware's effective tax ratéhie period or periods recognized. The $91.0 onilbf net unrecognized tax benefits,
including interest, were classified as a non-curliability on the consolidated balance sheets ltsgasonably possible that within the next 12
months audit resolutions could potentially redwtaltunrecognized tax benefits by between approtain&5.0 million and $7.0 million Audit
outcomes and the timing of audit settlements alpgestito significant uncertainty.

VMware recognizes interest expense and penaltiateckbto income tax matters in the income tax miow. VMware recognized
approximately $1.1 million in interest and penaltfer the three months ended March 31, 2012 andhbadied $7.1 million of interest and
penalties as of March 31, 2012 , associated wigmgt unrecognized tax benefits. These amountsateled as components of the $91.0
million of net unrecognized tax benefits as of Magd, 2012 .

L. Commitments and Contingencies
Litigation

From time to time, VMware is subject to legal, adistrative and regulatory proceedings, claims, defeand investigations in the
ordinary course of business, including claims witbpect to intellectual property, contracts, emplegit and other matters. VMware accrue:
a liability when it is both probable that a liabjlhas been incurred and the amount of the losdbearasonably estimated. Significant judgn
is required in both the determination of probapitind the determination as to whether a loss sorebly estimable. These accruals are
reviewed at least quarterly and adjusted to refleeimpacts of negotiations, settlements, rulimgiwice of legal counsel and other information
and events pertaining to a particular matter. AMarch 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 , the ats@ccrued were not material. To the
extent there is a reasonable possibility thatdissds could exceed the amounts already accrueadgerment believes that the amount of any
such additional loss would also be immaterial towde’s consolidated financial position and resafteperations.

Operating Lease Commitments

VMware leases office facilities and equipment ungaious operating leases. Facility leases geneiratlude renewal options. VMware’s
future lease commitments at March 31, 2012 weffelksvs (table in thousands):

2012 $ 41,32¢
2013 49,90¢
2014 36,01«
2015 25,65
2016 22,30}
Thereafter 545,40:

Total minimum lease payments $ 720,60t

The amount of the future lease commitments afté626 primarily for the ground leases on VMware&ddAlto, California headquarter
facilities, which expire in 2046. As several of VMre’s operating leases are payable in foreign naies, the operating lease payments may
fluctuate in response to changes in the exchartgebedaween the U.S. Dollar and the foreign curremai which the commitments are payable.

M. Stockholders’ Equity
VMware Stock Repurchase Programs

In February 2012, VMware's Board of Directors authed the repurchase of up to $600.0 million of Vite's Class A common stock
through the end of 2013 . In February 2011, a catemf VMware's Board of Directors authorized tbpurchase of up to $550.0 million of
VMware's Class A common stock through the end df20These authorizations were in addition to &ipres repurchase authorization made
in March 2010 of up to $400.0 million of VMware'$a€s A common stock that was completed in Marchl201

From time to time, stock repurchases may be madmipat to the February 2012 and February 2011 eadtimns in open market
transactions or privately negotiated transactiecngaamitted by securities laws and other legalirequents. VMware is not obligated to
purchase any shares under its stock repurchaseapmegThe timing of any repurchases and the antwaber of shares repurchased will
depend on a variety of factors, including VMwarstsck price, corporate and
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regulatory requirements and other market and ecanoomditions. Purchases can be discontinued atiargythat VMware feels additional
purchases are not warranted.

In the three months ended March 31, 2012 , VMwaédendt repurchase shares of its Class A commorkstodhe three months ended
March 31, 2011 , VMware repurchased and retiredriillfon shares of its Class A common stock at égiveed-average price of $85.88 per
share for an aggregate purchase price of $147libmjlincluding commissions. The amount of repurchasedes was classified as a reduc
to additional paid-in capital. As of March 31, 201the authorized amount remaining for repurchaas $685.3 million . Of that amount,
$600.0 million is authorized for repurchases thiotlge end of 2013 and the remaining $85.3 milloauthorized for repurchases through the
end of 2012.

VMware Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The following table summarizes Employee Stock PasehPlan (the “ESPP”) activity in the three momthded March 31, 2012 and 2011
(table in thousands, except per share amounts):

Purchase Period Ended

January 31,
2012 2011
Cash proceeds $ 32,86. $ 26,81
Class A common shares purchased 424 407
Weighted-average price per share $ 77.5¢ $ 65.9(

As of March 31, 2012, $20.1 million of ESPP withtings were recorded as a liability on the consikd balance sheet for the next
purchase in July 2012 .

VMware Restricted Stock

VMware restricted stock units primarily consistre$tricted stock unit ("RSU") awards granted to kyges. RSUs are valued based or
VMware stock price on the date of grant, and shaneterlying RSU awards are not issued until th&ricted stock units vest. Upon vesting,
each RSU converts into one share of VMware ClassrAmon stock.

In February 2012, VMware granted 0.3 million penfiance stock unit ("PSU") awards to certain of ¥sautives. The awards will vest in
the first quarter of 2015 if VMware meets a destgdaevenue growth target over the three-year gerionmencing on January 1, 2012. If
minimum performance thresholds are achieved, e&th&vard will convert into VMware's Class A comnstack at a ratio ranging from 0.5
to three shares for each PSU, depending upon tireeef achievement. If minimum performance thré&hare not achieved, then no shares
will be issued under a PSU award.

The following table summarizes restricted stockvagtsince January 1, 2012 (stock units in thousn

Weighted-
Average Grant
Number Date Fair
of Value
Stock Units (per stock unit)
Outstanding, January 1, 2012 9,54C $ 72.7¢
Granted 1,23( 98.1-
Vested (40€) 52.0z
Forfeited (284) 71.7:
Outstanding, March 31, 2012 10,08( 77.2%

The total fair value of VMware stock units that tezkin the three months ended March 31, 2012 wasl $8illion . As of March 31, 2012
stock units representing 10.1 million shares of Vlevwere outstanding, with an aggregate intrinalaer of $1,132.5 million based on
VMware's closing price as of March 31, 2012 . Th&teek units are scheduled to vest through 2016 .

VMware Shares Repurchased for Tax Withholdings

In the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2¥Mware repurchased or withheld and retired 0.dianilshares and 0.2 millioshare:
of Class A common stock, for $14.4 million and $2dillion , respectively, to cover tax withholdingligations. These amounts differ from
the amounts of cash remitted for tax withholdingjgadions on the consolidated statement of cashdldue to the timing of payments. Pursi
to the respective award agreements, these shares we
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repurchased or withheld in conjunction with the stedre settlement upon the vesting of restrictecksand restricted stock units during the
period. The value of the repurchased or withheltedy, including restricted stock units, was cléssiés a reduction to additional paid-in
capital.

N. Related Party Transactions

In the second quarter of 2011, VMware acquiredaderassets relating to EMC’s Mozy cloud-based dtieage and data center services,
including certain data center assets and a liceneertain intellectual property. EMC retained ovaiép of the Mozy business and its
remaining assets. EMC continues to be responsibléoizy customers for Mozy products and servicesamdinues to recognize revenue from
such products and services. VMware entered intopanational support agreement with EMC pursuamthiich VMware took over
responsibility to operate the Mozy service on bebBEMC. Pursuant to the support agreement, dostered by VMware to support EMC’s
Mozy services, plus a mark-up intended to approtentlairdparty costs, are reimbursed to VMware by EMC. Gndbnsolidated statements
income, such amounts were approximately $14.6anilin the three months ended March 31, 2012 , itietua markup of $1.6 million , and
were recorded as a reduction to the costs VMwareried.

In the second quarter of 2010, VMware acquiredageitoftware product technology and expertise fEMC's lonix IT management
business for cash consideration of $175.0 milli&MC retained the lonix brand and will continueoféer customers the products acquired by
VMware, pursuant to the ongoing reseller agreerhetween EMC and VMware. During the three monthsdrdarch 31, 2011 , a $12.5
million contingent payment was made to EMC. Thigmant was recorded as an equity transaction ancawagfset to the initial capital
contribution from EMC. As of December 31, 2011ll, @ntingent payments under the agreement had besle.

Pursuant to an ongoing reseller arrangement witlCEEEMC bundles VMware’s products and services \E#hC's hardware and sells
them to end-users. In the three months ended M&kcR012 and 2011 , VMware recognized revenue85i0million and $20.0 million ,
respectively, from products and services sold pansto VMware’s reseller arrangement with EMC. Adtarch 31, 2012 , $94.2 million of
revenues from products and services sold undeegsler arrangement were included in unearnechrease

In the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2¥Mware recognized professional services revenfi&d®.7 million and $14.4
million , respectively, for services provided to EN customers pursuant to VMware’s contractual agrents with EMC. As of March 31,
2012 , $5.9 million of revenues from professiorea&es to EMC customers were included in unearaednues.

In the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2¥Mware recognized revenues of $1.7 million andb3aillion , respectively, from
server and desktop products and services purcligsEMC for internal use pursuant to VMware’s cootual agreements with EMC. As of
March 31, 2012 , $22.9 million of revenues fromveetand desktop products and services purchas&dgy for internal use were included in
unearned revenues.

VMware purchased storage systems and softwaregbhssvconsulting services, from EMC for $17.9 moilland $5.8 million in the three
months ended March 31, 2012 and 2011 , respectively

In certain geographic regions where VMware doeshaot an established legal entity, VMware contraatis EMC subsidiaries for
support services and EMC employees who are martag¥diware’s personnel. The costs incurred by EMC/dmware’s behalf related to
these employees are passed on to VMware and VMwaterged a mark-up intended to approximate ¢hatsvould have been charged had
VMware contracted for such services with an unegldhird party. These costs are included as exganséMware’s consolidated statements
of income and primarily include salaries, benefitayel and rent. Additionally, EMC incurs certaidministrative costs on VMware’s behalf in
the U.S. that are also recorded as expenses. Tdietst of the services provided to VMware by EEiCdescribed above was $27.8 million
and $24.7 million in the three months ended M&th2012 and 2011, respectively.

In the three months ended March 31, 2012 , no paisnweere made by VMware or EMC under the tax slgaaigreement. In the three
months ended March 31, 2011 , EMC paid VMware $8&l4on under the tax sharing agreement. No paymamere made by VMware to
EMC under the tax sharing agreement in the threetimscended March 31, 2011 . Payments between VMaradeEMC under the tax sharing
agreement primarily relate to VMware's portion @éral income taxes on EMC's consolidated taxmeRayments from VMware to EMC
primarily relate to periods for which VMware hadustl-alone federal taxable income, while paymems fEMC to VMware relate to periods
for which VMware had a stand-alone federal taxddss. The amounts that VMware either pays to ceives from EMC for its portion of
federal income taxes on EMC's consolidated taxrretliffer from the amounts VMware would owe on argt-alone basis and the difference is
presented as a component of stockholders’ equitlyalf periods presented, the difference was naeris .
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In the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 28113, million and $1.0 million , respectively, oft¢érest expense was recorded related
to the note payable to EMC and included in inteeggiense with EMC on VMware’s consolidated stateimehincome. VMware’s interest
expense as a separate, stand-alone company mayhiee or lower than the amounts reflected in thesotidated financial statements.

As of March 31, 2012 , VMware had $18.3 million dee from EMC, which consisted of $58.0 million duem EMC, partially offset by
$39.7 million due to EMC. These amounts resultechfthe related party transactions described aldoveddition to the $18.3 million net due
from EMC as of March 31, 2012 , VMware had an imenat amount of net income taxes payable due to EMch is included in accrued
expenses and other on VMwa&onsolidated balance sheets. Balances due tororEMC which are unrelated to tax obligations geaerally
settled in cash within 60 days of each quarter-&he.timing of the tax payments due to and from ElIGoverned by the tax sharing
agreement with EMC.

O. Segment Information

VMware operates in oneperating segment. Operating segments are dedimedmponents of an enterprise about which seplémateial
information is evaluated regularly by the chief gteng decision maker in deciding how to allocasaurces and assessing performance.
VMware's chief operating decision maker allocatsources and assesses performance based upotedisenecial information at the
consolidated level. Since VMware operates in operating segment, all required financial segmefiormation can be found in the
consolidated financial statements.

Revenues by geographic area for the three monttexdelarch 31, 2012 and 2011 were as follows (tabteousands):

For the Three Months Ended

March 31,
2012 2011
United States $ 484,97: $ 399,55(
International 570,20¢ 44417
Total $ 1,055,18 $ 843,72:

No country other than the United States had mateeeenues f or the three months ended March 312 »r 2011 .

Long-lived assets by geographic area, which prigpmarclude property and equipment, net, as of M&8th2012 and December 31, 2011
were as follows (table in thousands):

December 31,

March 31, 2012 2011
United States $ 434,81t $ 429,67¢
International 44,28¢ 46,477
Total $ 479,10: $ 476,15!

No country other than the United States accourdedd% or more of these assets at March 31, 20Dkoember 31, 2011 , respectively.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’ S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

All dollar amounts expressed as numbers in this MO(&xcept share and per share amounts) are iromslli

Overview

Our primary source of revenues is the licensingifialization and virtualization-based cloud irdraicture solutions and related support
and services for use by businesses and organigatiaall sizes and across numerous industriesein ihformation technology (“IT”)
infrastructure.

We have developed a multi-channel distribution nhéalexpand our global presence and to reach vasegments of the industry. In the
first quarter of 2012 , we derived over 85% of sales from our channel partners, which includeiistors, resellers, system vendors and
systems integrators. Sales to our channel partfs involve three tiers of distribution: a dibtitor, a reseller and an end-user customer. Our
sales force works collaboratively with our chanp&itners to introduce them to customers and ness sgdportunities. As we expand
geographically, we expect to continue to add aolditi channel partners.

Although we believe we are currently the leadingviter of virtualization infrastructure softwaregions, we face competitive threats to
our leadership position from a number of comparseme of which have significantly greater resoutbes we do, which could result in
increased pressure to reduce prices on our offerifvg a result, we believe it is important to coné to invest in strategic initiatives related to
product research and development, market expaasidrmssociated support functions to expand ousinglieadership. We believe that we
will be able to continue to meet our product depetent objectives through continued investment inexisting infrastructure, supplemented
with strategic hires and acquisitions, funded tiglothe operating cash flows generated from thecfaber products and services. We believe
this is the appropriate priority for the long-teh@alth and growth of our business.

We expect to grow our business by broadening atwalization infrastructure software solutions teslogy and product portfolio,
increasing product awareness, promoting the adoptiwirtualization and building long-term relat&hrips with our customers through the
adoption of enterprise license agreements (“ELASI)ce the introduction of VMware vSphere in 2088, have introduced more products that
build on the vSphere foundation, including VMwaf&phere 5 and a comprehensive suite of cloud iméretstre technologies, as well as
VMware View 5. We plan to continue to introduce giddal products in the future. We have made, axpket to continue to make, acquisitit
designed to strengthen our product offerings oemkiour strategy to deliver solutions that can dmtédd at customer data centers or at service
providers.

Our current financial focus is on long-term reveguewth to generate free cash flows to fund ouraesion of industry segment share and
to evolve our virtualization-based products foradegnters, end-user devices and cloud computiogighra combination of internal
development and acquisitions. See “Non-GAAP Firgrdieasures” for further information on free cakiwk. In evaluating our results, we
also focus on operating margin excluding certaijpesses which are included in our total operatingeeses calculated in accordance with
GAAP. The expenses excluded are stbeked compensation, the net effect of the amarizaind capitalization of software development s
and certain other expenses consisting of emplogwrol taxes on employee stock transactions, amaditin of intangible assets and
acquisition-related items. We believe this measeflects our ongoing business in a manner thawallmeaningful period-to-period
comparisons. We are not currently focused on dleont-operating margin expansion, but rather onsting at appropriate rates to support our
growth and future product offerings in what mayabgubstantially more competitive environment.

Although our customers continue to adopt our proglatform as a strategic investment that impraféisiency and flexibility for their
business and enables substantial cost savinggmaim cautious about the macroeconomic environniémt.volatility we are observing in bc
the world economy and individual sovereign natioreg/ impact IT spending and demand for our prodatsservices in 2012. We expect to
continue to manage our resources prudently, whilking key investments in support of our long-temovgh objectives.

Income Statement Presentation

As we operate our business in one operating segmentevenues and operating expenses are presamdetiscussed at the consolidated
level.

As a consequence of the timing differences in goegnition of license revenues and software maamtea revenues, variability in
operating margin can result from differences betw&hen we quote and contract for our services dmehvthe cost is incurred. Variability in
operating margin can also result when we recogmieeiously unearned foreign denominated softwargt@aance and license revenues in
future periods. Due to our use of the U.S. Dol&par functional currency, unearned revenue remeiits historical rate when recognized into
revenue while our operating expenses in futureoplsrare based upon the foreign exchange rateatdirtte.
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Sources of Revenue
License revenues

Our license revenues consist of revenues earnettfre licensing of our software products. Theselpects are generally licensed on a
perpetual basis. License revenues are recognized thie elements of revenue recognition for thenbee software are complete, generally
upon electronic shipment of the software. The reesrallocated to the software license includedulftipie-element contracts represent the
residual amount of the contract after the fair eadfithe other elements has been determined. Waitee of our products are licensed on a
subscription basis, subscription license revenvesiet a material part of our business.

Pricing models have generally been based uponhysiqal infrastructure, such as the number of ptajsdesktop computers or server
processors, on which our software runs. We haventgcbegun to base pricing for some of our proglact virtual, rather than purely physical,
entitlements, while continuing to license such piaid on a perpetual basis. Effective in the thirdrtgr of 2010, we began pricing certain of
our management solutions on a per-virtual-machassb In the third quarter of 2011, we revisedghieing model for VMware vSphere 5
effective with its general availability. VMware vBgre 5 will continue to be licensed perpetuallyaguer-processor basis. The two physical
constraints, number of cores and physical RAM, Heeen eliminated, however, and replaced with aeivigtualization-based entitlement of
virtual memory, or vVRAM, which can be shared acrs$arge pool of servers.

Softwar e maintenance revenues

Software maintenance revenues are recognized yatabt the contract period. Our contract periogsdsily range from one to five years
and include renewals of software maintenance dtdd e initial software maintenance period expiféendor-specific objective evidence
(“VSOE") of fair value for software maintenance\sees is established by the rates charged in stéomk sales of software maintenance
contracts. Customers receive various types of ieahsupport based on the level of support purathaSestomers who are party to software
maintenance agreements with us are entitled tovepeoduct updates and upgrades on a when-andaifadle basis.

Professional services revenues

Professional services include solution design, @nm@ntation and training. Professional servicesateonsidered essential to the
functionality of our products, as these servicesdbalter the product capabilities and may begeeréd by our customers or by other vendors.
Professional services engagements performed figed fee, for which we are able to make reasondbpjendable estimates of progress toward
completion, are recognized on a proportional perforce basis based on hours incurred and estimated of completion. Professional
services engagements that are on a time and niateaisis are recognized based on hours incurreceriRes on all other professional services
engagements are recognized upon completion. Otegzional services may be sold with software prtglacon a stand-alone basis. VSOE of
fair value for professional services is based uperstandard rates we charge for such services sdidrseparately.

Operating Expenses
Cost of license revenues

Our cost of license revenues principally consighefamortization of capitalized software developtremsts and of intangibles, as well as
royalty costs in connection with technology liceshé®m third-party providers and the cost of fulfient of our software. The cost of
fulfillment of our software includes product packag personnel costs and related overhead assdaidtie the physical and electronic delive
of our software products.

Cost of services revenues

Our cost of services revenues include the cospergfonnel and related overhead to deliver techsigaport for our products and to prov
our professional services.

Research and devel opment expenses

Our research and development (“R&D") expenses telihe personnel and related overhead associatedh&i R&D of new product
offerings and the enhancement of our existing safvofferings, net of amounts capitalized.

Sales and marketing expenses

Our sales and marketing expenses include personetd, sales commissions and related overheadiatgsbwith the sale and marketing
of our license and services offerings, as welhascost of product launches and certain marketiiigifives, including our annual VMworld
conferences in the U.S. and Europe. Sales commissie generally earned and expensed when a fiter & received from the customer and
may be expensed in a period other than the pemi@chich the related revenue is recognized.
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General and administrative expenses

Our general and administrative expenses includeopeel and related overhead costs to support thalbbusiness. These expenses
include the costs associated with our facilitiésaice, human resources, IT infrastructure and dggartments, as well as expenses related to
corporate costs and initiatives.

Results of Operations
Revenues
Our revenues in the first quarter of 2012 and 20&fe as follows:

For the Three Months Ended

March 31,
2012 2011 % Change
Revenues:
License $ 481.¢ $ 419.( 15%
Services:
Software maintenance 492.% 363.¢ 35
Professional services 81.C 60.¢ 33
Total services 573.c 424 35
Total revenues $ 1,055.. $ 843.7 25
Revenues:
United States $ 485.C $ 399.t 21%
International 570.2 444 28
Total revenues $ 1,055.. % 843.7 25

Total revenues increased by $211.5 or 25% to $12065he first quarter of 2012 from $843.7 in fhst quarter of 2011 .

In the first quarter of 201®e saw growth in license and services revenuesgenith in the United States and internationallycampare
with the first quarter of 2011 .

License Revenues

Software license revenues increased by $62.9 ortd58481.9 in the first quarter of 2012 from $41®.Ghe first quarter of 2011 . License
revenues in the first quarter of 2012 primarily &fed from global demand for vSphere and contingieaving interest in our management and
automation solutions, as compared to the firsttgnaf 2011 .

In both the first quarter of 2012 and the first qeaof 2011 , ELAs comprised 22% of total saleg Méve promoted the adoption of
virtualization and built long-term relationshipstivbur customers through the adoption of ELAs. ElcAstinue to be an important component
of our revenue growth and are offered both direoylyus and through certain channel partners. Erdsaacore element to our strategy to build
long-term relationships with customers as they carnwrour virtualization infrastructure softwarelstions in their data centers. ELAs provide
a base from which to sell additional products, saslour application platform products, our end-usenputing products and our cloud
infrastructure and management products. UnderiadlyRLA, a portion of the revenues is attributedhe license and recognized immediately
and the remainder is deferred and primarily recoephias software maintenance revenues in futuregserin addition, ELAs typically include
an initial maintenance period that is longer thdreotypes of license sales.

Services Revenues

Services revenues increased by $148.5 or 35% t8.3%7 the first quarter of 2012 from $424.7 in fhist quarter of 2011 . The increase
services revenues during the first quarter of 20&8 primarily attributable to growth in our softwanaintenance revenues.

Software maintenance revenues increased by $1285% to $492.3 in the first quarter of 2012 fro863$.8 in the first quarter of 2011 .
In the first quarter of 2012 , software maintenare&nues benefited from strong renewals, multi-geéware maintenance contracts sold in
previous periods, and additional maintenance cotgrgold in conjunction with new software licenates. In the first quarter of 2012 ,
customers bought, on average, more than 24 mohtpport and maintenance with each new licenseh@ased, which we believe illustrates
our customers’ commitment to VMware as a core etgroétheir data center architecture and hybrididistrategy.
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Professional services revenues increased by $233% to $81.0 in the first quarter of 2012 fron0%bin the first quarter of 2011 .
Professional services revenues increased as giowitlr license sales and installed-base led totiatéi demand for our professional services.
As we continue to invest in our partners and expamrdecosystem of third-party professionals witpertise in our solutions to independently
provide professional services to our customersgavaot expect our professional services revenuesristitute an increasing component of
revenue mix. As a result of this strategy, our gssfonal services revenue can vary based on theethannels used in any given period as
well as the timing of engagements.

Revenue Growth in Constant Currency

We invoice and collect in the Euro, the British Rduthe Japanese Yen and the Australian Dolldréir tespective regions. As a result,
our total revenues are affected by changes inagheevof the U.S. Dollar against these currenciesrtler to provide a comparable framework
for assessing how our business performed exclutimgffect of foreign currency fluctuations, managet analyzes year-over-year revenue
growth on a constant currency basis. Since we tperith the U.S. Dollar as our functional currenagiearned revenues for orders booked in
currencies other than the U.S. Dollar are converterlU.S. Dollars at the exchange rate in effecttfie month in which each order is booked.
We calculate constant currency on license revere@gjnized during the current period that wereinaily booked in currencies other than
U.S. Dollars by comparing the exchange rates useglcognize revenue in the current period agaiesekchange rates used to recognize
revenue in the comparable period. We do not calewanstant currency on services revenues, whidhde software maintenance revenues
and professional services revenues.

Foreign currency fluctuations did not have a sigaifit impact on year-over-year growth in the faqaarter of 2012 . In the first quarter of
2012 , the year-over-year growth in license revermmeasured on a constant currency basis was 149 first quarter of 2012compared wit|
15% as reported. The year-over-year growth in t@atnues was 25% in the first quarter of 2012h las measured on a constant currency
basis and as reported.

Unearned Revenues
Our unearned revenues as of March 31, 2012 , asdrbleer 31, 2011 were as follows:

March 31, 2012 December 31,

2011
Unearned license revenues $ 373.C $ 389.2
Unearned software maintenance revenues 2,245.° 2,133.t
Unearned professional services revenues 189.¢ 185.7
Total unearned revenues $ 2,808.. $ 2,708.¢

The complexity of our unearned revenues has inetkager time as a result of acquisitions, an expdmutoduct portfolio and a broader
range of pricing and packaging alternatives. AMafch 31, 2012 , total unearned revenues increlag&99.7 or 4% to $2,808.1 fro$®,708.4
at December 31, 2011 . This increase was primdtig/to growth in unearned software maintenancente& attributable to our growing base
of maintenance contracts.

Unearned license revenues are recognized eittadlyadr upon the delivery of existing productsufiet products or services. Future
products include, in some cases, emerging prodiiatsare offered as part of product promotions whke purchaser of an existing product is
entitled to receive a promotional product at noitioithl charge. We regularly offer product promoscaas a strategy to improve awareness of
our emerging products. To the extent promotionatpcts have not been delivered and VSOE of faireszabnnot be established, the revenue
for the entire order is deferred until such timekhproduct delivery obligations have been fulfil Increasingly, unearned license revenue may
also be recognized ratably, which is generally whug right to receive unspecified future products tack of VSOE of fair value on the
software maintenance element of the arrangemeriaith 31, 2012 , the ratable component represantedhalf of the total unearned license
revenue balance. Unearned software maintenancaueseare attributable to our maintenance conteawdsare recognized ratably over terms
from one to five years with a weighted-average lieing term at March 31, 2012 of approximately 1e&ss . Unearned professional services
revenues result primarily from prepaid professis®lices, including training, and are generalgogized as the services are delivered. We
believe our overall unearned revenue balance ingerpvedictability of future revenues and that & ieey indicator of the health and growth of
our business.

21




Table of Contents

Operating Expenses
Information about our operating expenses in thet §uarter of 2012 and 2011 is as follows:

For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2012

Capitalized
Core Software Other Total

Operating Stock-Based Development Operating Operating

Expenses (1) Compensation Costs, net Expenses Expenses
Cost of license revenue $ 21z $ 04 $ 21t $ 13.2 % 56.7
Cost of services revenue 106.¢ 5.8 — 1.€ 114.2
Research and development 180.: 39.4 — 2.7 222.¢
Sales and marketing 333.2 25.2 — 5.C 363.4
General and administrative 70.C 11.C — 0.2 81.5
Total operating expenses $ 7118 $ 81t $ 218 % 22¢ % 838.(
Operating income $ 217.2

Operating margin 20.6%

For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2011

Capitalized
Core Software Other Total

Operating Stock-Based Development Operating Operating

Expenses (1) Compensation Costs, net Expenses Expenses
Cost of license revenue $ 18.C $ 0t ¢ 28t $ 9C ¢ 56.(
Cost of services revenue 86.7 5.€ — 1.€ 93.¢
Research and development 151.¢ 41.¢ (27.4) 2.¢ 169.2
Sales and marketing 277.2 22.t — 3.1 302.¢
General and administrative 57.7 10.1 — 0.4 68.2
Total operating expenses $ 591.t $ 80.6 $ 11 ¢ 17.C ¢ 690.2
Operating income $ 153.t

Operating margin 18.2%

(1) Core operating expenses is a non-GAAP findmeesasure that excludes stock-based compensatiemet effect of the amortization and
capitalization of software development costs anthae other expenses from our total operating egpercalculated in accordance with
GAAP. The other expenses excluded are employeoflagxes on employee stock transactions, amontiaadf intangible assets and
acquisition-related items. See “Non-GAAP Finanbdledasures” for further information.

Operating margins increased from 18.2% in the §jtsrter of 2011 to 20.6% in the first quarter 812 . The increase in our operating
margin in the first quarter of 2012 compared with first quarter of 2011 primarily relates to therease in our revenues, which outpaced the
increase in our expenses. In evaluating our resuéiggenerally focus on core operating expensesb&lieve that our core operating expenses
reflect our business in a manner that allows meguirperiod-to-period comparisons. Our core opamgxpenses are reconciled to the most
comparable GAAP measure, “total operating expehsethe table above.

Core Operating Expenses

The following discussion of our core operating enges and the components comprising our core opgrexipenses highlights the factors
that we focus on when evaluating our operating maxgd operating expenses. The increases or desr@asperating expenses discussed in
this section do not include changes relating tolsttased compensation, the net effect of the amadivin and capitalization of software
development costs and certain other expenses, wbitsist of employer payroll taxes on employeelstansactions, amortization of acquired
intangible assets and acquisition-related items.

Core operating expenses increased by $120.0 orirR@8é first quarter of 2012 compared with thetfgaarter of 2011 . As quantified
below, this increase was primarily due to an insesia employee-related expenses, which includeisaland benefits, bonuses, commissions,
and recruiting and training. The increase in em@deyelated expenses was largely a result of apaserin headcount of over 2,000 employees
in the first quarter of 2012 compared with thetfgearter of 2011 , driven by strategic hiring, iness growth and business acquisitions. A
portion of our core operating expenses, primahiy ¢ost of
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personnel to deliver technical support on our potgland professional services, marketing, and relsead development, are denominated in
foreign currencies, and are thus exposed to foreighange rate fluctuations. Core operating exgeberefited by $4.6 in the first quarter of
2012 , as compared with the first quarter of 20dae to the effect of fluctuations in the excharages between the U.S. Dollar and other
currencies.

Cost of License Revenues

Core operating expenses in cost of license revengesased by $3.1 or 17% in the first quarter@f2compared with the first quarter of
2011 . The increase was primarily due to an ina@ed$1.6 in the first quarter of 2012 for IT demginent costs.

Cost of Services Revenues

Core operating expenses in cost of services rewanagesased by $20.1 or 23% in the first quarte2@if2 compared with the first quarter
of 2011 . The increase was primarily due to groitemployee-related expenses of $13.2 in thedwsirter of 2012 , which was largely driven
by incremental growth in headcount. Additionallyy ¢hird-party professional services costs incrddse$4.3 to provide technical support and
professional services primarily in connection witbreased services revenues.

Research and Development Expenses

Core operating expenses for R&D increased by $@8819% in the first quarter of 2012 compared wité first quarter of 2011 . The
increase was primarily due to growth in employdatesl expenses of $24.7 in the first quarter of20&hich was primarily driven by
incremental growth in headcount from strategicrigirand business acquisitions.

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Core operating expenses for sales and marketimganed by $56.0 or 20% in the first quarter of 26dpared with the first quarter of
2011 . The increase was primarily due to growtemployee-related expenses of $45.4 in the firsttquaf 2012 , driven by incremental
growth in headcount. Additionally, the costs of ke&ding programs increased by $8.4.

General and Administrative Expenses

Core operating expenses for general and administrisicreased by $12.3 or 21% in the first quanfe2012 compared with the first
quarter of 2011 . The increase was primarily duandncrease of $3.8 in the first quarter of 20dlated to employeeelated expenses primar
due to incremental growth in headcount. Additionadixpenses increased by $3.1 related to a glavdérence held in the first quarter of 2012.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

For the Three Months Ended

March 31,
2012 2011
Stock-based compensation, excluding amounts cixgital $ 8Lt $ 80.¢
Stock-based compensation capitalized — 4.¢
Stock-based compensation, including amounts céagsthl $ 8Lt $ 85.5

Stock-based compensation expense decreased bin$Berfirst quarter of 2012 compared to the fiysarter of 2011 primarily due to a
decrease of $26.1 mainly related to fully vestexhtg. Offsetting this decrease was an increasé tb¥rom new awards issued to our existing
employees primarily in the second quarter of 2@Elyell as an increase of $9.5 for awards madewoamployees over the last year. As a
result of our annual equity refresh program, weeexjpur total stock-based compensation to increaeger $100 per quarter for the remainder
of 2012.

Stock-based compensation is recorded to each apgetpense category based upon the function ofitii@loyee to whom the stock-
based compensation relates and fluctuates basedthpealue and number of awards granted. Compgengattilosophy varies by function,
resulting in different weightings of cash incentiwesrsus equity incentives. As a result, functiwith larger cash-based components, such as
sales commissions, will have comparatively lowecktbased compensation expense than other functions

As of March 31, 2012 , the total unamortized faitue of our outstanding equity-based awards heldunyemployees was approximately
$653.2 and is expected to be recognized over ahtezigaverage period of approximately 1.6 years.

Capitalized Software Development Costs, Net

Development costs of software to be sold, leasedtherwise marketed are subject to capitalizabieginning when the product's
technological feasibility has been establishedemding when the product is available for generalase. Judgment
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is required in determining when technological fbaity is established and as our business, prodamtsgo-tomarket strategy have evolved,
have continued to evaluate when technological fiéagiis established. Following the release of 18 5 and the comprehensive suite of
cloud infrastructure technologies in the third geaof 2011, we determined that VMware's go-to-readtrategy had changed from single
solutions to product suite solutions. As a restithis change in strategy, and the related inci@sportance of interoperability between our
products, the length of time between achievingrietdgical feasibility and general release to cugimsignificantly decreased. We expect our
products to be available for general release sétentachnological feasibility has been establist@iden that we expect the majority of our
product offerings to be suites or to have key comgpds that interoperate with our other productrafigs, the costs incurred subsequent to
achievement of technological feasibility are expddb be immaterial in future periods. In the fostrter of 2012 , all software development
costs were expensed as incurred and were include&D expenses on the accompanying consolidatéensent of income. In the first quarter
of 2011 , we capitalized $32.3 (including $4.9 wick-based compensation) of costs for the developwiesoftware products.

Our expensed and capitalized R&D costs may nobb@parable to our peer companies due to differeimcgglgment as to when
technological feasibility has been reached or dhffiees in judgment regarding when the productaslavle for general release. Additionally,
future changes in our judgment as to when techmcdbéeasibility is established, or additional cgas in our business, including our go-to-
market strategy, could materially impact the amafrdosts capitalized. For example, if the lendgthirne between technological feasibility a
general availability was to increase again in titere, the amount of capitalized costs would likelgrease.

In the first quarter of 2012 , amortization expefisen capitalized software development costs desge&$6.6 to $21.8 from $28.5 in the
first quarter of 2011 . These amounts are includeambst of license revenues on our accompanyingaatated statements of income. The
decrease in amortization of software developmestscof $6.6 in the first quarter of 2012 as comgavéh the first quarter of 2011 was
primarily due to a decrease of $15.8 related taathertization of prior versions of vSphere, whichswpartially offset by an increase of $11.3
related to the general release of VMware vSphdrénsthe second half of 2011. In future periods,expect our amortization expense from
capitalized software development costs to declinsadtware development costs are expected to bedet as R&D expense as incurred given
our current go-to-market strategy.

Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses consist of employer plagpobn employee stock transactions and intangitdertization, which are recorded to
each individual line of operating expense on owoagpanying consolidated statements of income. Aatditly, other operating expenses
include acquisition-related items, which are reedrtb general and administrative expense on ooniecstatement.

Other operating expenses increased by $5.9 to $22h@ first quarter of 2012 from $17.0 in thesfiguarter of 2011 . The increase in the
first quarter of 2012vas primarily due to an increase in intangible dmation of $4.9, primarily resulting from new adgsjtions, of which $4.:
was recorded to costs of license revenues on gonie statement.

Investment Income

Investment income increased by $2.3 to $5.7 iffiteequarter of 2012 from $3.4 in the first quaredé 2011 . Investment income primarily
consists of interest earned on cash, cash equigsa@d short-term investment balances partiallyetfby the amortization of premiums paid on
fixed income securities. Investment income incrdasehe first quarter of 2012 as compared withftret quarter of 2011 due to an increase in
the average rate of interest earned and increastderjuivalent and short-term investment balancatahle for investment.

Income Tax Provision

Our effective income tax rate was 14.5% for thstfijuarter of 2012 as compared with 19.4% for ifs¢ duarter of 2011 . The lower
effective rate for the first quarter of 2012 , cargxd with the first quarter of 2011 , was primaatyributable to a jurisdictional shift of income
from the United States to lower-tax non-U.S. juig§dns and a decrease in unrecognized tax berigdits uncertain tax positions as a
percentage of income before tax primarily offsethiy expiration of the federal research tax credit.

Our rate of taxation in foreign jurisdictions isder than our U.S. tax rate. Our international ineamprimarily earned by our subsidiaries
in Ireland, where the statutory tax rate is 12.8%e.do not believe that any recent or currentlyeexpd developments in non-U.S. tax
jurisdictions are reasonably likely to have a matempact on our effective tax rate. AsMarch 31, 2012 our total cash, cash equivalents,
short-term investments were $5,222.3 , of whicl462,0 were held outside the U.S. If these overkeats are needed for our operations in the
U.S., we would be required to accrue and pay W@w&g on related undistributed earnings to repattiese funds. However, all income earned
abroad, except for previously taxed income for WaS.purposes, is considered indefinitely reinvedteVMware's foreign operations and no
provision for U.S. taxes has been provided witlpeesthereto. At this time, it is not practicalesstimate the amount of tax that may be
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payable were we to repatriate these funds andwuvernt plans do not demonstrate a need to repathaim to fund our U.S. operations. We
meet our U.S. liquidity needs through ongoing déshis generated from our U.S. operations, exteboatowings, or both. We utilize a variety
of tax planning and financing strategies in anrffo ensure that our worldwide cash is availabléhe locations in which it is needed.

Although we file a federal consolidated tax retuith EMC, we calculate our income tax provisionaatand-alone basis. Our effective
tax rate in the periods presented is the resutiemix of income earned in various tax jurisdindhat apply a broad range of income tax r
The rate at which the provision for income taxesaleulated differs from the U.S. federal statutmgome tax rate primarily due to different
tax rates in foreign jurisdictions where incomeadned and considered to be indefinitely reinvested

We have been included in the EMC consolidated gfoup).S. federal income tax purposes, and exmecbhtinue to be included in such
consolidated group for periods in which EMC owngeast 80% of the total voting power and value wf autstanding stock as calculated for
U.S. federal income tax purposes. The percentagetiify power and value calculated for U.S. fedarabme tax purposes may differ from
percentage of outstanding shares beneficially oviayeEMC due to the greater voting power of our €IBscommon stock as compared to our
Class A common stock and other factors. Each mewfeiconsolidated group during any part of a cbdated return year is jointly and
severally liable for tax on the consolidated retofisuch year and for any subsequently determiedididncy thereon. Should EMC's owners
fall below 80% of the total voting power or valuleonr outstanding stock in any period, then we wow longer be included in the EMC
consolidated group for U.S. federal income tax pags, and thus no longer be liable in the eventamaincome tax liability was incurred, but
not discharged, by any other member of the EMC alisteted group. Additionally, our U.S. federal imse tax would be reported separately
from that of the EMC consolidated group.

Our effective tax rate for the remainder of 201%/rba affected by such factors as changes in tag, leegulations or rates, changing
interpretation of existing laws or regulations, iimpact of accounting for stock-based compensatf@jmpact of accounting for business
combinations, changes in our international orgaipashifts in the amount of income before taxnearin the U.S. as compared with other
regions in the world, and changes in overall leeglimcome before tax.

Our Relationship with EMC

As of March 31, 2012 , EMC owned 38,125,000 shafé3lass A common stock and all 300,000,000 shair€dass B common stock,
representing 79.2% of our total outstanding shafe®mmon stock and 97.286 the combined voting power of our outstanding oo stock

In the second quarter of 2011, we acquired ceetssets relating to EMC’s Mozy cloud-based datag®wand data center services,
including certain data center assets and a liceneertain intellectual property. EMC retained ovatep of the Mozy business and its
remaining assets. EMC continues to be responsitiiéoizy customers for Mozy products and services@mdinues to recognize revenue from
such products and services. We entered into aratipeal support agreement with EMC pursuant to tvhie took over responsibility to
operate the Mozy service on behalf of EMC. Purst@aitite support agreement, costs incurred by gspport EMC’s Mozy services, plus a
mark-up intended to approximate third-party costs,reimbursed to us by EMC. On the consolidategstents of income, such amounts were
approximately $14.6 in the three months ended MadgH2012 , including a markup of $1.6 , and werded as a reduction to the costs we
incurred.

In the second quarter of 2010, we acquired cegaitware product technology and expertise from E&Ghix IT management business
for cash consideration of $175.@MC retained the lonix brand and will continueoféer customers the products acquired by us, funisto the
ongoing reseller agreement between EMC and usnBtihie three months ended March 31, 2011 , a $hingent payment was made to
EMC. This payment was recorded as an equity traioseand was an offset to the initial capital cdnition from EMC. As of December 31,
2011, all contingent payments under the agreetrahbeen made.

Pursuant to an ongoing reseller arrangement witlCEEMC bundles our products and services with EM@ware and sells them to
end-users. In the three months ended March 31, 28d2011 , we recognized revenues of $35.0 and)$26spectively, from products and
services sold pursuant to our reseller arrangemgntEMC. As of March 31, 2012 , $94.2 of reveniresn products and services sold under
the reseller arrangement were included in uneameshues.

In the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2@&lrecognized professional services revenues&7$dnd $14.4 , respectively, for
services provided to EMC’s customers pursuant tacontractual agreements with EMC. As of March3&112 , $5.9 of revenues from
professional services to EMC customers were indudeinearned revenues.

In the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 2@&lrecognized revenues of $1.7 and $0.5 , reségtirom server and desktop
products and services purchased by EMC for intarsalpursuant to our contractual agreements witC EA$ of March 31, 2012 , $22.9 of
revenues from server and desktop products andcgsrpurchased by EMC for internal use were includechearned revenues.
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We purchased storage systems and software, assvetinsulting services, from EMC for $17.9 and $&#e three months ended
March 31, 2012 and 2011 , respectively.

In certain geographic regions where we do not laavestablished legal entity, we contract with EMBssdiaries for support services and
EMC employees who are managed by our personnelcdsts incurred by EMC on our behalf related taéhemployees are passed on to us
and we are charged a marg-intended to approximate costs that would haes lebarged had we contracted for such servicesanitimrelate
third party. These costs are included as expensesriconsolidated statements of income and priynisaélude salaries, benefits, travel and
rent. Additionally, EMC incurs certain administragicosts on our behalf in the U.S. that are alsorded as expenses. The total cost of the
services provided to us by EMC as described abase $27.8 and $24.7 in the three months endedchvii, 2012 and 2011 , respectively.

In the three months ended March 31, 2012 , no paisnweere made by us or EMC under the tax sharingemgent. In the three months
ended March 31, 2011 , EMC paid us $35.4 undetathsharing agreement. No payments were made tiy E8IC under the tax sharing
agreement in the three months ended March 31, 2Bayments between us and EMC under the tax shagirgement primarily relate to our
portion of federal income taxes on EMC's consoéidaax return. Payments from us to EMC primarikatesto periods for which we had stand-
alone federal taxable income, while payments fradCBo us relate to periods for which we had a stalohe federal taxable loss. The
amounts that we either pay to or receive from EMColur portion of federal income taxes on EMC’sslidated tax return differ from the
amounts we would owe on a stand-alone basis andiffieeence is presented as a component of stodkislequity. For all periods presented,
the difference was not material .

In the three months ended March 31, 2012 and 28113,and $1.0 , respectively, of interest expavee recorded related to the note
payable to EMC and included in interest expensh ®wNIC on our consolidated statements of income.iQtarest expense as a separate, stand
alone company may be higher or lower than the ansaeflected in the consolidated financial statetsien

As of March 31, 2012 , we had $18.3 net due from@EMhich consisted of $58.0 due from EMC, partialfiset by $39.7 due to EMC.
These amounts resulted from the related party actimns described above. In addition to the $18t3dne from EMC as of March 31, 2012,
we had an immaterial amount of net income taxeslipiaydue to EMC, which is included in accrued esgsrand other on our consolidated
balance sheets. Balances due to or from EMC whietluarelated to tax obligations are generally sétith cash within 60 days of each quarter-
end. The timing of the tax payments due to and fEWMC is governed by the tax sharing agreement BMC.

By nature of EMC’s majority ownership of us, the@mts we recorded for our intercompany transactigitts EMC may not be
considered arns' length with an unrelated third party. Therefdre financial statements included herein may noesearily reflect our financi
condition, results of operations and cash flows\Wwadengaged in such transactions with an unretaiedi party during all periods presented.
Accordingly, our historical results should not leéied upon as an indicator of our future perforneaas a stand-alone company.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At March 31, 2012 and 2011, we held cash, cashvatgiits, and short-term investments as follows:

March 31,
2012 2011
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,626.. $ 1,708.¢
Short-term investments 2,596.: 1,952.¢
Total cash, cash equivalents and short-term invesstsn $ 5222 $ 3,661.¢

Our operating activities in the first quarter ofl20and 2011 , respectively, generated sufficiesh ¢a meet our operating needs. Our cash
flows for the first quarter of 2012 and 2011 wesd@llows:

For the Three Months Ended

March 31,
2012 2011
Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities $ 576.¢ $ 477.¢
Investing activities (57.9) (368.5)
Financing activities 151.1 (29.5
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents $ 670.¢ $ 79.€
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In evaluating our liquidity internally, we focus tomg-term, sustainable growth in free cash flowd en non-GAAP cash flows from
operating activities (“non-GAAP operating cash f&)v We define norGAAP operating cash flows as net cash providedg®rating activitie:
less capitalized software development costs pleeitess tax benefits from stock-based compensaierdefine free cash flows, also a non-
GAAP financial measure, as non-GAAP operating dhshs less capital expenditures. See “Non-GAAP Raial Measures” for additional
information.

Our non-GAAP operating cash flows and free cashgléor the three months and trailing twelve morghded March 31, 2012 and 2011
were as follows:

For the Trailing Twelve Months

For the Three Months Ended Ended
March 31, March 31,
2012 2011 2012 2011
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 576.¢ $ 477.¢ 3 2,124  $ 1,297 .«
Capitalized software development costs — (27.9) (46.6) (69.7)
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation 53.7 50.C 228.2 249t
Non-GAAP operating cash flows 630.: 500.t 2,305.¢ 1,477..
Capital expenditures (33.9) (27.0 (236.7%) (127.¢)
Free cash flows $ 596.6 $ 4735 % 2,069.. $ 1,349.¢

Free cash flows increased by $719.6 or 53% to $220r the trailing twelve months ended March 3212 from $1,349.6 for the trailing
twelve months ended March 31, 2011 . The increasepsimarily due to increased sales and relatedl @altections.

As of March 31, 2012 we held a diversified portfolio of money markenéls and fixed income securities. Our fixed incameurities wer
denominated in U.S. Dollars and consisted of hidjilglyid debt instruments of the U.S. government émadgencies, U.S. municipal obligatic
and U.S. and foreign corporate debt securitiesliiethe amount of our domestic and internatioimgkestments with any single issuer and
single financial institution, and also monitor tigersity of the portfolio, thereby diversifyingetcredit risk. Within our portfolio, we held
$37.6 of foreign government and agencies securip28.2 of which was deemed sovereign debt, at Maic 2012 . These sovereign debt
securities had an average credit rating of AAA arde predominantly from Canada and France. Nonleeo$ecurities deemed sovereign debt
were from Greece, Ireland, Italy, Portugal or Spain

As of March 31, 2012 , our total cash, cash egeal and short-term investments were $5,222.2vhath $2,464.0 was held outside the
U.S. If these overseas funds are needed for ouatipes in the U.S., we would be required to acemeé pay U.S. taxes on related
undistributed earnings to repatriate these fundsvéver, our intent is to indefinitely reinvest cuan-U.S. earnings in our foreign operations
and our current plans do not demonstrate a neegpairiate them to fund our U.S. operations.

We expect to continue to generate positive cashsflivom operations in 2012 and to use cash genktbgt®perations as our primary
source of liquidity. We believe that existing castd cash equivalents, together with any cash getefilmm operations will be sufficient to
meet normal operating requirements including stiiatacquisitions and capital expenditures for astehe next twelve months.

Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities is drivenolly net income, adjusted for non-cash items andgdmin assets and liabilities. Non-
cash adjustments include depreciation, amortizatfdntangible assets, amortization of premiumsipgion purchase of investments in our
fixed income portfolio, stock-based compensatiopegise, excess tax benefits from stock-based compemsind other adjustments. Net
changes in assets and liabilities were impacteididrgases in unearned revenues in the periodsmesseand we expect this trend to continue
in the future.

Cash provided by operating activities increase®%8.7 to $576.6 in the first quarter of 2012 froAY%.9 in the first quarter of 2011 . The
increase in cash collections was driven by growthur sales to customers and was partially offgéhtreases in our core operating expenses,
primarily driven by headcount growth.

Under the tax sharing agreement, EMC is obligatguhly us an amount equal to the tax benefit gesebtayt us that EMC will recognize «
its consolidated tax return. The cash we receine2Dil1 from EMC included amounts for both the 2@md 2010 tax years. We expect the
amount of cash received under the tax sharing agreein 2012 to decline as compared to 2011 apayments received will primarily relate
only to the 2012 tax year. There were no cash patsr@ receipts under the tax sharing agreemeteifiirst quarter of 2012. In the first
quarter of 2011, we received $35.4.
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Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities is generallyilattable to the purchase of fixed income securitiesiness acquisitions, and capital
expenditures. Cash provided by investing activitsgsrimarily attributable to the sales or matestof fixed income securities.

Total fixed income securities of $701.5 and $598e8e purchased in the first quarter of 2012 an®0tel , respectively. All purchases of
fixed income securities were classified as casfaws from investing activities. We classified tlkdavestments as short-term investments on
our consolidated balance sheets based upon theerwdtthe security and their availability for usecurrent operations or for other purposes,
such as business acquisitions and strategic inezdémThese cash outflows were partially offsetésh inflows of $679.3 and $368.7 in the
first quarter of 2012 and 2011 , respectively, assalt of the sales and maturities of fixed inca®eurities. Activity in purchases, sales, and
maturities increased primarily as a result of groimtthe overall size of the fixed income portfolio

We did not capitalize any development costs fotveafe to be sold, leased, or otherwise marketederirst quarter of 2012 as compared
to $27.4 of costs capitalized in the first quagB2011 . Following the release of vSphere 5 ardctimprehensive suite of cloud infrastructure
technologies in the third quarter of 2011, we duateed that VMware's go-torarket strategy had changed from single solutiongaduct suitt
solutions. As a result of this change in stratemg the related increased importance of interoji@yalbbetween our products, the length of time
between achieving technological feasibility andegahrelease to customers significantly decreasedhe vast majority of our products are
now available for general release soon after teloigical feasibility has been established, we exgleetcosts incurred subsequent to the
achievement of technological feasibility to congrto be immaterial in future periods and all sofevdevelopment costs will be expensed as
incurred.

In the first quarter of 2011we entered into an agreement to purchase thg titi, and interest in a ground lease coverlmgproperty an
improvements located adjacent to our existing Rétio, California campus and made a good faith démdsh45.0 to perform due diligence on
the site. We completed this transaction in the seécarter of 2011 for a total cost of $225.0. @umovation of the new property will be a
multi-year project with capital investment extending ifutture periods. Our total capital expendituresZ0t2 are expected to be approxime
$325 to $350, which includes the continued renowvatif our expanded campus.

Financing Activities

Proceeds from the issuance of our Class A comnumk $tom the exercise of stock options and the lpage of shares under the VMware
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“‘ESPP”) were $111d0$80.2 in the first quarter of 2012 and 2011spestively.

In the first quarter of 2011 , we paid $147.7 Judéng commissions, to repurchase and retire 1llifomishares of our Class A common
stock at a weighted-average price of $85.88 paresis part of our stock repurchase programs. Twere no repurchases of common stock
under our stock repurchase programs during thedfirarter of 2012 . From time-to-time, stock refages may be made pursuant to the stock
repurchase authorizations in open market trangacto privately negotiated transactions as perthligesecurities laws and other legal
requirements. We are not obligated to purchaseshages under our stock repurchase programs. Tlregtiofi any repurchases and the actual
number of shares repurchased will depend on atyasfdactors, including our stock price, corporated regulatory requirements and other
market and economic conditions. Purchases cansgemtinued at any time that we feel that additignathases are not warranted. As of
March 31, 2012 , the authorized amount remainimgdpurchase was $685.3 . Of that amount, $60Q0tisorized for repurchases through the
end of 2013 and the remaining $85.3 is authoripeddpurchases through the end of 2012.

There were additional cash outflows of $13.6 antl $ the first quarter of 2012 and 2011 , respebt, to cover tax withholding
obligations in conjunction with the net share setiént upon the vesting of restricted stock unitbrastricted stock. Additionally, the excess
tax benefit from stock-based compensation was $&3d7$50.0 in the first quarter of 2012 and 20felspectively, and is shown as a reduction
to cash flows from operating activities and an é&ase to cash flows from financing activities. Tlearyover-year changes in the repurchase of
shares and the excess tax benefit from stock-basagensation in the first quarter of 2012 and 2@&1ie primarily due to the increases in the
market value of our stock and the number of awex@scised, sold or vested.

Future cash proceeds from issuances of common atatkhe excess tax benefit from stock-based cosapen and future cash outflows
to repurchase our shares to cover tax withholdlriggations will depend upon, and could fluctuagngiicantly from period-toperiod based ol
the market value of our stock, the number of awardscised, sold or vested, the tax benefit redl@ed the tax-affected compensation
recognized.
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Note Payable to EM(

As of March 31, 2012 , $450.0 remained outstandim@ note payable to EMC, with interest payablatgulg in arrears. In June 2011, we
and EMC amended and restated the note to extenddheity date of the note to April 16, 2015 andrtodify the principal amount of the note
to reflect the outstanding balance of $450.0 . ifiterest rate continues to reset quarterly andsbaainterest rate of the 90-day LIBOR plus 55
basis points.

To date, inflation has not had a material impacbonfinancial results.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Regulation S-K Item 10(e), “Use of Non-GAAP Finaaldileasures in Commission Filings,” defines andsprides the conditions for use
of non-GAAP financial information. Our measurescofe operating expenses, non-GAAP operating cas¥sfand free cash flows each meet
the definition of a non-GAAP financial measure.

Core Operating Expenses

Management uses the non-GAAP measure of core apgratpenses to understand and compare operasoig@cross accounting
periods, for internal budgeting and forecastingopses, for short- and long-term operating plansatoulate bonus payments and to evaluate
our financial performance, the performance of adiidual functional groups and the ability of op&ons to generate cash. Management
believes that by excluding certain expenses thleahat reflective of our ongoing operating resudtse operating expenses reflect our business
in a manner that allows for meaningful period-toipe comparisons and analysis of trends in ourrmss.

We define core operating expenses as our totahtipgrexpenses excluding the following componentsch we believe are not reflective
of our ongoing operational expenses. In each daséhe reasons set forth below, management beithat excluding the component provides
useful information to investors and others in ustierding and evaluating our operating results ahdd prospects in the same manner as
management, in comparing financial results acrossunting periods and to those of peer companids@hbetter understand the long-term
performance of our core business.

*  Stock-based compensation. Stock-based compensation expense is generally éiktite time the stock-based instrument is graaiet!
amortized over a period of several years. Althostgitk-based compensation is an important aspeébeafompensation of our
employees and executives, determining the fairevafulsome of the stock-based instruments we uiitizelves a high degree of
judgment and estimation and the expense recordgdeax little resemblance to the actual value zedliupon the vesting or futu
exercise of the related stock-based awards. Funthrer, unlike cash compensation, the value of stptions, which is an element of
our ongoing stock-based compensation expensetdsgi@ed using a complex formula that incorpordaesors, such as market
volatility, that are beyond our control. Additiohalin order to establish the fair value of perfamee-based stock awards, which are
also an element of our ongoing stock-based comftiensaxpense, we are required to apply judgmemstinate the probability of the
extent to which performance objectives will be avieid.

*  Amortization and capitalization of software development costs. Capitalized software development costs encompasgealization of
development costs and the subsequent amortizatithe @apitalized costs over the useful life of gmeduct. Amortization and
capitalization of software development costs cay g@nificantly depending upon the timing of pratiireaching technological
feasibility and being made generally availablefuliure periods, we expect our amortization expdrma capitalized software
development costs to decline as software developousts are expected to be recorded as R&D exmenseurred given our current
go-to-market strategy, which has changed from singleymrbsiolutions to product suite solutions. As a ltesfuthis change in strateg
and the related increased importance of interojilgyabetween our products, the length of time betw achieving technological
feasibility and general release to customers lgasfgiantly decreased. Given that we expect theonitgjof our product offerings to k
suites or to have key components that interopevidteour other product offerings, the costs incdrseibsequent to achievement of
technological feasibility are expected to be immiaten future periods. For additional informaticsee”Results of Operations -
Capitalized Software Development Costs, Net" above.

e Other expenses. Other expenses excluded are employer payroll tamesmployee stock transactions, amortization @frigible assets
and acquisition-related items. The amount of emgiigayroll taxes on stock-based compensation isru#gnt on our stock price and
other factors that are beyond our control and daooelate to the operation of the business. Riggrthe amortization of intangible
assets, a portion of the purchase price of ouriaitius is generally allocated to intangible assstich as intellectual property, and is
subject to amortization. Additionally, the amouhfta acquisition’s purchase price allocated torigthle assets and the term of its
related amortization can vary significantly and anéque to each acquisition. Acquisition-relatesiris include direct costs of
acquisitions, such as transaction fees, which s@mificantly and are unique to each acquisitiore 8150 do not acquire businesses on
a predictable cycle.
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Non-GAAP operating cash flows and free cash flows

We define non-GAAP operating cash flows as net pastided by operating activities less capitaliseftware development costs plus the
excess tax benefits from stock-based compensaterdefine free cash flows as non-GAAP operatingp dlsvs less capital expenditures. As
discussed above, when viewing operating resultealuating our past performance and for plannimgases, management excludes certain
items, including the effect of capitalizing and atimng software development costs and items rdltdestock-based compensation, which are
also excluded in the non-GAAP operating cash flavesisure. Management also uses non-GAAP operatihigficavs and free cash flows as
measures of financial progress in our businestiegsbalance operating results, cash managemertagitdl efficiency. In addition to quarte
free cash flows, management also focuses on wdilielve month free cash flows, as free cash floars be volatile in the short-term.

We believe that our measures of non-GAAP operatas flows and free cash flows provide useful imfation to investors and others, as
they allow for meaningful period-to-period comparis of our operating cash flows for analysis afidsin our business. Additionally, we
believe that information regarding non-GAAP opergtcash flows and free cash flows provides invesioid others with an important
perspective on cash that we may choose to makkabhefor strategic acquisitions and investmethts,repurchase of shares, operations and
other capital expenditures.

We deduct capitalization of software developmestsfrom both measures because software developuststare considered to be a
necessary component of our operations and the angapitalized under GAAP can vary significantlyrfigeriod-to-period depending upon
the timing of products reaching technological fbdisy and being made generally available. Consetjyesoftware development costs paid
during a period that are capitalized under GAAP @nahot impact GAAP operating cash flows for thatipd do result in a decrease to our
measures of non-GAAP operating cash flows and naAd&free cash flows, thereby providing managemaeitt wseful measures of cash
flows generated from operations during the peritvd.add back the excess income tax benefits froomkdtased compensation to our measures
of non-GAAP operating cash flows and free cash $las management internally views cash flows arigmg income taxes as similar to
operating cash flows rather than as financing €lasVs as required under GAAP. Furthermore, we eXeloapital expenditures on property
equipment from free cash flows because these exXpessiare also considered to be a necessary canpohour operations.

Limitations on the use of No-GAAP financial measures

A limitation of our non-GAAP financial measuresatfre operating expenses, hon-GAAP operating castsfand free cash flows is that
they do not have uniform definitions. Our definitsowill likely differ from the definitions used yther companies, including peer companies,
and therefore comparability may be limited. Thus, mon-GAAP measures of core operating expenses@#fAP operating cash flows and
free cash flows should be considered in additiomdd as a substitute for, or in isolation from,aseres prepared in accordance with GAAP.
Additionally, in the case of stock-based compensatf we did not pay out a portion of compensafiothe form of stock-based compensation
and related employer payroll taxes, the cash sabgpgnse included in costs of revenues and opgraxipenses would be higher which would
affect our cash position. Further, the non-GAAP suea of core operating expenses has certain lioisibecause it does not reflect all items
of income and expense that affect our operatiodsaam reflected in the GAAP measure of total ojpegagxpenses.

We compensate for these limitations by reconcitioge operating expenses to the most comparable GiaRcial measure. Management
encourages investors and others to review our éishinformation in its entirety, not to rely onyasingle financial measure and to view our
non-GAAP financial measures in conjunction with thest comparable GAAP financial measures.

See “Results of Operations—Operating Expensesa ferconciliation of the noAAP financial measure of core operating expenseke
most comparable GAAP measure, “total operating eseg,” for the quarters ended March 31, 2012 add 20

See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” for a rectiation of non-GAAP operating cash flows and fresit flows to the most comparable
GAAP measure, “net cash provided by operating #igts;” for the quarters ended March 31, 2012 a@ti12

Critical Accounting Policies

Our consolidated financial statements are basdti@gelection and application of accounting pritlesmenerally accepted in the United
States of America that require us to make estimetdsassumptions about future events that affecathounts reported in our financial
statements and the accompanying notes. Futureseaedttheir effects cannot be determined with ceytaTherefore, the determination of
estimates requires the exercise of judgment. Actsllts could differ from those estimates, and sush differences may be material to our
financial statements. We believe that the critamaounting policies set forth within Item 7 of @011 Annual Report on Form 10-K may
involve a higher degree of judgment and compleixitheir application than our other significant aenting policies and represent the critical
accounting policies used in the preparation offmancial statements. If different assumptionsamditions were to prevail, the results coulc
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materially different from our reported results.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forwimaking statements, including, without limitaticstatements regarding: the potential
role of our products in cloud computing and othefts in computing infrastructures; expectationsasfd our plans for, achieving future
business growth; macroeconomic conditions; futuoglpct offerings; plans for future acquisitionsy @iew of the competitive landscape and
our plans for maintaining our leadership positiorotigh continuing investments; our expectation whatvill be able to fund strategic
investments through operating cash flows geneiayeshles of our products and services; our plan&ifading expansion of our industry
segment share and developing long term relatiogshith our customers; our plans for geographic esjmn; our relationship with EMC; our
plans for meeting product development objectivasiatroducing new products; our revenue outlook amixt customer demand for our
products; trends in enterprise license agreem@&itA") size and renewals and information technoldd¥y”) spending in general;
macroeconomic trends; the delivery of professiceaVices to our customers; the sufficiency of ayuidity and capital reserves to fund our
operations and business strategy; continuatiomupgtock repurchase program; factors affectingtaxiposition; the effects on us of potential
developments in non-U.S. tax jurisdictions; expe@ependitures to improve the real estate pargatadt to our headquarters that we recently
purchased; our anticipated capital spending fo2200ir expectation that stock-based compensatitiineiease in future periods; our plans
regarding cash, cash equivalents and short-terestments held in non-U.S. accounts; our expectatioth respect to costs associated with
foreign currency fluctuation and internal developitp@nd our belief that the resolution of penditairos, legal proceedings and investigations
will not have a material adverse effect on us.

These forward-looking statements involve risks andertainties and the cautionary statements st &wove and those contained in the
section of this report and our Annual Report onnfr@0-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 28ttitled “Risk Factors” identify
important factors that could cause actual resaldiffer materially from those predicted in any Bdorward-looking statements. We assume no
obligation to, and do not currently intend to, uedidnese forward-looking statements.

Available Information

Our website is located at www.vmware.com, and nuestor relations website is located at http:#inware.com. Our goal is to maintain
the Investor Relations website as a portal throulgith investors can easily find or navigate to iperit information about us, all of which is
made available free of charge, including:

e our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly repant Form 10-Q, current reports on Forri{,8and any amendments to those report
soon as reasonably practicable after we electriyifii@ that material with or furnish it to the Serities and Exchange Commission
(HSECH);

« announcements of investor conferences, speeattesvents at which our executives talk about ootlyct, service and competitive
strategies. Archives of these events are alsoablaifor a limited time;

» additional information on financial metrics, inding reconciliations of noGAAP financial measures discussed in our presemtsitic
the nearest comparable GAAP measure;

» press releases on quarterly earnings, productemits announcements, legal developments and atieral news

e corporate governance information including oentificate of incorporation, bylaws, corporate gmance guidelines, board committee
charters, business conduct guidelines (which ciitesi our code of business conduct and ethicsptred governanceelated policies

« other news, blogs and announcements that we mayrpastime to time that investors might find udedu interesting; an

e opportunities to sign up for email alerts and R&&IE to have information pushed in real t
The information found on our website is not partasfd is not incorporated by reference into, tihiargy other report we file with, or
furnish to, the SEC.

Unless the context requires otherwise, we areniafeto VMware, Inc. when we use the terms “VMwatae “Company,” “we,
us.”

our” or
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

Foreign Exchange Risk

We operate in foreign countries, which expose usadoket risk associated with foreign currency exgjearate fluctuations between the
U.S. Dollar and various foreign currencies, the nsaggnificant of which is the Euro.

International revenues as a percentage of totelhngss were 54.0% and 52.6% in the first quart@0aR and 2011 , respectively. We
invoice and collect in the Euro, the British Poutiek Japanese Yen and the Australian Dollar i tiespective regions. Additionally, a portion
of our operating expenses, primarily the cost aépenel to deliver technical support on our produetd professional services, sales and sales
support and research and development, are denadiimaforeign currencies, primarily those curreadiewhich we also invoice and collect.
Revenues resulting from selling in local curren@ad costs incurred in local currencies are exptséareign exchange rate fluctuations wr
can affect our operating income. As exchange radegs operating margins may differ materially frexpectations.

Core operating expenses benefited by $4.6 milliothé first quarter of 2012 due to fluctuationstia exchange rates between the
U.S. Dollar and foreign currencies as compared thighsame period in the prior year. We calculagefoineign currency impact on our
operating expenses as the difference between apgee¢penses translated at current exchange natetha same expenses translated at prior-
period exchange rates.

To manage the risk associated with fluctuationf®imign currency exchange rates, we utilize derreafinancial instruments, principally
foreign currency forward contracts, as describddvibe

Cash Flow Hedging Activities. To mitigate our exposure to foreign currency flations resulting from operating expenses denomihiate
certain foreign currencies, we entered into foraigrrency forward contracts starting in the fougttarter of 2011. We expect to enter into cash
flow hedges semi-annually with maturities of sixmttes or less. As of March 31, 2012 , we had foreigmency forward contracts to purchase
approximately $25.9 million in foreign currency.dfair value of these forward contracts was imnialtess of March 31, 2012 .

Balance Sheet Hedging Activities. We enter into foreign currency forward contractfiéalge a portion of our net outstanding monetary
assets and liabilities against movements in ceftagign exchange rates. Our foreign currency foda@ntracts are generally traded on a
monthly basis with a typical contractual term oéanonth. As of March 31, 2012 , we had outstanétingard contracts with a total notional
value of $244.4 million . The fair value of thesevfard contracts was immaterial as of March 312201

Sensitivity Analysis. There carbe no assurance that our hedging activities wiloahtely protect us against the risks associatddfanieign
currency fluctuations. A hypothetical adverse fgneturrency exchange rate movement of 10% woulé hasulted in a potential loss in fair
value of our foreign currency forward contractsduseboth the cash flow hedging and balance shedgihg activities of $24.6 million as of
March 31, 2012 . This sensitivity analysis disreigaainy potentially offsetting gain that may be agged with the underlying foreign-currency
denominated assets and liabilities that we hedge.

This analysis also assumes a parallel adversedtaft foreign currency exchange rates againstit& Dollar; however, foreign currency
exchange rates do not always move in such a mamukeactual results may differ materially. We do eoter into speculative foreign exchange
contracts for trading purposes. See Note F to éhnsalidated financial statements for further infation.

Interest Rate Risk
Fixed Income Securities
Our fixed income investment portfolio is denomirthte U.S. Dollars and consists of various holdirtgpes, and maturities.

Our primary objective for holding fixed income sétias is to achieve an appropriate investmentrnretonsistent with preserving princiy
and managing risk. At any time, a sharp rise iariedt rates or credit spreads could have a maseharse impact on the fair value of our fixed
income investment portfolio. Hypothetical changesierest rates of 50 basis points and 100 baéigpwould have changed the fair value of
our fixed income investment portfolio as of March 2012 by $13.4 million and $26.9 milligmespectively. This sensitivity analysis assurr
parallel shift of all interest rates, however, iet& rates do not always move in such a manneaetu@l results may differ materially. We
monitor our interest rate and credit risk, includour credit exposures to specific rating categoaied to individual issuers. There were no
impairment charges on our cash equivalents and fixeome securities during the first quarter of20These instruments are not leveraged
and we do not enter into speculative securitiesrfaling purposes. See Notes D and E to the caladeli financial statements for further
information.
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Note Payable to EM(

As of March 31, 2012 , $450.0 million was outstagdon our consolidated balance sheet for the rejalge to EMC. The interest rate on
the note payable was 1.13% as of March 31, 201Da@%% as of March 31, 2011 . In the first quaoe2012 and 2011 , $1.3 million and $1.0
million , respectively, of interest expense warded in each period related to the note payable.

The note may be repaid, without penalty, at angtim June 2011, we and EMC amended and restatatbte to extend the maturity date
of the note to April 16, 2015 and to modify thengipal amount of the note to reflect the outstagdialance of $450.0 million . The amended
agreement continues to bear an interest rate @@hday LIBOR plus 55 basis points, with intenggyable quarterly in arrears. The interest
rate on the note resets quarterly and is determondtie two business days prior to the first dagasth fiscal quarter. If the interest rate on the
note payable were to change 100 basis points frenMiarch 31, 2012 rate, and assuming no additi@palyments on the principal were made,
our annual interest expense would change by $4IBmi

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedur

We carried out an evaluation required by the Exgleafct, under the supervision and with the paréitign of our principal executive
officer and principal financial officer, of the efftiveness of the design and operation of ourasck controls and procedures, as defined in
Rule 13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act, as of the drnileoperiod covered by this report. Based oneliduation, our principal executive officer
and principal financial officer concluded that alisclosure controls and procedures were effectiyerovide reasonable assurance that
information required to be disclosed by us in tgorts that we file or submit under the Exchangeid\cecorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in tlee&ities and Exchange Commission’s rules and f@mnasto provide reasonable assurance
that such information is accumulated and commuadtéd our management, including our principal ekigewfficer and principal financial
officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisiorgarding required disclosures.

Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Report

There were no changes in our internal control dwancial reporting during the fiscal quarter endéarch 31, 2012 that materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materiallfeaf, our internal control over financial reporting

Limitations on Controls

Our disclosure controls and procedures and intexwratrol over financial reporting are designed itovide reasonable assurance of
achieving their objectives as specified above. Mangent does not expect, however, that our disaosotrols and procedures or our internal
control over financial reporting will prevent ortdet all errors and fraud. Any control system, rettter how well designed and operated, is
based upon certain assumptions and can providereagpnable, not absolute, assurance that itstokgsavill be met. Further, no evaluation
controls can provide absolute assurance that nessénts due to error or fraud will not occur ortthihcontrol issues and instances of fraud, if
any, within the Company have been detected.
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PART II
OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

See Note L to the consolidated financial statemien®art |, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on FotQ for a description of legal
proceedings. See also the risk factor entitled fWéy become involved in litigation that may adveyssfect us” in Part 1l, Item 1A of this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for a discussionaieptial risks to our results of operations andiicial condition that may arise from legal
proceedings.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The risk factors that appear below could materiaffect our business, financial condition and ressaf operations. The risks and
uncertainties described below are not the onlysreskd uncertainties facing us. Our business issalbfect to general risks and uncertainties
affect many other companies.

Risks Related to Our Business

As the market for our computer virtualization prodts has matured, we have been increasingly develgpind marketing products an
services targeted toward the delivery, managemert automation of information technology‘IT”) infrastructure, platforms and services
through cloud-based solutions. If businesses do fint our cloud computing solutions compelling, ouevenue growth and operating
margins may decline.

Our products and services are based on computaehbation and related technologies that have arilmbeen used for virtualizing on-
premises data centers. As the market for data iceintealization has matured, we have increasirmtitgcted our product development and
marketing toward products and services that enaldéenesses to utilize virtualization as the infrastiure for cloud-based computing,
management and automation of the delivery of I'Dueses and end-user computing. We are also inggstithe development of products and
services for the emerging platform as a servicéPanS,” and software as a service, or “SaasS,” atarlOur success depends on organizations
and customers perceiving technological and operatibenefits and cost savings associated withnitreasing adoption of virtualization-based
infrastructure and management solutions for cloumputing, application development and end-user edimg. Although the use of
virtualization technologies on servers and in oeApises data centers has become broadly acceptedtéprise-level applications, the extent
to which adoption of virtualization for cloud comtmg and end-user computing remains uncertain. Adingly, as the market for our data
center virtualization products mature and the sollaur business increases, the rate of growthuimpooduct sales will likely be lower than
those we have experienced in earlier periods anexpect our annual revenue growth rate in 2012tdinke from the growth rate of 32%
experienced in 2011. In addition, to the extent tha newer cloud computing infrastructure managgraed automation, end-user computing,
PaaS and SaaS solutions are adopted more slowdgocomprehensively than we expect, our revenasthrrates may slow materially or our
revenue may decline substantially.

We expect to face increasing competition that corddult in a loss of customers, reduced revenueslecreased operating margins.

The virtualization, cloud computing, and end-usenputing markets are inter-related and rapidly engl. We experienced increased
competition during 2011 and expect it to signifitamtensify in the future. For example, Microscfintinues to make incremental
improvements to its virtual infrastructure and wat management products. Microsoft recently pravidetails regarding an upcoming major
release of Windows Server, including a more advawegsion of its Hyper-V virtualization productathwill continue its push into the
virtualization market, and upcoming release of 8&ysCenter, Microsoft's bundle of management pradizgeted at legacy and virtual
environments. Microsoft also has cloud-based comguifferings. We also face competition from otbempanies that have announced a
number of new product initiatives, alliances andsmidation efforts. For example, Citrix Systemstiaues to enhance its end-user and server
virtualization offerings and now has a client hypsor in the market. IBM, Google and Amazon havistiaxg cloud computing offerings and
announced new cloud computing initiatives. Red et also released commercial versions of Linuxtibge virtualization capabilities as part
of the Linux kernel (“KVM”)and has also announced plans for cloud computioduats. Other companies have also indicated th&gntion tc
expand offerings of virtual management and cloudmating solutions. Additionally, our vision for hgitd cloud computing in which
enterprises pool internal and external IT resouraesing on a common VMware vSphere infrastructampetes with low-cost public cloud
infrastructure offerings such as Amazon EC2. HEmises and service providers have also shown areisitin building their own clouds based
on open source projects such as OpenStack.
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We believe that the key competitive factors intheualization and cloud computing markets include:

» the level of reliability, security and new functadity of product offerings

the ability to provide comprehensive solutions)uding management capabiliti

« the ability to offer products that support mpii hardware platforms, operating systems, apjdicatand application development
frameworks;

« the ability to deliver an intuitive end-user exignce for accessing data, applications and ssfiom a wide variety of end-user
devices;

« the proven track record of formulating and delimgra roadmap of virtualization and cloud computagabilities
e pricing of products, individually and in bundl

» the ability to attract and preserve a large insthbase of custome

« the ability to attract and preserve a large nunatb@pplication developers to develop to a giverudlecosyster

« the ability to create and maintain partneringapunities with hardware vendors, infrastructuséivgare vendors and cloud service
providers;

« the ability to develop robust indirect sales chésiranc
« the ability to attract and retain cloud, virtuatisa and systems experts as key emplo?

Existing and future competitors may introduce pridin the same markets we serve or intend to sangecompeting products may have
better performance, lower prices, better functitpand broader acceptance than our products. @upetitors may also add features to their
virtualization, end-user and cloud computing pradwimilar to features that presently differentiate product offerings from theirs. Many of
our current or potential competitors also have &raperating histories, greater name recognitengdr customer bases and significantly
greater financial, technical, sales, marketing ether resources than we do. This competition coesdlt in increased pricing pressure and
and marketing expenses, thereby materially redusimgoperating margins, and could harm our abibtincrease, or cause us to lose, market
share. Increased competition also may preventous &ntering into or renewing service contractsesms similar to those that we currently
offer and may cause the length of our sales cyciedrease. Some of our competitors and potentiapetitors supply a wide variety of
products to, and have well-established relatiorsshijph, our current and prospective end usersekample, small to medium sized businesses
and companies in emerging markets that are evatuite adoption of virtualization-based technolegiad solutions may be inclined to
consider Microsoft solutions because of their éxgstise of Windows and Office products. Some o¢heompetitors have in the past and may
in the future take advantage of their existingtrefeships to engage in business practices that makproducts less attractive to our end users.
Other competitors have limited or denied supparttieir applications running in VMware virtualizati environments. These distribution,
licensing and support restrictions, as well as otlusiness practices that may be adopted in theelty our competitors, could materially
impact our prospects regardless of the merits opoeducts. In addition, competitors with existirgationships with our current or prospective
end users could in the future integrate competitygabilities into their existing products and mékem available without additional charge.
For example, Oracle provides free server virtuéiimasoftware intended to support Oracle and @uaele applications, and Microsoft offers
own server virtualization software packaged withWindows Server product and has announced plapféeiobuilt-in virtualization for future
releases of the client version of Windows. As alltegxisting VMware customers may elect to usedpats that are perceived to be “free” or
“very low cost” instead of purchasing VMware protiiand services for certain applications where thepot believe that more advanced and
robust capabilities are required. Competitors mag Eeverage open source technologies to offer aetow cost products capable of putting
pricing pressure on our own product offerings. Bgaging in such business practices, our competimgiminish competitive advantages we
may possess by incentivizing end users to choastupts that lack some of the technical advantafjesroown offerings.

We also face potential competition from our parsné&ior example, third parties currently selling products could build and market their
own competing products and services or market cangperoducts and services of third parties. Ifave unable to compete effectively, our
growth and our ability to sell products at profiamargins could be materially and adversely affeéct

The large majority of our revenues have come fromr @ata center virtualization products including aulagship VMware vSphere product
line. Decreases in demand for our data center vatization products could adversely affect our reubf operations and financial conditiol

In fiscal year 2011, approximately 90% of our lisemevenues were from our cloud infrastructureraadagement solutions with the
balance from our other solutions. Although we amstitiuing to develop other applications for our

35




Table of Contents

virtualization technology such as our cloud compgitand end-user computing products, we expecbilratiata center virtualization products
and related enhancements and upgrades will corestitmajority of our revenue for the foreseeabtari Declines and variability in demand
for our data center virtualization products coutdur as a result of:

« improved products or product versions being offdrg@ompetitors in our marke
e competitive pricing pressurt
« failure to release new or enhanced versions oflata center virtualization products on a timelyidasr at all

» technological change that we are unable to addréth our data center virtualization productshat changes the way enterprises
utilize our products; and

e general economic conditiol

Also, as more and more businesses achieve thelndtion of their data centers and other IT fumasi, the market for our VMware
vSphere product line may become saturated. If viéofantroduce compelling new features in futugggtades to our VMware vSphere product
line, develop new applications for our virtualizatitechnology or provide product suites based envitdware vSphere platform that address
customer requirements for integration, automatiwth management of their IT systems, demand for VMwa&phere may decline.

Additionally, in connection with the announcementluly 2011 of our latest update to VMware vSphereannounced a change to its
pricing structure. We expect that the new pricingdel, which we began to implement with the genavalilability of VMware vSphere 5 in tf
third quarter of 2011, better aligns with a clowinputing approach, whereby customers can alignwitistactual use and value derived, rather
than purely with hardware configurations and cagasiMware vSphere 5 will continue to be licenseatetually on a per processor basis.
However, two physical constraints, core and phy$teM, were eliminated and replaced with a singhktualization-based entitlement of
virtual memory, or vVRAM, which can be shared acrs$arge pool of servers. Although we believe thatnew pricing structure is better sui
to changing trends in enterprise utilization ofréBources as the industry shifts to a cloud computiodel, if our customers react adversely to
this pricing structure change, they may considepéidg the products of our competitors or we magdh® further adjust our pricing model,
resulting in reduced demand for or revenue fromdaia center virtualization products. Moreovenuf modeling of the impact of this change
in pricing structure on payment streams from owt@ers proves to be inaccurate, our revenue agichtipg margins could be negatively
affected.

Due to our product concentration, our businessiltesf operations, financial condition, and cashvE would therefore be adversely
affected by a decline in demand for our data ceritaralization products.

Our new product and technology initiatives subjers to additional business, legal and competitiveks.

Over the last several years, we have introducedpreduct and technology initiatives that aim toeege our virtualization infrastructure
software products into the emerging areas of ctmmdputing and end-user computing as alternativéisetigrovisioning of physical computing
resources. In 2010, we introduced the first ofwenter and vCloud products, which we combineddihl2with our vShield security product
create our new Cloud Infrastructure and Managerf@ih) Suite offering. Our CIM technologies are dgsed to facilitate the creation of
secure private clouds. They also enable workloadilityowith vSphere-compatible public cloud resoesmffered by our vCloud partners who
are infrastructure as a service (“laaS") providers.

In connection with our 2009 acquisition of Spring&ee, we announced our intention to use Spring®oswmtutions to extend VMware's
strategy to deliver solutions in the emerging PamBket and have since also acquired GemFire andiR&® as part of our overall PaaS
strategy. Additionally, SpringSource's current dffgs and their underlying open source technolaggitipn us in the enterprise and web
application development markets. In 2011, we anoedrCloudFoundry, a VMware-operated developer ckrrdice and a new open source
PaaS project for the development of applicatiorssgied to utilize cloud computing.

Our 2010 acquisition of Zimbra extended our foatptd cloud-based email and collaboration servicegart of VMware's strategy to
extend into the emerging SaaS market. In 2011, xpareed our SaaS offerings, as we acquired Sostedca SlideRocket, which provide
applications directed toward the collaborative digwment and sharing of user-generated contentnvitié enterprise. In 2011, we also
acquired Digital Fuel which provides IT financialdabusiness management solutions and we acquiredrcassets related to our parent
company's Mozy cloud-based data storage and datee®and entered into an agreement with EMC trate the services on EMC's behalf.
We have also continued to expand and enhance duuser computing offerings, such as VMware Viewd an2011 announced that our first
Horizon offerings, which include a mobile phone lagiion, are expected to become available in 2012.
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The expansion of our offerings to include IT mamaget and automation, laaS, PaaS and Saa$S offenihjescts us to additional risks,
such as the following:

« These initiatives may present new and diffitetthnological challenges. Significant investmenitslve required to acquire and
develop solutions to those challenges. End useyscimaose not to adopt our new product or serviteriolgs and we may be unable
recoup or realize a reasonable return on our invests. In addition, some of our new initiatives laosted by third parties whom we
do not control but whose failure to prevent sudruitions, failures or breaches may require usdos credits or refunds or indemnify
or otherwise be liable to customers or third parte@ damages that may occur. Any transition ofsmrrvices from a third party hosti
service to our own data centers would also entadlkaof service disruption during a transition.

« We may be subject to claims if customers oféh&=rvice offerings experience service disruptmmgilures, security breaches, data
losses or other quality issues.

* The success of these new offerings depends tingocooperation of hardware, software and cloudimgsendors to ensure
interoperability with our products and offer conmipkg products and services to end users. If waiaable to obtain such cooperation,
it may be difficult and more costly for us to acredunctionality and service levels that would make new products and services
attractive to end users.

*  We will need to develop and implement approprig-to-market strategies and train our sales forceder to effectively market
offerings in product categories in which we mayédéess experience than our competitors. Accordjregig users could choose
competing products over ours, even if such offeziae less advanced than ours.

« Ourincreasing focus on developing and markefingnanagement and automation, laaS, PaaS anddd&sifgs that enable
customers to transform their IT systems will requrgreater focus on marketing and selling proguiteés and more holistic solutions,
rather than selling on a product-by-product ba@msequently, we will need to develop new stratefpe marketing and selling our
offerings, our customers' purchasing decisions beypme more complex and require additional levietgpproval and the duration of
sales cycles for our offerings may increase.

«  We will need to develop appropriate pricing tgies for our new product initiatives. For examiidas frequently been challenging
for software companies to derive significant revestreams from open source projects, such asrceftaur PaaS offerings.
Additionally, in some cases our new product inities are predicated on converting free and triarai$o paying customers of the
premium tiers of these services and therefore wet maintain a sufficient conversion ratio for sgehvices to be profitable. Also,
certain of our new product initiatives have a suipsion model. We may not be able to accuratelydfmtesubscription renewal rates or
their impact on results and because revenue ignéoed for our services over the term of the supton, downturns or upturns in
sales may not be immediately reflected in our tesul

* Our new products and services may compete Vigrings from companies who are members of our liges and technology partner
ecosystem. Consequently, we may find it more diffito continue to work together productively ohet projects and the advantages
we derive from our ecosystem could diminish.

« The cloud computing and virtualized end-user potimg markets are in early stages of developn@tiiter companies seeking to enter
and develop competing standards for the cloud céimgpmarket, such as Microsoft, IBM, Oracle, Googtel Amazon, and the end-
user computing market, such as Citrix and Micrgdudive introduced or are likely to introduce thmim initiatives that may compete
with or not be compatible with our cloud and enérusomputing initiatives which could limit the degrto which other vendors
develop products and services around our offeramgsend users adopt our platforms.

Additionally, our operating margins in our neweitiatives may be lower than those we have achiéwvdkde markets we currently serve,
and we may not be successful enough in these remtigities to recoup our investments in them. i afthese risks were to occur, it could
damage our reputation, limit our growth and negayiwaffect our operating results.

Ongoing uncertainty regarding global economic cotidhs and the stability of regional financial marke may reduce information
technology spending below current expectations ahdrefore adversely impact our revenues, impede-asdr adoption of new products al
product upgrades and adversely impact our compegitposition.

Our business depends on the overall demand fomation technology and on the economic health ofcourent and prospective
customers. The purchase of our products is ofteerefionary and may involve a significant commitingfircapital and other resources. Weak
economic conditions or significant uncertainty netjag the stability of financial markets could adsaly impact our business, financial
condition and results of operations in a numbexa@ys, including by lengthening sales cycles, aifecthe size of enterprise license agreerr
(“ELASs") that customers will commit to, loweringipes for our products and services, reducing wiéssand reducing the rate of adoption of
our products by new customers and the willingnéssient customers to purchase upgrades to ostiegiproducts. The ongoing sovereign
debt crisis in Europe
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threatens to suppress demand and our customeessaaccredit in that region, which is an importaiatrket for our products and services.
Additionally, in response to sustained economiceutainty, many national and local governments #natcurrent or prospective customers for
our products and services have also made, or agedipians to make, spending cutbacks which coddaethe amount of government
spending on IT and the potential demand for oudpets and services from the government sector.

Ongoing economic uncertainty has also resulteceiregal and ongoing tightening in the credit marketser levels of liquidity, increases
in the rates of default and bankruptcy and sigaiftovolatility in the credit, equity and fixed ino@ markets. As a result, current or potential
customers may be unable to fund software purchadesh could cause them to delay, decrease or tancehases of our products and
services. Even if customers are willing to purchaseproducts and services, if they do not meetcoedit requirements, we may not be able to
record accounts receivable or unearned revenuecognize revenues from these customers until weavwepayment, which could adversely
affect the amount of revenues we are able to rézedn a particular period.

In addition, although we plan to continue makimgtgtgic investments in our business, many of oorpstitors have significantly greater
financial, technical and other resources than weadd if the economic recovery is anemic or notaosd, they may be better positioned to
continue investment in competitive technologies.

Industry alliances or consolidation may result im¢reased competitior

Some of our competitors have made acquisitiongredtinto or extended partnerships or other sti@tetationships to offer more
comprehensive virtualization and cloud computinigitsons than they individually had offered. In 2QUlitrix Systems continued to invest in
desktop virtualization marketing by continuingétese collaboration with Microsoft and acquired #argplayers like Kaviza and Ringcube.
Moreover, information technology companies aregasingly seeking to deliver top-to-bottom IT salas to end users that combine
enterprise-level hardware and software solutionzéwide an alternative to our virtualization ptath. For example, in 2011, Oracle brought to
market integrated hardware and software solutibastitilized technologies from its 2010 acquisitadrSun Microsystems, and Microsoft and
Hewlett-Packard continued their collaboration basedicrosoft's cloud computing and virtualizatiplatforms. Hewlett-Packard and Cisco
also joined the OpenStack effort, an effort to dewen open source solution for cloud computing20d 1, Citrix announced its acquisition of
Cloud.com, which offers an laaS cloud servicestgmyand Red Hat continued to invest in the Opé@tudlization Alliance (OVA) to bolster
KVM as a direct competitor to VMware vSphere. In20Dell acquired Wyse Technologies to bolstealidity to serve the “cloud client”
market. On the PaaS front, Salesforce.com acqtiezdku in late 2010. We expect these trends toimoatas companies attempt to strengthen
or maintain their market positions in the evolvirigualization infrastructure and enterprise ITw@ns industry. Many of the companies
driving this trend have significantly greater firgad, technical and other resources than we dongeglbe better positioned to acquire and offer
complementary products and technologies. The corapamd alliances resulting from these possiblebioations may create more compell
product offerings and be able to offer greateripgdlexibility than we can or may engage in busm@ractices that make it more difficult foi
to compete effectively, including on the basis €@, sales and marketing programs (such as proyigieater incentives to our channel
partners to sell a competitor's product), technplmgproduct functionality. This competition coufesult in a substantial loss of customers or a
reduction in our revenues.

Our operating results may fluctuate significantlyhich makes our future results difficult to predi@nd may result in our operating results
falling below expectations or our guidance, whiclowld cause the price of our Class A common stocklezline.

Our operating results may fluctuate due to a waéfactors, many of which are outside of our cohtAs a result, comparing our
operating results on a period-to-period basis nwybe meaningful. Our past results should not bedepon as an indication of our future
performance. In addition, a significant portionooir quarterly sales typically occurs during the fasnth of the quarter, which we believe
generally reflects customer buying patterns foegrise technology. As a result, our quarterly afieg results are difficult to predict even in
the near term. If our revenues or operating redaltdelow the expectations of investors or sa@sianalysts or below any guidance we may
provide to the market, the price of our Class A owm stock would likely decline substantially.

In addition, factors that may affect our operatiagults include, among others:

* general economic conditions in our domestic iatetnational markets and the effect that thesalitimms have on our customers'
capital budgets and the availability of funding $oftware purchases;

» fluctuations in demand, adoption rates, sales eyatel pricing levels for our products and serv
« fluctuations in foreign currency exchange re

« changes in customers' budgets for information teldgy purchases and in the timing of their purch@slecision:
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the timing of recognizing revenues in any givenrtgrawhich, as a result of software revenue reitmgmpolicies, can be affected b
number of factors, including product announcemedrgta programs and product promotions that canecaw&nue recognition of
certain orders to be deferred until future prodtetehich customers are entitled become available;

the sale of our products in the time frames wecgrdte, including the number and size of ordersach quarte

our ability to develop, introduce and ship itimaely manner new products and product enhancentieatsneet customer demand,
certification requirements and technical requiretsen

the introduction of new pricing and packaging madel our product offering
the timing of the announcement or release of ugggad new products by us or by our competi

our ability to maintain scalable internal systemsreporting, order processing, license fulfillmgmoduct delivery, purchasing, billil
and general accounting, among other functions;

our ability to control costs, including our opengtiexpense

changes to our effective tax re

the increasing scale of our business and its effiectur ability to maintain historical rates of gith;

our ability to attract and retain highly skilled ployees, particularly those with relevant expereéencsoftware development and se
our ability to conform to emerging industry stardfaand to technological developments by our cortgystand custome;

renewal rates for ELAs as original ELA terms exj

the timing and amount of software developmeststhat are capitalized beginning when technolddeasibility has been established
and ending when the product is available for gdmretaase;

unplanned events that could affect market peiwepf the quality or coseffectiveness of our products and solutions;

the recoverability of benefits from goodwill andangible assets and the potential impairment cfelasset

We are dependent on our management and our key igraent personnel, and the loss of key personnelrpeevent us from implementing
our business plan in a timely manner.

Our success depends largely upon the continueitssref our existing management. We are also sotisigt dependent on the continued
service of our key development personnel for produwovation and timely development and deliveryp§rades and enhancements to our
existing products. The market for expert softwagealopers upon whom we rely has become increasgughpetitive. We generally do not
have employment or notempete agreements with our existing managemedg\ww@lopment personnel and, therefore, they coufditate thei
employment with us at any time without penalty andld pursue employment opportunities with any wf @ompetitors. Changes to
management and key employees can also lead taadditnplanned losses of key employees. The Ibkeyoemployees could seriously harm
our ability to release new products on a timelyidaad could significantly help our competitors.

Our current research and development efforts mayt pooduce significant revenues for several yeafsat all.

Developing our products is expensive. Our investireresearch and development may not result irketable products or may result in
products that take longer to generate revenueggmerate less revenues, than we anticipate. Oeanesand development expenses were over
20% of our total revenues in the first three momth2012 and in the fiscal year 2011, respectiv®lyr future plans include significant
investments in software research and developmehtedated product opportunities. We believe thatmuest continue to dedicate a significant
amount of resources to our research and developafiflents to maintain our competitive position. Hoxge, we may not receive significant
revenues from these investments for several ydatall.

Because competition for our target employees i®imge, we may not be able to attract and retain lirgthly skilled employees we need
support our planned growth, and our compensatiorpexses may increas

To execute on our strategy, we must continue taatand retain highly qualified personnel. Contjmtifor these personnel is intense,
especially for senior sales executives and engingith high levels of experience in designing aedeloping software. We may not be
successful in attracting and retaining qualifiedspanel. We have from time to time in the past epeed, and we expect to continue to
experience in the future, difficulty in hiring anetaining highly skilled
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employees with appropriate qualifications. Manyhe companies with which we compete for experierpardonnel have greater resources
than we have. In addition, in making employmentislens, particularly in the high-technology indystob candidates often consider the value
of the stock options, restricted stock grants bepstock-based compensation they are to receigerinection with their employment. Declines
in the value of our stock could adversely affeat @hility to attract or retain key employees anslifein increased employee compensation
expenses. If we fail to attract new personnel iitderetain and motivate our current personnet, lmusiness and future growth prospects could
be severely harmed.

We may not be able to respond to rapid technologatenges with new solutions and services offeringshich could have a material
adverse effect on our sales and profitability.

The markets for our software solutions are chareeteé by rapid technological changes, changingoeust needs, frequent new software
product introductions and evolving industry staadaiT he introduction of thirgarty solutions embodying new technologies andethergenci
of new industry standards could make our existimg) faiture software solutions obsolete and unmabitet&loud computing promises to be a
disruptive technology that will alter the way thaisinesses consume, manage and provide physicasdlirces, applications, data and IT
services. We may not be able to develop updatediugte that keep pace with technological developsantl emerging industry standards and
that address the increasingly sophisticated nekdsracustomers or that interoperate with new ataipd operating systems and hardware
devices or certify our products to work with thegstems and devices. As a result, we may not leetaladccurately predict the lifecycle of our
software solutions, and they may become obsoldt@deie receive the amount of revenues that weigate from them. There is no assura
that any of our new offerings would be acceptethenmarketplace. Significant reductions in senadated costs or the rise of more efficient
infrastructure management software could also tiffemand for our software solutions. As hardwaie @nocessors become more powerful,
we will have to adapt our product and service dfifgs to take advantage of the increased capabilfier example, while the introduction of
more powerful servers presents an opportunity $otoyrovide better products for our customersntigration of servers to quad-core and
greater multi-core microprocessor technology alkma an end user with a given number of licensggies of our software to more than
double the number of virtualization machines rungever socket without having to purchase addiitinenses from us. If any of the
foregoing events were to occur, our ability to metar increase market share and revenues in thgalization software market could be
materially adversely affected.

Our success depends upon our ability to develop peaducts and services, integrate acquired produatsl services and enhance our
existing products and services and develop apprajgribusiness and pricing models.

If we are unable to develop new products and sesyinitegrate acquired products and services, eelamd improve our products and
support services in a timely manner, or positiod/anprice our products and services to meet mat&etand, customers may not buy new
software licenses from us, update to new versidmsiosoftware or renew product support. In additimformation technology standards from
both consortia and formal standards-setting foramwell as de facto marketplace standards arelyagidlving. We cannot provide any
assurance that the standards on which we choas®a/edop new products will allow us to compete dffedy for business opportunities in
emerging areas such as cloud computing.

New product development and introduction involvesigmificant commitment of time and resources anslibject to a number of risks and
challenges including:

* managing the length of the development cyclenfaw products and product enhancements, whichrbgaéntly been longer than we
originally expected,;

* managing customers' transitions to new product&iwban result in delays in their purchasing decis
« adapting to emerging and evolving industry stanslartt to technological developments by our congrstéind customel
« entering into new or unproven markets with whichhage limited experienc

» tailoring our business and pricing models appately as we enter new markets and respond to etitive pressures and
technological changes;

e incorporating and integrating acquired products taetinologies; ar
« developing or expanding efficient sales chan

In addition, if we cannot adapt our business mottekeep pace with industry trends, our revenuedddoe negatively impacted. For
example, if we increase our adoption of subscripbased pricing models for our products, we maltdeset pricing at levels appropriate to
maintain our revenue streams or our customers tagse to deploy products from our competitors they believe are priced more favorably.
Additionally, we may fail to accurately predict Sgiption renewal rates or their impact on resaltg] because revenue from subscriptions is
recognized for our services over the term of thHesstiption, downturns or upturns in sales may moinbmediately reflected in our results. As
we offer more products that
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depend on converting users of free services tesugfgrremium services and as such services gra@iz@) our ability to maintain or improve
and to predict conversion rates will become mongartant.

Breaches of our cybersecurity systems could degradeability to conduct our business operations addliver products and services to o
customers, delay our ability to recognize revenaempromise the integrity of our software productssult in significant data losses and the
theft of our intellectual property, damage our retation, expose us to liability to third parties amdquire us to incur significant additional
costs to maintain the security of our networks addta.

We increasingly depend upon our IT systems to condctually all of our business operations, ramgfrom our internal operations and
product development activities to our marketing aalgs efforts and communications with our custemaed business partners. Computer
programmers may attempt to penetrate our netwarkrig, or that of our website, and misappropriate proprietary information or cause
interruptions of our service. Because the techriqised by such computer programmers to accesbatag® networks change frequently and
may not be recognized until launched against a&etarge may be unable to anticipate these techniduesidition, sophisticated hardware and
operating system software and applications thapreduce or procure from third parties may contaifedts in design or manufacture,
including "bugs" and other problems that could yestedly interfere with the operation of the systévie have also outsourced a number of
our business functions to third party contractarg] our business operations also depend, in patheosuccess of our contractors' own
cybersecurity measures. Similarly, we rely upotritistors, resellers, system vendors and systetagriators to sell our products and our sales
operations depend, in part, on the reliabilityrafit cybersecurity measures. Additionally, we debepon our employees to appropriately
handle confidential data and deploy our IT resagiinesafe and secure fashion that does not exposeetwork systems to security breaches
and the loss of data. Accordingly, if our cyberségisystems and those of our contractors failrmtgct against unauthorized access,
sophisticated cyberattacks and the mishandlingatd dy our employees and contractors, our abdityonduct our business effectively coulc
damaged in a number of ways, including:

« sensitive data regarding our business, includitgjlectual property and other proprietary data,|dde stoler

e our electronic communications systems, includgingail and other methods, could be disrupted, amdbility to conduct our business
operations could be seriously damaged until sustesys can be restored,;

e our ability to process customer orders and edeatally deliver products and services could bgrdded, and our distribution channels
could be disrupted, resulting in delays in reveragognition;

« defects and security vulnerabilities could bedduced into our software products, thereby dantagie reputation and perceived
reliability and security of our products and potalhy making the data systems of our customersenahble to further data loss and
cyberincidents; and

« personally identifiable data of our customers, eppés and business partners could be

Should any of the above events occur, we couldibgest to significant claims for liability from owustomers, regulatory actions from
governmental agencies, our ability to protect otellectual property rights could be compromised aur reputation and competitive position
could be significantly harmed. Also, the regulatand contractual actions, litigations, investigasiofines, penalties and liabilities relating to
data breaches that result in losses of persorddlytifiable or credit card information of usersoof services can be significant in terms of fines
and reputational impact and necessitate changas tbusiness operations that may be disruptivest@dditionally, we could incur significant
costs in order to upgrade our cybersecurity sysemdsremediate damages. Consequently, our finaperédrmance and results of operations
could be adversely affected.

Our products are highly technical and may containrers, defects or security vulnerabilities which alol cause harm to our reputation and
adversely affect our business.

Our products are highly technical and complex avtten deployed, have contained and may containgrdefects or security
vulnerabilities. Some errors in our products maly & discovered after a product has been installeused by customers. Any errors, def
or security vulnerabilities discovered in our protduafter commercial release could result in Idsgwenues or delay in revenue recognition,
loss of customers and increased service and wsreast, any of which could adversely affect ouribess, financial condition and results of
operations. Undiscovered vulnerabilities in ourduats could expose them to hackers or other unatoug third parties who develop and
deploy viruses, worms, and other malicious softwaograms that could attack our products. On A28il2012, VMware became aware of the
public posting by a hacker of a single file frone tiMware ESX source code. The hacker has publicicated that additional portions of the
source code will be posted in the future. The pbstele and associated commentary is from the 20@&4frame. It is possible that the released
source code could expose unknown security vulnkiabiin our products that could be exploited lackers or others. Actual or perceived
security vulnerabilities in our products could hawor reputation and lead some customers to returtiugts, to reduce or delay future
purchases or use competitive products. End uséis raly on our products and services for the irgerability of enterprise servers and
applications that are critical to their informatisystems, may have a greater
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sensitivity to product errors and security vulnditides than customers for software products gelherAny security breaches could lead to
interruptions, delays and data loss and protectterns. In addition, we could face claims fordoret liability, tort or breach of warranty,
including claims relating to changes to our produntide by our channel partners. Our contractsaisiomers contain provisions relating to
warranty disclaimers and liability limitations, vehi may not be upheld and customers and channelgrannay seek indemnification from us
for their losses and those of their customers. Diifey a lawsuit, regardless of its merit, is costiyg time-consuming and may divert
management's attention and adversely affect thketiauperception of us and our products. In addjtibour business liability insurance
coverage proves inadequate or future coveragesaigailable on acceptable terms or at all; our bissinnancial condition and results of
operations could be adversely impacted.

Operating in foreign countries subjects us to addital risks that may harm our ability to increase maintain our international sales
operations and investments.

Revenues from customers outside the United Starepiised approximately 54% of our total revenueth@first three months end@@1z
and 52% in 2011 . We have sales, administratiseareh and development and technical support pgesonnumerous countries worldwide.
We expect to continue to add personnel in additiooantries. Additionally, our investment portfoliocludes investments in nd-S. financia
instruments and holdings in non-U.S. financialitngbns, including European institutions. Our imational operations subject us to a variety
of risks, including:

« the difficulty of managing and staffing interiwatal offices and the increased travel, infrasuitestand legal compliance costs
associated with multiple international locations;

* increased exposure to foreign currency exchangerisit
» difficulties in enforcing contracts and collectiagcounts receivable, and longer payment cyclegcéafy in emerging marke
« difficulties in delivering support, training and @lonentation in certain foreign mark

« tariffs and trade barriers and other regulatargontractual limitations on our ability to sefl@evelop our products in certain foreign
markets;

e economic or political instability and security cangs in countries that are important to our intéomal sales and operatio

* macroeconomic disruptions, such as monetaryceauit crises, that can threaten the stabilityoohl and regional financial institutions
and decrease the value of our international invests;

« the overlap of different tax structures or charigdaternational tax law

« reduced protection for intellectual property rightgluding reduced protection from software pir&tpome countrie
« difficulties in transferring funds from certain gdties; an

« difficulties in maintaining appropriate controldating to revenue recognition practic

Additionally, as we continue to expand our busirgdebally, we will need to maintain compliance widgal and regulatory requirements
covering the foreign activities of U.S. corporaipsuch as export control requirements and theigiof@orrupt Practices Act, as well as with
local regulatory requirements in n&hS. jurisdictions. Our success will depend, igépart, on our ability to anticipate and effedivemanage
these and other risks associated with our intesnatioperations. We expect a significant portioomwf growth to occur in foreign countries,
which can add to the difficulties in maintainingegdate management and compliance systems andahtemtrols over financial reporting and
increase challenges in managing an organizatioratipg in various countries.

Our failure to manage any of these risks succdgsafalld negatively affect our reputation, harm operations and reduce our
international sales.

If operating system and hardware vendors do not perate with us or we are unable to obtain early ass to their new products, or acces:
certain information about their new products to em® that our solutions interoperate with those pnacts, our product development efforts
may be delayed or foreclosed.

Our products interoperate with Windows, Linux arlden operating systems and the hardware devicesmérous manufacturers.
Developing products that interoperate properly iegusubstantial partnering, capital investmenteamgloyee resources, as well as the
cooperation of the vendors or developers of theaijpg systems and hardware. Operating system arbiiare vendors may not provide us
with early access to their technology and prodwadsist us in these development efforts or shateavisell to us any application programming
interfaces, or APls, formats, or protocols we maga If they do not
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provide us with the necessary early access, assestar proprietary technology on a timely basismegy experience product development
delays or be unable to expand our products interaiteas. To the extent that software or hardwanelers develop products that compete with
ours or those of our controlling stockholder, EMIGey may have an incentive to withhold their coatien, decline to share access or sell to us
their proprietary APIs, protocols or formats or agg in practices to actively limit the functionglior compatibility, and certification of our
products. To the extent that we enter into collabons or joint development and marketing arrangemeith certain hardware and software
vendors, vendors who compete with our collaborgtieeners may similarly choose to limit their cogign with us. In addition, hardware or
operating system vendors may fail to certify orgap or continue to certify or support our produttstheir systems. If any of the foregoing
occurs, our product development efforts may beyeelar foreclosed and our business and resultpafations may be adversely affected.

We rely on distributors, resellers, system vendansl systems integrators to sell our products, and failure to effectively develop, manage
or prevent disruptions to our distribution channeénd the processes and procedures that support titeld cause a reduction in the
number of end users of our products.

Our future success is highly dependent upon maimigiiand increasing the number of our relationshijtk distributors, resellers, system
vendors and systems integrators. Because we redystnibutors, resellers, system vendors and sysiatagrators, we may have little or no
contact with the ultimate users of our productsreby making it more difficult for us to establistand awareness, ensure proper delivery and
installation of our products, service ongoing custo requirements, estimate end-user demand andneés$p evolving customer needs.

Recruiting and retaining qualified channel partreerd training them in the use of our technology pratiuct offerings requires significant
time and resources. In order to develop and expandistribution channel, we must continue to expand improve our processes and
procedures that support our channel, includingimgstment in systems and training, and those gesseand procedures may become
increasingly complex and difficult to manage. Timet and expense required for sales and marketiganizations of our channel partners to
become familiar with our product offerings, inclaodiour new product developments, may make it miffiewt to introduce those products to
end users and delay end-user adoption of our ptadferings.

We generally do not have long-term contracts orimirm purchase commitments with our distributorsetiers, system vendors and
systems integrators, and our contracts with theaarmel partners do not prohibit them from offenqmrgducts or services that compete with
ours. Our competitors may be effective in providingentives to existing and potential channel pagno favor products of our competitors or
to prevent or reduce sales of our products. Cesigtem vendors now offer competing virtualizagpwaducts preinstalled on their server
products. Additionally, our competitors could atfgrto require key distributors to enter into exelitg arrangements with them or otherwise
apply their pricing or marketing leverage to disame distributors from offering our products. Aatiogly, our channel partners may choose
not to offer our products exclusively or at all.r@ailure to maintain and increase the number lati@nships with channel partners would lik
lead to a loss of end users of our products whichlévresult in us receiving lower revenues from cliannel partners. Two of our distributors
each accounted for more than 10% of revenues dtimfjrst three months of 2012 , and three ofdistributors each accounted for more than
10% of revenues during the first three months dfl200ur agreements with distributors are typictdlyninable by either party upon 30 to 90
days' prior written notice to the other party, aedither party has any obligation to purchase drassl products under the agreements. Whil
believe that we have in place, or would have ic@lay the date of any such termination, agreemeititsreplacement distributors sufficient to
maintain our revenues from distribution, if we wéwdose the distribution services of a significdigtributor, such loss could have a negative
impact on our results of operations until such taseve arrange to replace these distribution seswidth the services of existing or new
distributors.

The concentration of our product sales among a lted number of distributors and the weakness in dtadarkets increases our potential
credit risk. Additionally, weakness in credit marsecould affect the ability of our distributors, sellers and customers to comply with the
terms of credit we provide in the ordinary coursehbusiness. Accordingly, if our distributors, redets and customers find it difficult to
obtain credit or comply with the terms of their ati¢ obligations, it could cause significant fluctdeons or declines in our product revenues.

Two of our distributors each accounted for morenth@% of revenues during the first three month20df2 , and three of our distributors
each accounted for more than 10% of revenues dtimnfjrst three months of 2011 . We anticipate fades of our products to a limited
number of distributors will continue to account &significant portion of our total product reveader the foreseeable future. The
concentration of product sales among certain Bistoirs increases our potential credit risks. Fangple, approximately 45% of our total
accounts receivable as of March 31, 2012 was floeetdistributors. Some of our distributors mayezignce financial difficulties, which
could adversely impact our collection of accouetssivable. One or more of these distributors cdeldy payments or default on credit
extended to them. Our exposure to credit risksuofdistributors may increase if our distributorglaheir customers are adversely affected by
global or regional economic
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conditions. Additionally, we provide credit to dibutors, resellers, and certain end-user customdfge normal course of business. Credit is
generally extended to new customers based upoedét evaluation. Credit is extended to existingteoeers based on ongoing credit
evaluations, prior payment history, and demondirfiteancial stability. We often allow distributoasd customers to purchase and receive
shipments of products in excess of their estabdigiiedit limit. We are unable to recognize revefiae such shipments until the collection of
those amounts becomes reasonably assured. Anyicagmidelay or default in the collection of sigonént accounts receivable could result ir
increased need for us to obtain working capitahfiather sources, possibly on worse terms than wkldwmve negotiated if we had established
such working capital resources prior to such detaydefaults. Any significant default could resulta negative impact on our results of
operations and delay our ability to recognize rexen

Our revenues, collection of accounts receivable dimancial results may be adversely impacted byctluation of foreign currency exchange
rates. Although foreign currency hedges can offsetme of the risk related to foreign currency fluations, we will continue to experience
foreign currency gains and losses in certain instzgs where it is not possible or cost effective éage our foreign currency exposure

Our revenues and our collection of accounts rebédvimay be adversely impacted as a result of fatatas in the exchange rates between
the U.S. Dollar and foreign currencies. For exampke have distributors in foreign countries thayrivecur higher costs in periods when the
value of the U.S. Dollar strengthens against for@igrrencies. One or more of these distributorddcdalay payments or default on credit
extended to them as a result. Any significant delagiefault in the collection of significant accésineceivable could result in an increased 1
for us to obtain working capital from other sourdésve determine that the amount of accounts red#e to be uncollectible is greater than
estimates, we would recognize an increase in batledg@ense, which would have a negative impactwmesults of operations. In addition, in
periods when the value of the U.S. Dollar strengsh&e may need to offer additional discounts, cedurices or offer other incentives to
mitigate the negative effect on demand.

We invoice and collect in certain non-U.S. Doll@ndminated currencies, thereby conducting a podfaur revenue transactions in
currencies other than the U.S. Dollar. Althougls fiogram may alleviate credit risk from our distitors during periods when the U.S. Dollar
strengthens, it shifts the risk of currency flutioms to us and may negatively impact our revenaescipated cash flows and financial results
due to fluctuations in foreign currency exchandgesaparticularly the Euro, the British Pound, dapanese Yen and the Australian Dollar
relative to the U.S. Dollar. While variability irperating margin may be reduced due to invoicingeiriain of the local currencies in which we
also recognize expenses, increased exposure igriarerrency fluctuations will introduce addition@k for variability in revenue-related
components of our consolidated financial statements

We enter into foreign currency forward contracthiéalge a portion of our net outstanding monetasgtasand liabilities against moveme
in certain foreign exchange rates. Although we ekfiee gains and losses on our foreign currenaydadt contracts to generally offset the
majority of the gains and losses associated wighutiderlying foreign-currency denominated assetdiabilities that we hedge, our hedging
transactions may not yield the results we expedtlifonally, we expect to continue to experiencesign currency gains and losses in certain
instances where it is not possible or cost effectivhedge our foreign currency exposures.

We may become involved in litigation and regulatanguiries and proceedings that could negativelyfexdt us.

From time to time, we are involved in various legaministrative and regulatory proceedings, claidesmands and investigations relating
to our business, which may include claims with ez$po patent, commercial, product liability, empteent, class action, whistleblower and
other matters. From time to time, we receive ingsifrom government entities regarding the comgkaof our contracting and sales practices
with applicable regulations. Such matters can ineitonsuming, divert management's attention arwlregs and cause us to incur significant
expenses. While no formal legal proceedings thaltchave a material impact on our results of openator financial condition have been
taken, there can be no assurance that actionsatilbe taken in the future. Furthermore, becatiggtion and the outcome of regulatory
proceedings are inherently unpredictable, it issfimds that our business, results of operationgnamntial condition could be negatively affected
by an unfavorable resolution of one or more of suateedings, claims, demands or investigations.

Our business is subject to a variety of U.S. antkimational laws and regulations regarding data peztion.

Our business is subject to federal, state andratemal laws and regulations regarding privacy pradection of personal data. We collect
contact and other personal or identifying inforroatfrom our customers. Additionally, in connectisith some of our new product initiatives,
our customers may use our services to store armkpsgersonal information and other user data. & pn our website, our privacy policies
and practices concerning our treatment of perstat@. Any failure by us to comply with our posted/acy policies or other federal, state or
international privacy-related or data protectiomdaand regulations could result in proceedingsresjais by governmental entities or others
which could have a material adverse effect on asiress, results of operations and financial camditn addition, the increased attention
focused upon liability issues
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as a result of lawsuits and legislative proposaldctharm our reputation or otherwise impact theagh of our business.

It is possible that these laws may be interpretetiggplied in a manner that is inconsistent withdata practices. If so, in addition to the
possibility of fines and penalties, a governmeatder requiring that we change our data practiogddcresult, which in turn could have a
material adverse effect on our business. Compliaritesuch an order may involve significant costsegjuire changes in business practices
that result in reduced revenue. Noncompliance coegdlt in penalties being imposed on us or wedtbel ordered to cease conducting the
noncompliant activity.

In addition to government regulation, privacy adsocand industry groups or other third parties m@pose new and different self-
regulatory standards that either legally or corttralty apply to us or our customers. Any inabilityadequately address privacy concerns, even
if unfounded, or comply with applicable privacydata protection laws, regulations and policies)aoasult in additional cost and liability to
us, damage our reputation, inhibit sales and hambosiness.

Additionally, our virtualization technology is useg cloud computing vendors, and we have expandeihgolvement in the delivery and
provision of cloud computing through business aliies with various providers of cloud computing &8s and software and expect to conti
to do so in the future. For example, in April 208/ entered into an agreement with EMC to acquéreain assets relating to EMC's Mozy
cloud-based data storage and data services, ingudirtain data center assets and a license tircartellectual property. We also entered into
an operational support agreement with EMC pursteanthich we will take over responsibility for opérg the Mozy service on behalf of
EMC. The application of U.S. and international dai&acy laws to cloud computing vendors is undertand our existing contractual
provisions may prove to be inadequate to protedtam claims for data loss or regulatory noncomptia made against cloud computing
providers who we may partner with. Accordingly, fagure to comply with data protection laws andukations by our customers and business
partners who provide cloud computing services chalde a material adverse effect on our business.

If we fail to comply with our customer contracts government contracting regulations, our businessutd be adversely affecte

Our contracts with our customers may include unigue specialized performance requirements. Inqudati, our contracts with federal,
state, and local and non-U.S. governmental custoamed our arrangements with distributors and reselho may sell directly to
governmental customers are subject to various peacents regulations, contract provisions and atbguirements relating to their formation,
administration and performance. Any failure by asomply with provisions in our customer contramts@ny violation of government
contracting regulations could result in the impositof various civil and criminal penalties, whiotay include termination of contracts,
forfeiture of profits, suspension of payments dandhe case of our government contracts, finessarsgension from future government
contracting. Further, any negative publicity retbte our customer contracts or any proceeding®sunding them, regardless of its accuracy,
may damage our business and affect our abilitptopete for new contracts. From time to time, wenreeinquiries from government entities
regarding the compliance of our contracting andssalactices with applicable regulations. Whilderonal legal proceedings that could have a
material impact on our results of operations cafficial condition have been taken, there can bessorance that actions will not be taken in
future. If our customer contracts are terminatbdg are suspended from government work or finestloer government sanctions are imposed,
or if our ability to compete for new contracts tvarsely affected, we could suffer an adverse effamur business, operating results or
financial condition.

If we are unable to protect our intellectual proptgrrights, our competitive position could be harmedwe could be required to inctL
significant expenses to enforce our right

We depend on our ability to protect our propriet@ghnology. We rely on trade secret, patent, dghyand trademark laws and
confidentiality agreements with employees and tpadies, all of which offer only limited protectioAs such, despite our efforts, the steps we
have taken to protect our proprietary rights malyheadequate to preclude misappropriation of oopiietary information or infringement of
our intellectual property rights, and our abilibygolice such misappropriation or infringementrngertain, particularly in countries outside of
the United States. Further, with respect to paights, we do not know whether any of our pendiatgpt applications will result in the
issuance of patents or whether the examinationggwill require us to narrow our claims. To theeekthat additional patents are issued from
our patent applications, which are not certainy timay be contested, circumvented or invalidatetthénfuture. Moreover, the rights granted
under any issued patents may not provide us wipn@tary protection or competitive advantages, asdvith any technology, competitors
may be able to develop similar or superior techgiel® to our own now or in the future. In additiere rely on confidentiality or license
agreements with third parties in connection witkithuse of our products and technology. There iguarantee that such parties will abide by
the terms of such agreements or that we will be thhdequately enforce our rights, in part becaweseely on “click-wrap” and “shrink-wrap”
licenses in some instances.

Detecting and protecting against the unauthorizedai our products, technology and proprietarytdadh expensive, difficult and, in some
cases, impossible. Litigation may be necessaryarfuture to enforce or defend our intellectualpamty rights, to protect our trade secrets or to
determine the validity and scope of the proprietéagiits of others. Such litigation could
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result in substantial costs and diversion of mansege resources, either of which could harm ourress, financial condition and results of
operations, and there is no guarantee that we wmikliccessful. Furthermore, many of our curredtpartential competitors have the ability
dedicate substantially greater resources to piatgtheir technology or intellectual property righhan we do. Accordingly, despite our efforts,
we may not be able to prevent third parties frofringing upon or misappropriating our intellectpabperty, which could result in a substan
loss of our market share.

We provide access to our hypervisor and other selésource code to partners, which creates addgiarsk that our competitors could
develop products that are similar or better thanrsu

Our success and ability to compete depend subalignipon our internally developed technology, whig incorporated in the source code
for our products. We seek to protect the source cdedsign code, documentation and other informagtating to our software, under trade
secret and copyright laws. However, we have chas@novide access to our hypervisor and other tedesource code to more than 50 of our
partners for co-development, as well as for opets Aflermats and protocols. Though we generally mdr@tccess to our source code and other
intellectual property, and enter into confidentiabir license agreements with such partners, alsagelith our employees and consultants, this
combination of procedural and contractual safeguardy be insufficient to protect our trade secaets other rights to our technology. Our
protective measures may be inadequate, especeduse we may not be able to prevent our parteengloyees or consultants from violating
any agreements or licenses we may have in plaabuming their access granted to our source cogeoper disclosure or use of our source
code could help competitors develop products simdlar better than ours.

We are, and may in the future be, subject to claimsothers that we infringe their proprietary tecbfogy which could force us to pay
damages or prevent us from using certain technolagyur products.

Companies in the software and technology industes large numbers of patents, copyrights, tradksyand trade secrets and freque
enter into litigation based on allegations of infigment or other violations of intellectual progeights. This risk may increase as the number
of products and competitors in our market increasesoverlaps occur. In addition, as a well-knowfoimation technology company, we face
a higher risk of being the subject of intellectpedperty infringement claims. Any claim of infringent by a third party, even one without
merit, could cause us to incur substantial costsriing against the claim, and could distract oanagement from our business. Furthermore,
a party making such a claim, if successful, coelclse a judgment that requires us to pay substalaimages. A judgment could also include
an injunction or other court order that could praves from offering our products. In addition, weght be required to seek a license for the
of such intellectual property, which may not beilide on commercially reasonable terms or atAdternatively, we may be required to
develop nonnfringing technology, which could require signéiat effort and expense and may ultimately not lmeassful. Any of these evel
could seriously harm our business, operating result financial condition. Third parties may alseat infringement claims against our
customers and channel partners. Any of these clagukl require us to initiate or defend potentigliptracted and costly litigation on their
behalf, regardless of the merits of these claimsabse we generally indemnify our customers andreigartners from claims of infringems
of proprietary rights of third parties in connectiwith the use of our products. If any of thesénctasucceed, we may be forced to pay damage:
on behalf of our customers or channel partnerschvbould negatively affect our results of operagion

Our use of “open source’software in our products could negatively affectroability to sell our products and subject us togsible litigation.

A significant portion of the products, technologtesservices acquired, licensed, developed or efféry us may incorporate so-called
“open source” software, and we may incorporate gqmemce software into other products in the fut&uch open source software is generally
licensed by its authors or other third parties urmgeen source licenses, including, for example Gh&J General Public License, the GNU
Lesser General Public License, “Apache-style” lsgs) “BSD-style” licenses and other open sour@n$ies. We monitor our use of open
source software in an effort to avoid subjecting poducts to conditions we do not intend. Althowgg believe that we have complied with
our obligations under the various applicable lie=f®r open source software that we use, theitlésdr no legal precedent governing the
interpretation of many of the terms of certaintadge licenses, and therefore the potential imdabiese terms on our business is somewhat
unknown and may result in unanticipated obligatimgarding our products and technologies. For examye may be subjected to certain
conditions, including requirements that we offer products that use the open source software faosg that we make available source code
for modifications or derivative works we create dxsipon incorporating, using or distributing theogource software and/or that we license
such modifications or derivative works under thente of the particular open source license. Anyhese obligations could have an adverse
impact on our intellectual property rights and ability to derive revenue from products incorpargtthe open source software.

If an author or other third party that distribusesh open source software were to allege that wenbacomplied with the conditions of
one or more of these licenses, we could be reqtiré@ttur significant legal expenses defending agtasuch allegations. Although we have
received inquiries regarding open source licenseptiance for software used in our products,
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no formal proceedings that would have a materiglaot on our results of operations or financial ¢oo have been taken. However, there can
be no assurance that actions will not be takeherfuture. If our defenses were not successfulcaudd be subject to significant damages,
enjoined from the distribution of our products thahtained the open source software and requiredntply with the foregoing conditions,
which could disrupt the distribution and sale afhsoof our products. In addition, if we combine pupprietary software with open source
software in a certain manner, under some open sdigenses we could be required to release thesaade of our proprietary software, wt
could substantially help our competitors developdpicts that are similar to or better than ours.

In addition to risks related to license requirersgnsage of open source software can lead to gmésite than use of third-party
commercial software, as open source licensors géyelo not provide warranties or assurance df titl controls on origin of the software. In
addition, many of the risks associated with usdggpen source such as the lack of warranties arasses of title, cannot be eliminated, and
could, if not properly addressed, negatively affaat business. We have established processesp@heliate these risks, including a review
process for screening requests from our developorgainizations for the use of open source and adimdpappropriate due diligence of the
use of open source in the products developed byaaias we acquire, but we cannot be sure thapalh gource software is submitted for
approval prior to use in our products or is disecededuring due diligence.

We offer a number of products, including our Spriggurce, Zimbra and Cloud Foundry products under apsource licenses that subject
to additional risks and challenges, which could tésin increased development expenses, delays srugitions to the release or distribution
of those software solutions, and increased com patit

In September 2009, we completed our acquisitioBmingSource and, in February 2010, we completedoqguisition of Zimbra. In April
2011, we launched our Cloud Foundry PaaS offekivig.offer each of the product offerings under opmuree licenses. Software solutions that
are substantially or mostly based on open souritea®@ subject us to a number of risks and chaleng

« If open source software programmers, most ofrwkae do not employ, do not continue to develop emtance open source
technologies, our development expenses could lsedred and our product release and upgrade schextuilel be delayed.

« One of the characteristics of open source soévsthat anyone can modify the existing softwardevelop new software that
competes with existing open source software. Aessalt, competition can develop without the degifeeverhead and lead time
required by traditional proprietary software comiganlt is also possible for new competitors withajer resources than ours to
develop their own open source solutions, potegti@tiucing the demand for, and putting price pressa, our solutions.

e Itis possible that a court could hold that ficenses under which our open source products amices are developed and licensed are
not enforceable or that someone could assert i étai proprietary rights in a program developed disdributed under them. Any
ruling by a court that these licenses are not eefale, or that open source components of our ptadservices offerings may not be
liberally copied, modified or distributed, may hahe effect of preventing us from distributing @veloping all or a portion of our
products or services. In addition, licensors ofropeurce software employed in our offerings maymftime to time, modify the terms
of their license agreements in such a manner tiogetlicense terms may no longer be compatible etitar open source licenses in
our offerings or our end-user license agreemetgrons of service, and thus could, among other apresgces, prevent us from
continuing to distribute the software code subjedhe modified license or terms of service.

« Actions to protect and maintain ownership andte@ over our intellectual property could adveysaffect our standing in the open
source community, which in turn could limit our Etlgito continue to rely on this community, uponiaihwe are dependent, as a
resource to help develop and improve our open sgumaducts and services.

If we are unable to successfully address the amgdle of integrating offerings based upon open sotechnology into our business, our
ability to realize revenues from such offeringslwé negatively affected and our development costg increase.

Our sales cycles can be long and unpredictable, sales efforts require considerable time and expeasd timing of sales is subject to
changing purchasing behaviors of our customers. &sesult, our sales are difficult to predict and maary substantially from quarter to
guarter, which may cause our operating results todtuate significantly.

The timing of our revenues is difficult to predi€tur sales efforts involve educating our custonadcut the use and benefit of our
products, including their technical capabilitiestgntial cost savings to an organization and adged compared to lowepst products offere
by our competitors. Customers typically undertalségaificant evaluation process that has in the pesilted in a lengthy sales cycle which
typically lasts several months, and may last a pedonger. We spend substantial time, effort arh@y on our sales efforts without any
assurance that our efforts will produce any safes.
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addition, product purchases are frequently sultigebtidget constraints, multiple approvals, and ampéd administrative, processing and other
delays. Moreover, the greater number of competaiternatives, as well as announcements by our etitogs that they intend to introduce
competitive alternatives at some point in the fetfwan lengthen customer procurement cycles, amisespend additional time and resources
to educate end users on the advantages of ourgiroffarings and delay product sales. Economic dams and uncertainty can also cause
customers to add layers to their internal purclageoval processes, adding further time to a salele. These factors can have a particular
impact on the timing and length of our ELA salesley.

Additionally, our quarterly sales have historicalgflected an uneven pattern in which a dispropogtie percentage of a quarter's total :
occur in the last month, weeks and days of eachtepu&imilarly, our yearly sales have historicakyflected a disproportionate percentage of
the year's sales in the fourth fiscal quarter. €hmstterns make prediction of revenues, earnindssamking capital for each financial period
especially difficult and uncertain and increasertbke of unanticipated variations in financial cétigh and results of operations. We believe
uneven sales pattern is a result of many factatsding the following:

« the tendency of customers to wait until late iruarter to commit to a purchase in the hope of abtgimore favorable pricin

« the fourth quarter influence of customers spegdieir remaining capital budget authorizatioroptd new budget constraints in the
first nine months of the following year; and

« seasonal influences, such as holiday or vacatidngs

If sales expected from a specific customer forréi@dar quarter are not realized in that quarteatoall, our results could fall short of
public expectations and our business, financiatitam and results of operations could be matsriativersely affected.

Acquisitions could disrupt our business, cause dian to our stockholders and harm our business, dimcial condition and results o
operations.

We have acquired in the past and plan to acquitieeiriuture other businesses, products or techiedogor example, in 2011 we
completed a number of acquisitions, including asitjoins of Digital Fuel, Neo Accel, Packet Moti@havlik, SlideRocket, Socialcast and
WaveMaker. We also acquired certain assets from BNM©zy cloud-based data storage and data seraiwgentered into an agreement with
EMC to operate the services on EMC's behalf. We namiype able to find suitable acquisition candidatand we may not be able to complete
acquisitions on favorable terms, if at all. If we cbmplete acquisitions, we may not ultimatelyrsfthen our competitive position or achieve
our goals, or they may be viewed negatively bymustrs, financial markets or investors.

Acquisitions may disrupt our ongoing operationsedi management from day-to-day responsibilitisstéase our expenses and adversely
impact our business, financial condition and ressoftoperations. An acquired business may not eetive expected results. For example, an
acquisition may not further our strategies or ressinl expected benefits, which may include beneélating to enhanced revenues, technology,
human resources, cost savings, operating effickésrennd other synergies. Acquisitions may reduceasin available for operations and other
uses and could result in an increase in amortizagigpense related to identifiable intangible asaetgiired, potentially dilutive issuances of
equity securities or the incurrence of debt.

Additionally, we have limited historical experiensith the integration of acquired companies. Tree be no assurance that we will be
able to manage the integration of acquired bus@sesHectively or be able to retain and motivatg frersonnel from these businesses. Any
difficulties we encounter in the integration progesuld divert management from day-to-day respdliiss, increase our expenses and have a
material adverse effect on our business, finarmzatlition and results of operations. We may alse féifficulties due to the lack of experience
in new markets, products or technologies or thigalrdependence on unfamiliar supply or distribntgartners. Other risks related to
acquisitions include the assumption of the lialeitof the acquired business, including litigatiefated liabilities.

In addition, we review our amortizable intangibssets annually for impairment, or more frequentligen events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may eatgoverable, and we are required to test gooftwilmpairment at least annually. We may
be required to record a significant charge to eg$in our financial statements during the period/ihich any impairment of our goodwill or
amortizable intangible assets resulting from arussitipn or otherwise is determined, resulting imaalverse impact on our results of operati
In addition to the risks commonly encountered m dlequisition of a business as described abovepayealso experience risks relating to the
challenges and costs of closing a transactionhEurthe risks described above may be exacerbatadesult of managing multiple acquisitir
at the same time. We also seek to invest in busésethat offer complementary products, servicegsamologies. These investments are
accompanied by risks similar to those encounterezhiacquisition of a business.
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If we fail to maintain an effective system of inteal controls, we may not be able to accurately retpmur financial results or prevent fraud
As a result, our stockholders could lose confidenneur financial reporting, which could harm our bsiness and the trading price of ot
Class A common stock.

We have complied with Section 404 of the SarbandsyOAct of 2002 by assessing and testing our sysitinternal controls. Even
though we concluded our system of internal contn@s effective as of December 31, 2011, we needritinue to maintain our processes and
systems and adapt them to changes as our busimesges and we rearrange management responsitalitteseorganize our business
accordingly. We may seek to automate certain ps@Ese improve efficiencies and better ensure aggodmpliance but such automation may
itself disrupt existing internal controls and irdtee unintended vulnerability to error or fraudisT¢ontinuous process of maintaining and
adapting our internal controls and complying wigtton 404 is expensive and time-consuming, andires| significant management attention.
We cannot be certain that our internal control rmeeswill continue to provide adequate control awmer financial processes and reporting and
ensure compliance with Section 404. Furthermoreuasusiness changes and as we expand througisiicms of other companies, our
internal controls may become more complex and Weredquire significantly more resources to ensweiaternal controls overall remain
effective. Failure to implement required new or mned controls, or difficulties encountered in thigiplementation, could harm our operating
results or cause us to fail to meet our reportipiggations. If we or our independent registeredljpudiccounting firm identify material
weaknesses, the disclosure of that fact, evenickuremedied, could reduce the market's configeincour financial statements and harm our
stock price. In addition, if we are unable to con# to comply with Section 404, our non-compliaoceld subject us to a variety of
administrative sanctions, including the suspensiodelisting of our Class A common stock from thewNYork Stock Exchange and the
inability of registered broker-dealers to make aketin our Class A common stock, which could resloar stock price.

Problems with our information systems could interéewith our business that could adversely impact @perations.

We rely on our information systems and those afitparties for processing customer orders, delieégroducts, providing services and
support to our customers, billing and tracking customers, fulfilling contractual obligations, amitherwise running our business. Any
disruption in our information systems and thos¢hefthird parties upon whom we rely could havegaificant impact on our business. In
addition, we continuously work to enhance our infation systems. The implementation of these typeslbancements is frequently disrupt
to the underlying business of an enterprise, whiely especially be the case for us due to the sidecamplexity of our business. Any
disruptions relating to our systems enhancemeatsicplarly any disruptions impacting our operatiauring the implementation period, could
adversely affect our business in a number of réspEeen if we do not encounter these adversetsffée implementation of these
enhancements may be much more costly than we entéel. If we are unable to successfully implemieatibtformation systems enhancements
as planned, our financial position, results of atiens, and cash flows could be negatively impacted

Our financial results may be adversely impactedhigher than expected tax rates, and we may haveosxpe to additional tax liabilities.

As a multinational corporation, we are subjectimoime taxes as well as non-income based taxesthirtle United States and various
foreign jurisdictions. Our domestic and internasibtax liabilities are subject to the allocationrefenues and expenses in different jurisdict
and the timing of recognizing revenues and expersgditionally, the amount of income taxes paidusject to our interpretation of applical
tax laws in the jurisdictions in which we file andanges to tax laws. Significant judgment is regglin determining our worldwide provision
for income taxes and other tax liabilities. Fromdito time, we are subject to income tax auditsil&\We believe we have complied with all
applicable income tax laws, there can be no aseartmat a governing tax authority will not haveiffedent interpretation of the law and assess
us with additional taxes. Should we be assessddaaltlitional taxes, there could be a material aveffect on our financial condition or
results of operations.

Our future effective tax rate may be affected bghsiactors as changes in tax laws, regulationatesr changing interpretation of existing
laws or regulations, the impact of accounting tock-based compensation, the impact of accountngdsiness combinations, changes in our
international organization, and changes in ovédeakls of income before tax. For example, the fe8eral research tax credit, which provided
a significant reduction in our effective tax raggpired on December 31, 2011. Reinstatement df)tBe federal research tax credit would have
a favorable effect on our effective tax rate.

In addition, in the ordinary course of our globakimess, there are many intercompany transactiwhsaculations where the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. Although we believe thar tax estimates are reasonable, we cannotetizatthe final determination of tax audits
or tax disputes will not be different from whatéslected in our historical income tax provisiomglaccruals.
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We are also subject to non-income taxes, suchyaslhaales, use, value-added, net worth, prop&nty goods and services taxes, in both
the United States and various foreign jurisdictioi® are under audit from time to time by tax avties with respect to these non-income
taxes and may have exposure to additional non-iedam liabilities.

Our business is subject to the risks of earthquakié®, floods and other natural catastrophic evansuch as pandemics, and to interruption
by manmade problems, such as computer viruses, unantitgpladisruptions in local infrastructure or terroris, which could result in delay
or cancellations of customer orders or the deploymef our products.

Our corporate headquarters are located in the 8acisco Bay Area, a region known for seismic @gtiA significant natural disaster,
such as an earthquake, fire, flood or other aGad, could have a material adverse impact on osinkss, financial condition and results of
operations. As we continue to grow internationdtgreasing amounts of our business will be locatefidreign countries that may be more
subject to political or social instability that ddulisrupt operations. Furthermore, some of our pevduct initiatives and business functions are
hosted and carried out by third parties that mayueerable to disruptions of these sorts, manylith may be beyond our control. In
addition, our servers are vulnerable to computerseéis, break-ins and similar disruptions from uhatized tampering with our computer
systems. Unanticipated disruptions in servicesigex/through localized physical infrastructure,tsas utility or telecommunication outages,
can curtail the functioning of local offices as g critical components of our information systeand adversely affect our ability to process
orders, provide services, respond to customer sg@ad maintain local and global business corttinhiatural disasters that affect the
manufacture of IT products, such as the 2011 flogdéh Thailand, can also delay customer spendingusrsoftware, which is often coupled
with customer purchases of new servers and IT systEurthermore, acts of terrorism or war couldseadisruptions in our or our customers'
business or the economy as a whole and diseasemaricould temporarily sideline a substantial padur or our customers' workforce at
any particular time. To the extent that such disous result in delays or cancellations of custoorelers, or the deployment or availability of
our products and services, our revenues would beraely affected.

Changes in accounting principles and guidance, tefr interpretation, could result in unfavorable @ounting charges or effects, including
changes to our previously-filed financial statemesnivhich could cause our stock price to decline.

We prepare our consolidated financial statemengés@ordance with accounting principles generalbyepted in the United States of
America. These principles are subject to interpi@teby the SEC and various bodies formed to imtrand create appropriate accounting
principles and guidance. A change in these priesipr guidance, or in their interpretations, mayeha significant effect on our reported res
and retroactively affect previously reported result

Risks Related to Our Relationship with EMC

As long as EMC controls us, other holders of oura8k A common stock will have limited ability to lnénce matters requiring stockholde
approval.

As of March 31, 2012 , EMC owned 38,125,000 shafesir Class A common stock and all 300,000,000eshaf our Class B common
stock, representing 79.2% of the total outstangdimgres of common stock or 97.2% of the voting paf@utstanding common stock. The
holders of our Class A common stock and our ClassiBmon stock have identical rights, preferencesmivileges except with respect to
voting and conversion rights, the election of dioes, certain actions that require the consenbtiddrs of Class B common stock and other
protective provisions as set forth in our certifecaf incorporation. Holders of our Class B commstwck are entitled to 10 votes per share of
Class B common stock on all matters except foeteetion of our Group Il directors, in which cakey are entitled to one vote per share, and
the holders of our Class A common stock are edtitbeone vote per share of Class A common stocg.hididers of Class B common stock,
voting separately as a class, are entitled to 8@%t of the total number of directors on our baafrdirectors that we would have if there were
no vacancies on our board of directors at the tifinese are our Group | directors. Subject to agiytsi of any series of preferred stock to elect
directors, the holders of Class A common stocktaecholders of Class B common stock, voting togedisea single class, are entitled to elect
our remaining directors, which at no time will les$ than one director-our Group Il director(s). @&dingly, the holders of our Class B
common stock currently are entitled to elect 7 wf® directors.

If EMC transfers shares of our Class B common stoany party other than a successor-in-intereatsubsidiary of EMC prior to a
distribution to its stockholders under Section 85fhe Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amend&badistribution”), those shares will
automatically convert into Class A common stockdidnally, if, prior to a 355 distribution, EMCtavnership falls below 20% of the
outstanding shares of our common stock, all outtgnshares of Class B common stock will automdyicnvert to Class A common stock.
Following a 355 distribution, shares of Class B owon stock may convert to Class A common stockéhstonversion is approved by
VMware stockholders after the 355 distribution. Bolong as EMC or its successor-in-interest beraly owns shares of our common stock
representing at least a majority of the votes lewtito be cast by the holders of outstanding vositagk, EMC will be able to elect all of the
members of our board of directors.
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In addition, until such time as EMC or its succesaeinterest beneficially owns shares of our commstock representing less than a
majority of the votes entitled to be cast by thédbos of outstanding voting stock, EMC will have thbility to take stockholder action without
the vote of any other stockholder and without hgtimcall a stockholder meeting, and holders of@kass A common stock will not be able to
affect the outcome of any stockholder vote durhrg period. As a result, EMC will have the abilitycontrol all matters affecting us, includi

the composition of our board of directors amdotigh our board of directors, any determinatiothwéspect to our business plans and
policies;

any determinations with respect to mergers, adipis and other business combinatir

our acquisition or disposition of ass

our financing activitie:

certain changes to our certificate of incorporg

changes to the agreements we entered into in cbanetith our transition to becoming a public comp;
corporate opportunities that may be suitable foans EMC

determinations with respect to enforcement giits we may have against third parties, includiitf wespect to intellectual property
rights;

the payment of dividends on our common stock;

the number of shares available for issuance unatestock plans for our prospective and existing leyges

Our certificate of incorporation and the mastensiction agreement entered into between us and iBM@nnection with our initial public
offering (“IPQ”) also contain provisions that require that as la&MC beneficially owns at least 20% or more ofdhiéstanding shares of ¢
common stock, the prior affirmative vote or writtemnsent of EMC (or its successor-in-interesthasholder of the Class B common stock is
required (subject in each case to certain excegtionorder to authorize us to:

consolidate or merge with any other en

acquire the stock or assets of another entity @egx of $100 milliot

issue any stock or securities except to our sudsédi or pursuant to our employee benefit p
establish the aggregate annual amount of shar@saydssue in equity awart

dissolve, liquidate or wind us t

declare dividends on our sto

enter into any exclusive or exclusionary arranget with a third party involving, in whole or i, products or services that are
similar to EMC's; and

amend, terminate or adopt any provision inconsistéth certain provisions of our certificate of orporation or bylaw:

If EMC does not provide any requisite consent aill@aus to conduct such activities when requestedwill not be able to conduct such
activities and, as a result, our business and perating results may be harmed. EMC's voting coaind its additional rights described above
may discourage transactions involving a changenfrol of us, including transactions in which haklef our Class A common stock might
otherwise receive a premium for their shares dveitihieneurrent market price. EMC is not prohibited fronfliag a controlling interest in us
a third party and may do so without the approvahefholders of our Class A common stock and witlwaviding for a purchase of any sha
of Class A common stock held by persons other EMIC. Accordingly, shares of Class A common stocly ina worth less than they would
if EMC did not maintain voting control over us rftave the additional rights described above.

In the event EMC is acquired or otherwise undergoeBange of control, any acquirer or successdhwientitled to exercise the voting
control and contractual rights of EMC, and may darsa manner that could vary significantly from EM historic practice.

By becoming a stockholder in our company, holdésuo Class A common stock are deemed to haveaofieand have consented to the
provisions of our certificate of incorporation atheé master transaction agreement with respecettirttitations that are described above.
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Our business and that of EMC overlap, and EMC magnepete with us, which could reduce our market share

EMC and we are both IT infrastructure companiewigiing products related to storage management,-bpcklisaster recovery, security,
system management and automation, provisioningesalirce management. There can be no assuran&MRatvill not engage in increased
competition with us in the future. In addition, tinéellectual property agreement that we have edtérto with EMC provides EMC the ability
to use our source code and intellectual properychy subject to limitations, it may use to prodeeetain products that compete with ours.
EMC's rights in this regard extend to its majotyned subsidiaries, which could include joint veatuwhere EMC holds a majority position
and one or more of our competitors hold minoritgigons.

EMC could assert control over us in a manner whimhld impede our growth or our ability to enter nmarkets or otherwise adversely
affect our business. Further, EMC could utilizecititrol over us to cause us to take or refraimftaking certain actions, including entering
into relationships with channel, technology anceotmarketing partners, enforcing our intellectualperty rights or pursuing business
combinations, other corporate opportunities or pobdievelopment initiatives that could adversefeefour competitive position, including
our competitive position relative to that of EMCrirarkets where we compete with them. In additiddCEmaintains significant partnerships
with certain of our competitors, including Microsof

EMC's competition in certain markets may affect oability to build and maintain partnerships

Our existing and potential partner relationshipy ina affected by our relationship with EMC. We partwith a number of companies that
compete with EMC in certain markets in which EMGQCtjépates. EMC's majority ownership in us mighfieat our ability to effectively partner
with these companies. These companies may favocapetitors because of our relationship with EMC.

EMC competes with certain of our significant chdntechnology and other marketing partners, incigdBM and Hewlett-Packard.
Pursuant to our certificate of incorporation andeotagreements that we have with EMC, EMC may tiasability to impact our relationship
with those of our partners that compete with EM@ijol could have a material adverse effect on osulte of operations or our ability to
pursue opportunities which may otherwise be avhilédbus.

In order to preserve the ability for EMC to distrite its shares of our Class B common stock on &-free basis, we may be prevented from
pursuing opportunities to raise capital, to effectte acquisitions or to provide equity incentivesaior employees, which could hurt ot
ability to grow.

Beneficial ownership of at least 80% of the totativg power is required in order for EMC to affediax-free spin-off of VMware or
certain other tax-free transactions. We have agttestdor so long as EMC or its successor-in-irgeoentinues to own greater than 50% of the
voting control of our outstanding common stock, wik not knowingly take or fail to take any actidhat could reasonably be expected to
preclude EMC's or its successor-in-interest's @gtii undertake a tax-free spin-off. Additionallyyder our certificate of incorporation and the
master transaction agreement we entered into Wit Bve must obtain the consent of EMC or its suseein-interest, as the holder of our
Class B common stock, to issue stock or other VMveacurities, excluding pursuant to employee bepkfns (provided that we obtain Class
B common stockholder approval of the aggregate ammumber of shares to be granted under such plah&h could cause us to forgo cap
raising or acquisition opportunities that wouldethise be available to us. As a result, we mayrbelpded from pursuing certain growth
initiatives.

Third parties may seek to hold us responsible fiabilities of EMC, which could result in a decrease our income.

Third parties may seek to hold us responsible MCEs liabilities. Under our master transaction agnent with EMC, EMC will indemnif
us for claims and losses' relating to liabilitietated to EMC's business and not related to ouinbss. However, if those liabilities are
significant and we are ultimately held liable fbem, we cannot be certain that we will be ableetmver the full amount of our losses from
EMC.

Although we have entered into a tax sharing agreerheith EMC under which our tax liabilities effectiely will be determined as if we we
not part of any consolidated, combined or unitagxtgroup of EMC Corporation and/or its subsidiariea/e nonetheless could be held liable
for the tax liabilities of other members of theseogips.

We have historically been included in EMC's cordatiéd group for U.S. federal income tax purposesyell as in certain consolidated,
combined or unitary groups that include EMC Corgioraand/or certain of its subsidiaries for statd &écal income tax purposes. Pursuant to
our tax sharing agreement with EMC, we and EMC gadhyewill make payments to each other such théit) wespect to tax returns for any
taxable period in which we or any of our subsidiarare included in EMC's consolidated group for. fe8eral income tax purposes or any
other consolidated, combined or unitary group of&E®orporation and/or its subsidiaries, the amofitxes to be paid by us will be
determined, subject to certain adjustments, as if

52




Table of Contents

we and each of our subsidiaries included in sucisalidated, combined or unitary group filed our avemsolidated, combined or unitary tax
return.

We have been included in the EMC consolidated gfoup).S. federal income tax purposes since ounadipn by EMC, and expect to
continue to be included in such consolidated grfoneriods in which EMC owns at least 80% of thik voting power and value of our
outstanding stock. Each member of a consolidatedmduring any part of a consolidated return yegointly and severally liable for tax on-
consolidated return of such year and for any sulesstty determined deficiency thereon. Similarlysame jurisdictions, each member of a
consolidated, combined or unitary group for stlteal or foreign income tax purposes is jointly aederally liable for the state, local or
foreign income tax liability of each other membéthe consolidated, combined or unitary group. Adawgly, for any period in which we are
included in the EMC consolidated group for U.S efied income tax purposes or any other consolidaahbined or unitary group of EMC
Corporation and/or its subsidiaries, we could bblé in the event that any income tax liability vimsurred, but not discharged, by any other
member of any such group.

Any inability to resolve favorably any disputes trarise between us and EMC with respect to our pastl ongoing relationships may rest
in a significant reduction of our revenues and edngys.

Disputes may arise between EMC and us in a nunftemeas relating to our ongoing relationships,udaig:

« labor, tax, employee benefit, indemnification atideo matters arising from our separation from E

« employee retention and recruitil

* business combinations involving

e our ability to engage in activities with certainacimel, technology or other marketing partr

« sales or dispositions by EMC of all or any portadrits ownership interest in

« the nature, quality and pricing of services EMC agreed to provide L

e arrangements with third parties that are exclusipt@EMC;

« business opportunities that may be attractive tb BMC and us; ar

* product or technology development or marketingvétitis or customer agreements which may requiretmsent of EMC

We may not be able to resolve any potential casfliand even if we do, the resolution may be lassrfable than if we were dealing with
an unaffiliated party.

The agreements we enter into with EMC may be anmgngen agreement between the parties. While weargolled by EMC, we may
not have the leverage to negotiate amendment&se thgreements if required on terms as favorahle &s those we would negotiate with an
unaffiliated third party.

Some of our directors own EMC common stock, redeit shares of EMC common stock or equity awardsitguire EMC common stoc
and hold management positions with EMC, which coudduse conflicts of interests that result in our hacting on opportunities we
otherwise may have.

Some of our directors own EMC common stock or ggantards to purchase EMC common stock. In addiSome of our directors are
executive officers or directors of EMC, and EMC fas sole holder of our Class B common stock, t&led to elect 7 of our 8 directors.
Ownership of EMC common stock, restricted shardSME€ common stock and equity awards to purchase Eb@mon stock by our directc
and the presence of executive officers or direadBEMC on our board of directors could createappear to create, conflicts of interest with
respect to matters involving both us and EMC tloatid have different implications for EMC than thexy for us. Provisions of our certificate
incorporation and the master transaction agreebetateen EMC and us address corporate opportuttitesre presented to our directors or
officers that are also directors or officers of EM®ere can be no assurance that the provisioosrigertificate of incorporation or the master
transaction agreement will adequately address pat@onflicts of interest or that potential conts of interest will be resolved in our favor or
that we will be able to take advantage of corpoogigortunities presented to individuals who aréceff or directors of both us and EMC. As a
result, we may be precluded from pursuing certainvgh initiatives.

EMC's ability to control our board of directors mamake it difficult for us to recruit independent déctors.

So long as EMC beneficially owns shares of our comistock representing at least a majority of thiev@ntitled to be cast by the holders
of outstanding voting stock, EMC can effectivelyntrol and direct our board of directors. Furthbg interests of EMC and our other
stockholders may diverge. Under these circumstampersons who might otherwise accept our invitatmjoin our board of directors may
decline.
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We are a “controlled company” within the meaning t¢iie New York Stock Exchange rules and, as a resate relying on exemptions from
certain corporate governance requirements that pides protection to stockholders of companies thatarot “controlled companies.”

EMC owns more than 50% of the total voting poweowf common shares and, as a result, we are artdlegk company” under the New
York Stock Exchange corporate governance standasia.controlled company, we are exempt under & Mork Stock Exchange standards
from the obligation to comply with certain New Yo8tock Exchange corporate governance requiremiectading the requirements:

« that a majority of our board of directors consaftindependent directol

« that we have a corporate governance and nomgatmmittee that is composed entirely of indepahdeectors with a written
charter addressing the committee's purpose andnegiilities;

« that we have a compensation committee thatrigposed entirely of independent directors with atemi charter addressing the
committee's purpose and responsibilities; and

« for an annual performance evaluation of the nonmgeaand governance committee and compensation cttes

While we have voluntarily caused our Compensatiwh @orporate Governance Committee to currentlydmeposed entirely of
independent directors in compliance with the rezmignts of the New York Stock Exchange, we are eguired to maintain the independent
composition of the committee. As a result of oug aéthe “controlled company” exemptions, holdersur Class A common stock will not
have the same protection afforded to stockholdecempanies that are subject to all of the New Y®8tlick Exchange corporate governance
requirements.

Our historical financial information as a businessegment of EMC may not be representative of ourutesas an independent public
company.

The historical financial information covering therfpds prior to our IPO in August 2007 includediur Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 does messsarily reflect what our financial position, iéswf operations or cash flows would have
been had we been an independent entity during thisgarical periods. The historical costs and esgsireflected in our consolidated financial
statements prior to 2008 include an allocationcintain corporate functions historically providedEMC, including tax, accounting, treasury,
legal and human resources services. Although we tramsitioned most of these corporate functionsMware personnel, in certain
geographic regions where we do not have an edtabliegal entity, we contract with EMC subsidiafi@ssupport services and EMC
employees who are managed by VMware personnelcd$is incurred by EMC on VMware's behalf relatethese employees include a mark-
up intended to approximate costs that would haes lharged had we contracted for such servicesamitimrelated third party. These costs
have been charged by EMC and are included as eepémsur consolidated statements of income. Qatofical financial information is not
necessarily indicative of what our financial pamitj results of operations or cash flows will beéha future if and when we contract at arm's
length with independent third parties for the seggiwe have received and currently receive from EME additional information, see
“Management's Discussion and Analysis of FinanCiahdition and Results of Operations” and our histdrconsolidated financial statements
and notes thereto.

Risks Related to Owning Our Class A Common Stock

The price of our Class A common stock has fluctudtsubstantially in recent years and may fluctuatgbstantially in the future.

The trading price of our Class A common stock hastfiated significantly since our IPO in August Z0Bor example, between
January 1, 2011 and March 31, 2012, the closirdirtgaprice of our Class A common stock was venatitd, ranging between $74.04 and
$113.76 per share. Our trading price could flugwatbstantially in the future due to the factosedssed in this Risk Factors section and
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Substantial amounts of Class A common stock ar inebur employees, EMC and Cisco, and all of tieres of our Class B common
stock, which may be converted to Class A commockstpon request of the holder, are held by EMCr&haf Class A common stock held
EMC (including shares of Class A common stock thight be issued upon the conversion of Class B comstock) are eligible for sale
subject to the volume, manner of sale and othéricgens of Rule 144 of the Securities Act of 1933 amended (the “Securities Act”), which
allows the holder to sell up to the greater of 6w outstanding Class A common stock or our faeek average weekly trading volume
during any threenonth period and following the expiration of theamtractual restrictions. Additionally, EMC posseEssegistration rights wi
respect to the shares of our common stock thatdtsh If EMC chooses to exercise such rights,dte sf the shares that are registered would
not be subject to the Rule 144 limitations. If gnsficant amount of the shares that become eliditmeesale enter the public trading markets in
a short period of time, the market price of oursSlA common stock may decline.
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Additionally, broad market and industry factors niecrease the market price of our Class A comnuokstegardless of our actual
operating performance. The stock market in gerardltechnology companies in particular, also hdtenaxperienced extreme price and
volume fluctuations. In addition, in the past, éeling periods of volatility in the overall marketidithe market price of a company's securities,
securities class action litigation has often bewstituted, including against us, and, if not resdigwiftly, can result in substantial costs and a
diversion of management's attention and resources.

If securities or industry analysts change their mmmendations regarding our stock adversely, ourcktprice and trading volume coul
decline.

The trading market for our Class A common stock beélinfluenced by the research and reports tlttstry or securities analysts may
publish about us, our business, our market or ompetitors. If any of the analysts who may covechsnge their recommendation regarding
our stock adversely, or provide more favorabletisdarecommendations about our competitors, owrkspoice would likely decline.

Delaware law and our certificate of incorporationna bylaws contain an-takeover provisions that could delay or discourag&eover
attempts that stockholders may consider favorable.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation amdaws will have the effect of delaying or preveugtia change of control or changes in our
management. These provisions include the following:

» the division of our board of directors into terelasses, with each class serving for a stagdered-year term, which would prevent
stockholders from electing an entirely new boardicdéctors at any annual meeting;

» the right of the board of directors to elect a dioe to fill a vacancy created by the expansiothefboard of director

« following a 355 distribution of Class B commanck by EMC to its stockholders, the restrictioatth beneficial owner of 10% or
more of our Class B common stock may not vote inelaction of directors unless such person or grdap owns at least an
equivalent percentage of Class A common stock taind approval of our board of directors prior ¢tgjairing beneficial ownership of
at least 5% of Class B common stock;

< the prohibition of cumulative voting in the efien of directors or any other matters, which wooterwise allow less than a majority
of stockholders to elect director candidates;

» the requirement for advance notice for nominatimn®lection to the board of directors or for prejpg matters that can be acted u
at a stockholders' meeting;

» the ability of the board of directors to issue,heifit stockholder approval, up to 100,000,000 shafreseferred stock with terms set
the board of directors, which rights could be setodhose of common stock; and

* in the event that EMC or its successor-in-indere longer owns shares of our common stock reptegy at least a majority of the
votes entitled to be cast in the election of desststockholders may not act by written consedtraay not call special meetings of
stockholders.

Until such time as EMC or its successor-in-intepesises to beneficially own 20% or more of thetaatding shares of our common stock,
the affirmative vote or written consent of the Felof a majority of the outstanding shares ofGless B common stock will be required to:

* amend certain provisions of our bylaws or certiicaf incorporatior

* make certain acquisitions or dispositic

« declare dividends, or undertake a recapitalizadioliquidation

* adopt any stockholder rights plan, “poison pilf’other similar arrangeme

* approve any transactions that would involve agee consolidation, restructuring, sale of subtsai#iy all of our assets or any of our
subsidiaries or otherwise result in any persomtityeobtaining control of us or any of our subsidgés; or

* undertake certain other actic

In addition, we have elected to apply the provisiohSection 203 of the Delaware General Corpandtaw. These provisions may
prohibit large stockholders, in particular thosenavg 15% or more of our outstanding voting stoc&nf merging or combining with us. These
provisions in our certificate of incorporation aoylaws and under Delaware law could discouragenpiaietakeover attempts and could reduce
the price that investors might be willing to pay éhares of our common stock.
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ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
¢ (a) Sales of Unregistered Securi
None.

* (b) Use of Proceeds from Public Offering of Commadock
None.

¢ (c) Purchases of Equity Securities by the IssuerAdfiliated Purchase!
Purchases of equity securities during the threethsoended March 31, 2012 :

Approximate Dollar

Total Number of Shares Value of Shares That May
Purchased as Part of Publicly Yet Be Purchased Under the
Announced Plans or Publicly Announced Plans
Total Number of Average Price Paid Programs or Programs
Shares Purchased (1) Per Share (1) Q)4 (2)(3)(4)

January 1 — January 31, 2012 483,10 $ 82.7¢ — % 685,269,32
February 1 — February 29, 2012 — — — 685,269,32
March 1 — March 31, 2012 — — — 685,269,32

483,10( 82.7¢ —

(1) In the three months ended March 31, 2012 , \Akéwndid not repurchase any shares of VMware Classmmon stock pursuant to the
VMware stock repurchase authorizations. The amshown as repurchased in the above table represtentss purchased by EMC in o
market transactions. In the three months endedMat¢ 2010, EMC announced a stock purchase progfafiviware’s Class A common
stock to maintain its approximate level of ownepsihi VMware over the long term. Inclusion of EM@#archases in the above table does
not indicate that EMC is deemed to be an “affiligpairchaser” with respect to the VMware stock repase program discussed in the
following footnote. Shares purchased by EMC renissned and outstanding.

(2) In February 2011, a committee of VMware's Boaf Directors authorized the repurchase of ups®0$0 million of VMware’s Class A
common stock through the end of 2012 . In Febra@h?2, VMware's Board of Directors authorized thpueehase of up to an additional
$600.0 million of VMware’s Class A common stockdhgh the end of 2013 . Stock has, and may in thedbe, purchased pursuant to
our stock repurchase authorizations, from timénetin the open market or through private trarieast subject to market conditions. We
are not obligated to purchase any shares undestock repurchase program. Subject to applicabls,laspurchases under our stock
repurchase program may be made at such times anatinamounts as we deem appropriate. Purchases aurdstock repurchase progi
can be discontinued at any time that we feel aalthiti purchases are not warranted.

(3) Represents the amounts remaining in the VMwareksemurchase authorizatio

(4) Amounts do not include potential purchases by E

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
None.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not Applicable.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS
Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit Filed Form/
Number Exhibit Description Herewith File No. Date
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation S-1/A-2 7/9/2007
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws 8-K 3/8/2011
10.21+  Executive Bonus Program, amended and restated &mgttd, 2012 X
10.26+  Form of Performance Stock Unit Agreement, apprdveldruary 29, 2012 X
31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer reqgait by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule
15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X
31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer reqent by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule
15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. X
32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanesy@dt of 2002. X
32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanesy@dt of 2002. X
101.INS XBRL Instance Document X
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema X
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase X
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase X
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase X
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase X

+ Management contract or compensatory plan or geraent
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, therednlp authorized.

VMWARE, INC.

Dated: May 2, 2012 By: /SI' ROBYNNE D. SISCO
Robynne D. Sisco

Chief Accounting Officer and Corporate Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer and Controller)
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filed Form/
Number Exhibit Description Herewith File No. Date
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation S-1/A-2 7/9/2007
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws 8-K 3/8/2011
10.21+  Executive Bonus Program, amended and restated &gttd, 2012 X
10.26+  Form of Performance Stock Unit Agreement, apprdveldruary 29, 2012 X
31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer reqad by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule
15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934adopted pursuant to X
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer reqaul by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule
15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934adopted pursuant to X
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
321 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as X
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanesy@dt of 2002.
32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as X
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanesy@dt of 2002.
101.INS XBRL Instance Document X
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema X
101.CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase X
101.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase X
101.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase X
101.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase X

+ Management contract or compensatory plan or germent
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Amended and Restated on February 14, 2012
VMware, Inc.
Executive Bonus Program

Executive Bonus Program Objectives
Among the objectives of the VMware Bonus Program are to:

e motivate our executives to achieve our strategic, operational and financial goals
e reward superior performance

e attract and retain exceptional executives; and

e reward behaviors that result in long term increased stockholder value

Overview

The Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee has adopted a cash bonus program relating to performance (the
“Executive Bonus Program”) under the 2007 Equity and Incentive Plan (the "Plan™) providing for possible cash bonuses to specified
executives of VMware, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries (the "Company"). Unless otherwise indicated herein, provisions of the
Plan shall apply to the Executive Bonus Program.

In keeping with VMware’s philosophy of tying a substantial portion of our executive compensation to the achievement of
measurable achievements, a goals-based cash bonus program has been developed and implemented. The determination of bonus
payouts will be made semiannually after the conclusion of the semi-annual measurement periods ending on June 30 and
December 31 based on results achieved by the company, as reported to the Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee
by the Chief Financial Officer, Chief Accounting Officer or Corporate Controller. Bonuses will be determined by the Compensation
and Corporate Governance Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Administrator”). Bonus payments will only occur if certain
predetermined company and individual (“MBO”) objectives are successfully achieved. Bonus amounts will be calculated
(“Calculated Bonus Amounts”) based upon the degree of achievement of the predetermined objectives. The Compensation and
Corporate Governance Committee shall determine final bonus payouts and, in its discretion, taking into account review and
discussion of recommendations made by the Chief Executive Officer, may reduce, but not increase, final bonus payouts from the
Calculated Bonus Amounts.

Bonus awards represent an unfunded, unsecured promise by the Company to pay a bonus amount determined by the
Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee to each Participant, but only upon satisfaction of the performance criteria
determined by the Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee in accordance with the provisions set forth below.

Eligibility

All senior executives are eligible to be considered for participation. However, no person is automatically entitled to participate in the
Executive Bonus Program. Participants will be approved solely at the discretion of the Compensation and Corporate Governance
Committee and may be amended at any time by the Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee. Additionally, the
executive must be an employee of the Company at the time the bonus is paid out in order to vest in right to receive payment.

Participants may include executive officers of the Company as defined under Rule 3b-7 of the 1934 Securities Exchange Act
(“Executive Officers”) and other senior executives who are not Executive Officers. At its discretion, the Compensation and
Corporate Governance Committee may delegate authority to the Chief Executive Officer to add senior executives who are not
Executive Officers to the Executive Bonus Program.

Administration

As Administrator, the Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee is ultimately responsible for administering the
Executive Bonus Program. The Administrator has all powers and discretion necessary or appropriate to review and approve the
Executive Bonus Program and its operation, including, but not limited
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Amended and Restated on February 14, 2012
VMware, Inc.
Executive Bonus Program

to, the power to (a) determine Participants, (b) interpret the provisions of the Executive Bonus Program, (c) adopt rules for the
administration, interpretation and application of the Executive Bonus Program consistent with the Plan, and (d) interpret, amend or
revoke any such rules. All determinations and decisions made by the Administrator and any decision of the Administrator shall be
final, conclusive, and binding on all persons, and shall be given the maximum deference permitted by law. The Administrator, in its
sole discretion, may amend or terminate the Executive Bonus Program, or any part thereof, at any time and for any reason, subject
to the limitations set forth in Sections 3, 6(b)(iv) and 7 of the Plan.

The Administrator shall exercise full authority to make final determinations with respect to bonuses granted under the Executive
Bonus Program to Executive Officers. The Administrator may, in its discretion, delegate authority over bonuses to Participants who
are not Executive Officers to the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

Target Percentage
The Administrator shall establish target bonuses and bonus formulas for the Executive Bonus Program.

Target bonus amounts will be a percentage of a Participant’s actual semi-annual base salary during the course of the Performance
Period as of the date the target bonus percentage is established (the “Target Bonus Percentage”).

The Calculated Bonus Amount, if any, may range 0% to 200% of the Target Bonus Percentage multiplied by the Participant’s actual
semi-annual base salary depending upon performance achievement. Minimum bonus thresholds are described below. For
purposes of this calculation, Participant’s actual semi-annual base salary shall not exceed 200% of the Participant’s base salary as
of the date that semi-annual performance targets are approved.

Performance Period

Unless otherwise indicated, the performance periods for bonuses granted under the Executive Bonus Program shall run each year
from January 1 to June 30 and from July 1 to December 31 . (each, a “Performance Period”). Participants are rewarded during the
period that they are actively employed by VMware.

Participants are not eligible to participate in any other Company bonus or incentive plan during a Performance Period. This
exclusion does not apply, however, to applicable employee referral bonuses, spot bonuses, equity awards, or Company
contributions to qualified retirement or savings plans.

New Hires : Calculated Bonus Amounts will be prorated for newly hired participants based on the number of days they are
employed during the Performance Period.

Leaves of Absence: Calculated Bonus Amounts will be prorated for any time during the Performance Period that a
Participant is on an unpaid leave of absence status. Unpaid leaves of absence exclude those absences for which vacation,
sick leave or other compensation is paid directly by the Company. Unpaid absences include those absences for which
compensation is received from any source other than directly from the Company.

Changes in Position : Participants who move from one bonus-eligible position to a different bonus-eligible position with a
different target bonus percentage may earn a target bonus prorated based on base pay and bonus at the start of each
period.

Termination : In order to vest and the right to receive a bonus under the Executive Bonus Program, an employee must be

in an active employment status or on approved leave at the day the bonus is paid out. An employee whose employment
ends for any reason prior to that date will not earn and will not be paid any bonus under this Executive Bonus Program.
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The Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee shall have the exclusive discretion to determine when a Participant is no
longer actively employed for purposes of the Executive Bonus Program. Participants have no right or interest in any bonus and
such bonus is not earned unless the Administrator determines a bonus payout is due.

Performance Metrics

The Calculated Bonus Amount will depend on both a company component (“Corporate Financial Metric”) and an individual
component (“MBQ") selected from the performance goals from the 2007 Plan. The Company must meet a threshold of 80% of the
Corporate Financial Metric in order for any bonus payouts to be made. If the 80% threshold is not achieved, the Executive Bonus
Program shall not be funded and no bonus payouts shall be made. The Corporate Financial Metrics and the relative weighting of
the Corporate Financial Metrics and the MBOs shall be determined by the Committee within 45 days of the commencement of the
performance period. The MBOs shall be determined by the Committee within 45 days of the commencement of the performance
period; provided, however, that if the MBOs are used solely solely as a factor for the Administrator to consider in determining
whether to exercise negative discretion, then they can be established or amended at any time during the performance period.
Corporate Financial Metric Component

The Corporate Financial Metric shall be determined by calculating success against company-wide financial metrics and, as
applicable, business unit performance metrics, as determined by the Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee.

MBO (Individual) Component

Each Participant will be assigned individual performance goals by the Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee that
are appropriate to the Participant’s role at the Company. If threshold achievement of 80% of the Corporate Financial Metric is met,
then the MBO component is funded at the same percentage as the Corporate Financial Metric. The Compensation and Corporate
Governance Committee can exercise negative discretion to reduce the bonus for the MBO component. In making its determination
whether to reduce the bonus for the MBO component, the Committee’s shall review and discuss the Chief Executive Officer's
assessment of each Participant’s achievement of his or her individual performance goals.

Bonus Determination and Payment

The Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee shall determine final bonus payouts to Participants based upon
achievement of the foregoing metrics and goals. The Committee reserves the right to reduce bonus payouts below Calculated
Bonus Amounts or not make any bonus payouts in its sole discretion.

Cancellation, Rescission and Recoupment of Awards

Any bonus granted under this Executive Bonus Program to a Participant shall be subject to cancellation, rescission, repayment or
other action at the discretion of the Compensation Committee as set forth in Section 7(d) of the Plan in the event that such
Participant engages in “Detrimental Activity” as such term is defined in Section 7(d).

Additionally, the Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee shall have the discretion to require that each Participant
reimburse the Company for all or any portion of any bonuses paid under the Executive Bonus Program if —

(a) the payment was predicated upon the achievement of certain financial results that were subsequently the subject of a
material financial restatement,

(b) in the Board's view, the Participant engaged in fraud or misconduct that caused or partially caused the need for a
material financial restatement by the Company or any substantial affiliate, and

(c) alower payment, award, or vesting would have occurred based upon the restated financial results.

Page 3




Amended and Restated on February 14, 2012
VMware, Inc.
Executive Bonus Program

In each such instance, upon the determination of the Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee to require recoupment
of a previously paid bonus awarded under the Executive Bonus Program, the Company will, to the extent practicable and allowable
under applicable laws, require reimbursement of any bonus awarded for the relevant period exceeded the lower payment that
would have been made based on the restated financial results, provided that the Company will not seek to recover bonuses
compensation paid more than three years prior to the date the applicable restatement is disclosed.

At-Will Employment (US Only)
This Plan does not affect the terminable-at-will status of the employment relationship. Neither the attainment of goals nor the

continuous service requirement necessary to earn a bonus alters the ability of an employee or the Company to terminate
employment at any time, with or without reason and with or without advance notice.
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PSU Agreement

VMWARE, INC.
2007 EQUITY AND INCENTIVE PLAN
PERFORMANCE STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT

l. NOTICE OF GRANT

Unless otherwise defined herein, the terms defingde VMware, Inc. 2007 Equity and Incentive P{tdre “
Plan”) will have the same defined meanings in this cetf grant (‘Notice of Grant”) and Performance Stock Unit
Agreement ("“Agreement”).

Name: (“Participant”)

Address:

The Participant has been granted an award (fhedrd ”) of Performance Stock Units (thePSUs”), subject
to the terms and conditions of the Plan and thissAment. Except as set forth in Section 4(a), theber of shares
earned pursuant to the Award will equal the nundfeshares subject to the PSUs set forth below plidt by the
conversion ratio determined by the Administratbe(t Conversion Ratio”) at the end of the Performance Period in
accordance with the schedule attached as ExhitottAis Agreement (thePerformance Schedul€).

Grant Number:
Date of Grant:
Number of PSUs:

Performance Period:

Vesting Schedule

Except as set forth in Section 4(a), the Award welt in full on the date the Administrator detaras the
Conversion Ratio pursuant to the Performance Sdbadthe “Vesting Date”). Such determination will occur no later
than sixty days after the end of the Performanc®ée

Vesting in thisAward issubject to the Participant’s continuing employmaith the Company, any Subsidiary, the

Parent or an Affiliate in which the Company and?arent hold, directly or indirectly, at least 80%iree equity or
voting interest through the Vesting Date.

Page 1




PSU Agreement

Il. AGREEMENT

1. Grant of the PSUsThe Company has granted the Participant the nuoflfeSUs set forth in the
Notice of Grant. However, unless and until the P®8Mishave vested, the Participant will have ndhtigp the paymer
or receipt of any Stock subject thereto. Priordtmal payment or receipt of any Stock, the PSUbrefiresent an
unsecured obligation of the Company, payable (@#lxtonly from the general assets of the Company.

2. Vesting of PSUs Subject to Section 4 below, the Participant wait in the PSUs in accordance with the
vesting schedule set forth in the Notice of Granbyvided, that, in the event the Participant in@tsrmination of
employment for any reason other than due to theciant’s death or “disability” (as defined undbe applicable long-
term disability plan of the Company, Subsidiaryre?a or Affiliate, or, if there is no such plan, dstermined by the
Board or the Committee (each, th&dministrator ")), such that the Participant is no longer emptbig the
Company, any Subsidiary, the Parent or an Affiliatevhich the Company and/or Parent hold, direotlyndirectly, at
least 80% of the equity or voting interest, thetibgrant’s right to vest in the PSUs and to recehe Stock related
thereto will terminate effective as of the date fharticipant ceases to be so employed and thergtfe Participant w
have no further rights to such unvested PSUs oretlag¢ed Stock. In such case, any unvested PSld<lgehe
Participant immediately following such terminatiohemployment will be deemed reconveyed to the Camggand the
Company will thereafter be the legal and beneficiaher of the unvested PSUs and will have all ifjlets and interest
in or related thereto without further action by Barticipant. In the event that the Participant'gokoyment is
terminated by reason of death or disability, they @anvested portion of the PSUs will automaticaltgelerate and the
Participant will become fully vested in one shaf&tmck for each of the PSUs subject to this Agreeinupon
termination of employment by reason of death oaldigy, provided, however, that if termination dieedeath or
disability occurs after a Change in Control, thetiBipant will vest in the number of shares of $taetermined per
Section 4(b) below. In all cases, the date of teation of employment will be determined in the ddikcretion of the
Administrator.

3. Issuance of StockNo Stock will be issued to the Participant ptmthe date on which the PSUs vest. A
any PSUs vest and subject to the terms of this éygeat, including without limitation Section 7 hergbe Company
will cause to be issued (either in book-entry famnotherwise) to the Participant or the Participabeneficiaries, as tl
case may be, that number of shares of Stock cameapg to the number of such vested PSUs as soon as
administratively practicable following vesting, bntno event will the issuance of such shares begensabsequent to
March 15th of the year following the year in whitle shares vested. No fractional shares of Stoltlbevissued under
this Agreement. Notwithstanding any provision ie #lan to the contrary and subject only to a Cham@®ontrol, as
set forth in Section 4 hereof, the PSUs will bélsétonly in shares of Stock.
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4. Change in Contral

(@) Change in Control during Performance Peritnithe event of a Change in Control during the
Performance Period, the Performance Period withigsite immediately prior to consummation of the @&in
Control. The Administrator will determine the Comnsien Ratio prior to the consummation of the Chaing€ontrol
pursuant to instructions set forth in the Perforoga8chedule. If the Performance Schedule doeshédrsh the means
for calculating the Conversion Ratio in the eveirh €hange in Control, then the Conversion Ratibegual one share
per each vested PSU.

(b) Vesting. Following a Change in Control, this Award willrdoue to vest in accordance with the
original vesting schedule set forth in Sectiondady provided however, that if this Award is nas@sed or replaced in
accordance with Section 7(m) of the Plan, then idiiately prior to the Change in Control, the Awaril west as to a
number of shares equal to the total number of P&ildgect to this Award multiplied by the ConversRatio.

(c) Acceleration of Vesting Following Change in Contrdlotwithstanding anything in this
Agreement to the contrary, if, following a ChangeJontrol, the Participant incurs an involuntamntaation of servic
other than for “Cause” (as defined below), the iBigint terminates employment for “Good Reason"defned
below), or Participant’s employment is terminatee do death or “disability” (as defined in Sectbabove), then any
unvested portion of the PSUs will automaticallyedecate, and the Participant will, upon the datsumh termination,
become fully vested in a number of Shares equddeémumber of unvested PSUs multiplied by the Cmsiga Ratio.

5. Death of ParticipantAny distribution or delivery to be made to thetiegpant under this Agreement will,
if the Participant is then deceased, be made tadh@nistrator or executor of the Participant’satstAny such
administrator or executor must furnish the Compaitig (a) written notice of his or her status asnsfaeree, and (b)
evidence satisfactory to the Company to estabishvalidity of the transfer and compliance with deays or
regulations pertaining to said transfer.

6. Leave of Absence; Reduction in Service Lev&t set forth in Section 7(b) of the Plan, the @uttee may
determine, in its discretion (i) whether, and tk&est to which, a leave of absence will cause aetan or other chang
in this Award, (ii) whether, and the extent to whia reduction in service level (for example, friuit-time to parttime
employment), will cause a reduction, or other cleamg an Award, and (iii) whether a leave of abgenicreduction in
service level will be deemed a termination of ergplent for the purpose of this Award. Any changethte Award
pursuant to Section 7(b) of the Plan and this 8ediof the Agreement, will not result in an in@ean the amount of
the Award or otherwise accelerate its payment. Gommittee will also determine all other matteratiely to whether
the employment or service of Participant is cordgumifor purposes of this Award.
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7. Taxes.

(@) Generally. The Participant is ultimately liable and respobiesior all taxes owed in connection
with the PSU, regardless of any action the Compargny of its Subsidiaries takes with respect tptar withholding
obligations that arise in connection with the P8ldne of the Company, the Parent or any of Subsedianakes any
representation or undertaking regarding the treatmiany tax withholding in connection with theagt or vesting of
the PSU or the subsequent sale of Stock issuabbeigmot to the PSU. The Company, the Parent an8uhsidiaries do
not commit and are under no obligation to structbeePSU to reduce or eliminate the Participamatsliability.

(b) Payment of Withholding TaxedNotwithstanding any contrary provision of thisrdgment, no
Stock will be issued to the Participant, unless amil satisfactory arrangements (as determinethbyAdministrator)
will have been made by the Participant with respethe payment of any taxes which the Companyraates must b
withheld with respect to the PSUs. The Administraitoits sole discretion and pursuant to such @doces as it may
specify from time to time, may satisfy such taxhliblding obligations, in whole or in part, by withiling otherwise
deliverable Stock having an aggregate Fair Markadtu® sufficient to (but not exceeding) the minimamount require
to be withheld and/or by the sale of shares ofiStogenerate sufficient cash proceeds to satisfysach tax
withholding obligation. The Participant hereby aurihes the Administrator to take any steps as neagdressary to
effect any such sale and agrees to pay any cagisiated therewith, including without limitationyaapplicable
broker’s fees. In addition, and to the maximum ekpermitted by law, the Company may exercise itjia to retain,
without notice, from salary or other amounts pagdblthe Participant, cash having a value suffidiersatisfy any tax
withholding obligations that cannot be satisfiedtiwy withholding and/or sale of otherwise delivéeaghares of Stock.

8. Changes in Stockin the event that any extraordinary dividend tbreo extraordinary distribution (whether
in the form of cash, Stock, other securities, bieoproperty), recapitalization, stock split, reseestock split,
reorganization, merger, consolidation, spin-ofinbination, repurchase, or exchange of Stock orraéeurities of the
Company, or other similar corporate transactioavant affecting the Stock occurs such that an &dgrst or change is
determined by the Administrator (in its sole disine) to be necessary or appropriate, the Admiatstrwill
proportionately adjust this Award in accordancewtiite terms of the Plan, including adjustmenthienrtumber and
kind of shares of Stock or other property the grdint would have received upon vesting of the Pussided,
however, that the number of shares of Stock inthvthe PSUs may be converted will always be a @inaimber.

9. Rights as Stockholdemeither the Participant nor any person claiminger or through the Participant v
have any of the rights or privileges of a stockeoldf the Company in respect of any Stock delivierdlereunder unle
and until certificates representing such Stock ¢Wwhmay be in book entry form) will have been issard recorded on
the records of the Company or its transfer agentegistrars, and delivered to the Participantl(iding
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through electronic delivery to a brokerage accoukiter such issuance, recordation and deliverg,Rarticipant will
have all the rights of a stockholder of the Compaitia respect to voting such Stock and receiptieidénds and
distributions on such Stock.

10. No Effect on EmploymentThe transactions contemplated hereunder andetsteng schedule set forth in
the Notice of Grant do not: (i) constitute an exggrer implied promise of continued employment foy period of time,
(i) interfere with right of the Company, the Parenany Subsidiary right to terminate the Paracipss employment at
any time in accordance with applicable law, o) @mtitle the Participant to pay additional righteler the Plan or und
any other welfare or benefit plan of the Compahg,Rarent or any Subsidiary.

11. Black Out Periods The Participant acknowledges that, to the extenvesting of any PSUs occurs du
a “blackout” period wherein certain employees, udohg the Participant, are precluded from sellitack, the
Administrator retains the right, in its sole didave, to defer the delivery of the Stock pursuanthte PSU; provided,
however, that the Administrator will not exerciseright to defer the Participant’s receipt of s@thck if such shares
of Stock are specifically covered by a Rule 1@tading plan of the Participant which causes sl@res to be exem
from any applicable blackout period then in efféetthe event the receipt of any shares of Stocleferred hereunder
due to the existence of a regularly scheduled blaicgeriod, such shares will be issued to the &paint on the first
day following the termination of such regularly ednled blackout period; provided, however, thatarevent will the
issuance of such shares be deferred subsequerartd KI5th of the year following the year in whible shares vest. In
the event the receipt of any shares of Stock isrded hereunder due to the existence of a spdaigkdut period, such
shares will be issued to the Participant on thet ey following the termination of such speciadiout period as
determined by the Company’s General Counsel ocothier delegatee; provided, however, that in navewd! the
issuance of such shares be deferred subsequerartd NI5th of the year following the year in whicltls shares vest.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, any deferred shafeStock will be issued promptly to the Participanbr to the
termination of the blackout period in the event Baticipant ceases to be subject to the blackeubg. The Participal
hereby represents that he or she accepts the effanly such deferral under relevant federal, statklocal tax laws or
otherwise.

12. Award is Not TransferableExcept to the limited extent provided in Sectioabove, this Award of PSUs
and the rights and privileges conferred hereby matl be transferred, assigned, pledged or hypotbééda any way by
the Participant (whether by operation of law orestfise) and will not be subject to sale under ettenyattachment or
similar process, until the Participant has beemeidghe Stock. Upon any attempt by the Participatransfer, assign,
pledge, hypothecate or otherwise dispose of thia®ywor any right or privilege conferred herebyupon any
attempted sale under any execution, attachmemtnilas process, this Award and the rights and jeyes conferred
hereby immediately will become null and void. Teans of this Agreement will be binding upon thetiegrant’s
executors, administrators, heirs, successors angexmitted transferees.
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13. Entire Agreement This Agreement, subject to the terms and conustiaf the Plan and the Notice of
Grant, represents the entire agreement betweguatties with respect to the PSUSs.

14. Binding Agreement Subject to the limitation on the transferabilifythis Award contained herein, this
Agreement will be binding upon and inure to thedférof the heirs, legatees, legal representatisescessors and
assigns of the parties hereto.

15. Additional Conditions to Issuance of Certificates $tock. The Company will not be required to issue
any certificate or certificates for Stock hereungleor to fulfillment of all the following conditins: (a) the admission of
such Stock to listing on all stock exchanges orctvisuch class of stock is then listed; (b) the detign of any
registration or other qualification of such Stocldar any state, federal or foreign law or undertii@gs or regulation
of the Securities and Exchange Commission or angragovernmental regulatory body, which the Adntmai®r will,
in its absolute discretion, deem necessary or allles(c) the obtaining of any approval or otheacance from any
state, federal or foreign governmental agency, wthe Administrator will, in its absolute discretialetermine to be
necessary or advisable; and (d) the lapse of agonable period of time following the date of vesbf the PSUs as
the Administrator may establish from time to tinoe feasons of administrative convenience.

16. Plan Governs This Agreement is subject to all terms and piiows of the Plan. In the event of a conflict
between one or more provisions of this Agreemedtare or more provisions of the Plan, the provisiohthe Plan
will govern.

17. Administrator Authority. Participant acknowledges that determination efrtmber of shares of Stock
earned under this Award is subject to determinabpthe Administrator of achievement of the perfance targets set
forth on the Performance Schedule. The Administraith have the power to interpret the Plan and thgreement and
to adopt such rules for the administration, intetation and application of the Plan as are congisherewith and to
interpret or revoke any such rules. All actionsstaland all interpretations and determinations nigdiae
Administrator in good faith will be final and bindj upon the Participant, the Company and all atiterested persons.
No member of the Administrator will be personalbble for any action, determination or interpretatmade in goo
faith with respect to the Plan or this Agreement.

18. Captions. Captions provided herein are for convenience anly are not to serve as a basis for
interpretation or construction of this Agreement.

19. Definitions.

(@) Cause. In the event that the term “Cause” is not defimedn employment agreement entered into
by the Participant, the occurrence of any of tHiewang, as reasonably determined by the Comparther
Administrator in good faith, will constitute
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“Cause’

(1) willful neglect, failure or refusal by the Partiaipt to perform his or her employment duties
(except resulting from the Participant’s incapaditie to illness) as reasonably directed by hissoremployer;

(2) willful misconduct by the Participant in the perfaaince of his or her employment duties;

(3) the Participant’s indictment for a felony (otheattraffic related offense) or a
misdemeanor involving moral turpitude; or

(4) the Participant’s commission of an act involvinggomal dishonesty that results in
financial, reputational, or other harm to the Compand its affiliates and subsidiaries, includibgt not limited to, an
act constituting misappropriation or embezzlemémiroperty.

The Company is required to deliver a Notice of Tieation to the Participant and to provide 30 days t
remedy the event or condition giving rise to Cafiiseuch event or condition is capable of remedydiider to terminat
his or her employment for Cause. No act or faitoract on the Participant’s part will be deemedilfuli’ for purposes
of this Cause definition unless committed or ondity the Participant in bad faith and without rewdde belief that hi
or her act or failure to act was in, or not oppagedhe best interests of the Company.

(b) Change in Control. “Change in Control” of the Company means andudek any of the
following occurrences:

(1) Any Person is or becomes the “Beneficial Owner’dened in Rule 13d-3 promulgated
under the Exchange Act) of directly or indirecthy,securities of the Company representing 35% arenob the
combined voting power of the Company’s then outditasn securities, excluding any Person who becont&sneficial
Owner in connection with subsection (2) below;

(2) There is consummated a merger or consolidatioheo@Qompany with any other
corporation or similar entity, other than (A) a iger or consolidation which would result in the wgtisecurities of the
Company outstanding immediately prior to such meogeonsolidation continuing to represent (eithygremaining
outstanding or by being converted into voting siiesr of the surviving entity or any parent thefeatfleast 50% of the
combined voting power of the securities of the Camypor such surviving entity or any parent thermaftanding
immediately after such merger of consolidation(B)ra merger or consolidation effected to implement
recapitalization of the Company (or similar trartgag) in which no Person is or becomes the Berafowner, directl
or indirectly, of securities of the Company (natluding in the securities Beneficially Owned by lsderson any
securities
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acquired directly from the Company or its affiligteepresenting 35% or more of the combined vqtimger of the
Company’s then outstanding securities;

(3) The stockholders of the Company approve a plamwiptete liquidation or dissolution of
the Company, or there is consummated an agreemmethtef sale or disposition by the Company of abuabstantially
all of the Company’s assets, other than, followar$55 Distribution” (as defined below), a saledsposition by the
Company of all or substantially all of the Compangssets to an entity, at least 50% of the combin&dg power of
the voting securities of which are owned by stodttis of the Company in substantially the same @ntagns as their
ownership of the Company immediately prior to ssale; or

(4) If Parent beneficially owns less than 50% of thenbmed voting power of the Company’s
then outstanding securities by virtue of a traneaatr transactions that do not otherwise congtituChange in Contr
the individuals who constitute the Incumbent Boegdse for any reason to constitute at least a ityagdrthe Board;

Any other provision of this definition notwithstaing, the term Change in Control will not be deerteed
have occurred with respect to a Participant foppses of this Plan by virtue of: (i) any transactichich results in suc
Participant, or a group of Persons in which suatti¢i@ant has a substantial interest, acquiringeatly or indirectly,
35% or more of either the then outstanding shafresmamon stock of the Company or the combined gppawer of
the Company’s then outstanding securities, oP@lent’s distribution of the Compasyshares in a transaction inten
to qualify as a distribution under Code Section 85355 Distribution ™).

(c) “ Good Reasori for a Participant to resign his or her employmergans that one or more of the
following has occurred without his or her expresgten consent:

(1) any materially adverse alteration in the Particifsarole, reporting relationship or in the
nature or status of the Participant’s responsieditelative to his or her role, reporting relasibip or responsibilities at
any time following the Change in Control, providédt neither a mere change in title nor in the flat the Participant
no longer holds following a Change in Control theng position in a public company as he or she iefdre the
transaction will alone constitute Good Reason, ¢pxthat, with respect to the General Counsel dndf&inancial
Officer of the Company, no longer holding the positof General Counsel or Chief Financial Officespectively, in a
public company following a Change in Control wielf be a materially adverse alteration in thdi€ipant’s
responsibility, role and status constituting Goahson];

(2) amaterial diminution by the Company in the Paptcit’'s base salary (excluding a
reduction that also is applied to all similarlyusited employees of the Company and that reducd3ditieipant’s base
salary by a percentage reduction that is no gréfader the lowest percentage reduction applied yoo#tmer such
individual), or a material diminution by the Compan the Participant’s target level of annual inibesm bonus relative
to
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his or her highest base salary and highest tagget bf annual incentive bonus, respectively, folftg a Change in
Control, or ineligibility for a bonus program praolmg for a target level of annual incentive bonus;

(3) relocation of the Participant’s principal placeenfiployment to a location more than 50
miles from his or her principal place of employmanany time following a Change in Control (whiclayrbe his or he
home); or

(4) a material breach of the Company’s obligations utitie Agreement (including without
limitation the failure of the Company to obtain #esumption of this Agreement pursuant to Sectiahave).

In order for a Participant to invoke a terminatchre to Good Reason in a manner that would entithe h
or her to acceleration pursuant to Section 4 ab@vthe Participant must provide a Notice of Tamation to the senior
officer of the Company’s Human Resources groupi®bhher intention to terminate due to such ewerondition
within 90 days of the initial occurrence or existerof such event or condition and provide the Comipeath 30 days
from receipt of the notice to remedy the eventardition, (ii) the Company must fail to effect sugimedy within the
30-day cure period, and (iii) the effective datehd resignation must occur within 90 days afterehd of the 30-day
cure period.

(d) * Incumbent Board ” means the members of the Board as of the dageanit of this Award.
Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, any indaligdvho becomes a member of the Board after sdehtefe date
whose election, or nomination for election by theckholders of the Company, was approved by a @bt least a
majority of the directors then comprising the Incaent Board will be considered as though such menvbez a
member of the Incumbent Board, but excluding, i purpose, any such individual whose initial aggtion of office
occurs as a result of an actual or threatenedi@hecbntest with respect to the election or rema¥alirectors or other
actual or threatened solicitation of proxies orsamts by or on behalf of a Person other than ttreedo

(e) “ Notice of Termination” means a written notice by the Company in the et@nterminating th
Participant’s employment with Cause or by the gdint in the event he or she is resigning for GRedson, which
written notice indicates the specific provisiorthins Plan being relied upon and sets forth in reabte detail any facts
and circumstances claimed to provide a basis fon sermination of the Participant’s employment uritie provision
so indicated.

(H “ Person” has the meaning ascribed to such term in Se&faj(9) of the Exchange Act and as
used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) thereof, includirggoup as defined in Section 13(d) of the Exclahet but
excluding (i) the Company or Parent, any of thespective subsidiaries or any employee benefit gpemsored or
maintained by the Company, Parent or any of tlesipective subsidiaries (including any trustee bewofiduciary of
any such plan), (i) an underwriter temporarilydinf securities pursuant to an offering of suchusées,
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or (iif) a corporation owned, directly or indiregtby the stockholders of the Company in substytiae same
proportions as their ownership of stock of the Camp

20. Cancellation, Recission and Recoupment of Awddrticipant hereby acknowledges that this Awaidl a
any shares of Stock issued pursuant to this Awagdabject to cancellation, recission, repaymeimtioer action at the
discretion of the Board or the Committee as sehfor Section 7(d) of the Plan in the event thatiBipant engages in
“Detrimental Activity” as such term is defined tleer. In addition, the Administrator has the disoneto require
Participant to reimburse the Company for all or postion of the Stock issued pursuant to this Awardhe value
thereof, if:

(@) the payment was predicated upon the achievemadrtdin financial results that were
subsequently the subject of a material financislatement;

(b) inthe view of the Board or the Committee, the iegrant engaged in fraud or misconduct that
caused or partially caused the need for a matemnecial restatement by the Company or any sulistaffiliate; and

(c) alower vesting would have occurred based upongsiated financial results.

In each such instance, upon the determination @fGbmmittee to require recoupment of a previc
issued number of shares of Stock under this Agregriee Company will, to the extent practicable atidwable unde
applicable laws, require reimbursement of any nunabeshares of Stock, or the value thereof, issioedhe relevar
period that exceeded the lower number of shareStaxdk that would have been made based on the eddiatincic
results, provided that the Company will not seeketmver shares of Stock issued more than thres ypeiar to the da
the applicable restatement is disclosed.

21. Section 409A Exemptionlt is intended that the Award satisfy, to theagest extent possible, the
exemption from the application of Section 409Ala# tnternal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (loelé”)
provided under Treasury Regulation Section 1.409#{4) or to comply with Code Section 409A, and Aveard will
be so interpreted and administered. Notwithstanthegoregoing, if the Company determines thatAh&rd may not
either be exempt from or compliant with Code Sectd09A, the Company may, with the Participant'sipnritten
consent, adopt such amendments to this Plan ot atlogr policies and procedures (including amendsgmolicies an
procedures with retroactive effect), or take arheotactions, that the Company determines are negessappropriate
to (i) exempt the Award from Code Section 409A angifeserve the intended tax treatment of the Anardii)
comply with the requirements of Code Section 409vyvided, however, that there is no obligation loa part of the
Company to adopt any such amendment, policy orgolwe or take any such other action, and in angtewe such
action will reduce the amount of compensation ihatved to the Participant under this Award withtha Participant's
prior written consent.
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22. Agreement Severabldn the event that any provision in this Agreemeititbe held invalid or
unenforceable, such provision will be severablenfrand such invalidity or unenforceability will nio¢ construed to
have any effect on, the remaining provisions of thijreement.

23. Notice of Governing Law This Agreement will be governed by the internddstantive laws, but not the
choice of law rules of the State of Delaware.

24. Waiver; Cumulative RightsThe failure or delay of either party to requierfprmance by the other party
of any provision hereof will not affect its righd tequire performance of such provision unlessuartd such
performance has been waived in writing. Each amayeright hereunder is cumulative and may be egectin part or
in whole from time to time.

25. Notices. Any notice which either party hereto may be reeglior permitted to give the other will be in
writing and may be delivered personally or by madlstage prepaid, addressed to the Company, atlttress provided
below, and the Participant at his or her addreshasn on the Company’s, Parent’s or any Subsigiggyroll
records, or to such other address as the Participamotice to the Company, may designate in mgifrom time to
time.

To the Company: VMware, Inc.
3401 Hillview Avenue
Palo Alto, CA 94304
Attention: Legal Department

Page 11




PSU Agreement

Participant’s signature below indicates Particifsaagreement and understanding that this Awardbgest to
and governed by the terms and conditions of the &tal this Agreement including, without limitatiddection 20
above. The Participant acknowledges receipt ofog ob the Plan and represents that he or she igidamwith the term:
and provisions thereof, which are incorporated indsg reference. Participant herby agrees to acpinding,
conclusive and final all decisions or interpretai@f the Administrator upon any questions relatmthe Plan and

Agreement.

PARTICIPANT

Signature

Print Name

Date: , 201

VMWARE, INC.
By
Title
Date: , 201
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Exhibit A
Performance Schedule
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Paul A. Maritz, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Fo®rQ of VMware, Inc.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadorany untrue statement of a material fact ortémstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nk#adisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamts other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)dahare responsible for establishing and maintgimisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules13a-15(e) and 15d))1%f&d internal control over financial reporting @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant andéav

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedareaused such disclosure controls and procedaorge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidatibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrithe period in which this report is being prepared

b. Designed such internal control over finanoggdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgadang the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presenttsi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgaures, as of the end of the period coveredibyébort based on such
evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in thegtegit’s internal control over financial reportitigt occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repog) ttas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reporting;dan

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)dahhave disclosed, based on our most recent el@tuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of directfws persons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weakges in the design or operation of internal contrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regidfsaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b.  Any fraud, whether or not material, that innedvmanagement or other employees who have a s@miifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 2, 2012 By: /s/ PAUL A. MARITZ
Paul A. Maritz
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Mark S. Peek, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Fo®rQ of VMware, Inc.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadorany untrue statement of a material fact ortémstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nk#adisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamts other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)dahare responsible for establishing and maintgimisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules13a-15(e) and 15d))1%fe&d internal control over financial reporting @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant andéav

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedareaused such disclosure controls and procedaorge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidatibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrithe period in which this report is being prepared

b. Designed such internal control over finanoggdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgadang the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presenttsi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgaures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in thegtegit’s internal control over financial reportitigt occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repog) ttas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reporting;dan

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)dahhave disclosed, based on our most recent el@tuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitaemmmittee of the registrant’s board of directfws persons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weakges in the design or operation of internal cotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regidfsaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b.  Any fraud, whether or not material, that innedvmanagement or other employees who have a s@miifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 2, 2012 By: /s/ MARK S. PEEK
Mark S. Peek
Chief Financial Officer and Co-President, Busin@gerations
(Principal Financial Officer)




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Paul A. Maritz, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.Cc8en 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 90BeoSarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that
the Quarterly Report of VMware, Inc. on Form 104D the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2012 fulljnpties with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934 and the information contained in suchn-&0-Q fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results arapons of VMware, Inc.

Date: May 2, 2012 By: /s/ PAUL A. MARITZ
Paul A. Maritz
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Mark S. Peek, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Becl350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 db#rbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that
the Quarterly Report of VMware, Inc. on Form 104D the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2012 fulljnpties with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExchangeoA 1934 and the information contained in suchn-&0-Q fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results arapons of VMware, Inc.

Date: May 2, 2012 By: /s/ MARK S. PEEK
Mark S. Peek

Chief Financial Officer and Co-President, Busin@gerations
(Principal Financial Officer)




